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Caution concerning forward-looking statements
The ABB Annual Report 2004 includes “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. In the Operational review, such
statements are included in the sections entitled “Letter
to shareholders”, “Power Technologies”, “Automation
Technologies” and “People”. In the Financial review, such
statements are included in the section entitled “Management
discussion and analysis”. We have based these forward-
looking statements largely on current expectations, estimates
and projections about future events, financial trends and
economic conditions affecting our business. The words
“believe”, “may”, “will”, “estimate”, “continue”, “target”,
“anticipate”, “intend”, “expect” and similar words and the
express or implied discussion of strategy, plans or intentions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties
and assumptions, including among other things, the
following: (i) the difficulty of forecasting future market and
economic conditions; (ii) the effects of, and changes in, laws,
regulations, governmental policies, taxation, or accounting
standards and practices; (iii) our ability to dispose of certain
of our non-core businesses on terms and conditions
acceptable to us; (iv) our ability to further reduce our
indebtedness as planned; (v) the terms and conditions
on which asbestos claims can be resolved; (vi) the effects 

of competition and changes in economic and market
conditions in the product markets and geographic areas
in which we operate; (vii) our ability to anticipate and react to
technological change and evolving industry standards in the
markets in which we operate; (viii) the timely development
of new products, technologies, and services that are useful
for our customers; (ix) unanticipated cyclical downturns in
the industries that we serve; (x) the risks inherent in large,
long-term projects served by parts of our business; (xi) the
difficulties encountered in operating in emerging markets;
(xii) the amount of revenues we are able to generate from
backlog and orders received; (xiii) changes in interest rates
and fluctuations in currency exchange rates and (xiv) other
factors described in documents that we may furnish from
time to time with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, including our Annual Reports on Form 20-F.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any
such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable
assumptions, we can give no assurance that they will be
achieved. We undertake no obligation to update publicly
or revise any forward-looking statements because of new
information, future events or otherwise. In light of these risks
and uncertainties, the forward-looking information, events
and circumstances might not occur. Our actual results and
performance could differ substantially from those anticipated
in our forward-looking statements.

The ABB Annual Report 2004 consists of an Operational review, a
Financial review and a Sustainability review. 

For an additional copy of this or any of the other reviews, please use
the contact information on the back of this document or download
copies from www.abb.com. 

The Operational review and a Financial summary (contained in the
Operational review) are published in English, German, Swedish and
French. The Financial review is published in English and German.
The Sustainability review is published in English. For all documents
in the Annual Report series, only the English-language version is
the binding version.
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2 ABB Financial review 2004

You should read the following discussion of our financial
condition and results of operations in conjunction with our
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes
and other financial information contained elsewhere in this
annual report. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Forward-
looking statements” at the beginning of this annual report.
The financial statements and certain financial data set forth in
our Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, reflect restatements made in
September 2004 of our previously issued financial statements
for those periods. This restatement was intended to correct
the effect of earnings overstatements by the medium-voltage
business unit of our Power Technologies division (or PT-MV
BAU) in Italy on its previously reported financial statement
results.

About ABB
We are a leader in power and automation technologies that
enable utility and industry customers to improve performance
while lowering environmental impact. At December 31,
2004, we employed approximately 102,500 people.

Our business is international in scope and we operate in
approximately 100 countries. We generate revenues in
numerous currencies, principally in four main regions of the
world: Europe; the Americas; Asia; and the Middle East and
Africa (or MEA).

We are headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland, and our shares
are traded on the stock exchanges in Zurich, Stockholm,
New York (in the form of American Depositary Shares),
Frankfurt and London.

We were formed in 1988, when Asea AB of Sweden and
BBC Brown Boveri of Switzerland merged. We reorganized
our business in 1999 under a single parent holding company,
ABB Ltd. Asea AB’s history dates back to 1883. BBC Brown
Boveri was founded in 1891.

Organizational structure
We manage our business based on a divisional structure.
Each of our divisions manages several business areas, which
in turn are subdivided into business units.

Our core business consists of two divisions, Power
Technologies and Automation Technologies and our
management intends to continue to focus its attention on,
and future investments in, these divisions. In addition, certain
of our operations are classified in Non-core activities and
Corporate/Other. 

Non-core activities comprise businesses and activities that
are not integral to our focus on power and automation
technologies and that we are considering for sale, winding
down or otherwise exiting. 

Effective January 1, 2003, some business areas within our
business divisions were reorganized or combined.
Consequently, the results of operations in 2002 for certain of
the affected business areas are not directly comparable to
our results in 2003. When our results of operations in 2003
on a business area basis are not directly comparable to our
results of operations in 2002, we combine the results of the
affected business areas to create an aggregated basis on
which we can compare and discuss our results of
operations.

Effective January 1, 2005, some business areas within our
business divisions were combined. These changes are
further discussed within the “Our business divisions” section
below. 

Our business divisions

Power Technologies division
The Power Technologies division serves electric, gas and
water utilities, as well as industrial and commercial
customers, with a broad range of products, systems and
services for power transmission, distribution and power plant
automation. The division had approximately 40,500
employees at December 31, 2004. As of January 1, 2005,
our Power Technologies division reduced its five business
areas into two, organized around products and systems.

The businesses combined into our Power Technology
Products business area generated approximately $5.3 billion
in revenues during 2004 and had approximately 27,500
employees at December 31, 2004. This business area,
which incorporates the businesses previously held in the
former Medium-Voltage Products, High-Voltage Products
and Transformers business areas, develops, manufactures
and sells a wide range of products, such as high- and
medium-voltage switchgear, breakers for all current and
voltage levels, power and distribution, transformers and
cables, apparatus and sensors. The Power Technologies
Products business area sells primarily to utilities, distributors,
wholesalers, installers and original equipment manufacturers
in the utilities and the power generation industries. In 2004,
revenues from the businesses combined into this business
area were generated in roughly even proportions from
Europe, Asia and the Americas, with a slightly lower share
from the MEA.

The businesses combined into our Power Technology
Systems business area generated approximately $3.5 billion
in revenues during 2004 and had approximately 13,000
employees at December 31, 2004. This business area,

Operating and financial review and prospects

ABB_FR04en_001-054.qxd  19.4.2005  17:45 Uhr  Seite 2



ABB Financial review 2004 3

which incorporates the businesses previously held in the
former Power Systems and Utility Automation Systems
business areas, offers automation, control and protection
systems and related services for power plants and power
transmission and distribution networks, as well as utility
communication systems and transmission and distribution
substations, flexible alternating current transmission systems
(FACTS) and high-voltage direct current (HVDC) systems.
Our FACTS and HVDC business lines, which are based on
technologically advanced products designed to increase
transmission capacity and stability in power networks, are
supported by our in-house power semiconductor factory.
This business area sells primarily to the utilities and power
generation industries. In 2004, revenues from the businesses
combined into this area were generated primarily from
Europe followed by roughly equal proportions from Asia,
America and the Middle East.

Automation Technologies division
The Automation Technologies division provides products,
systems, software and services for the automation and
optimization of industrial and commercial processes. The
division had approximately 55,000 employees at December
31, 2004.

The Automation Products business area generated
approximately $5.2 billion in revenues in 2004 and had
approximately 28,500 employees at December 31, 2004.
Products in the Automation Products business area include
low- and medium-voltage drives, as well as low- and high-
voltage motors, that are used in the building automation,
marine, power, transportation, manufacturing and process
industries. This business area also offers power electronics
systems, which are sold to metals smelters, railway
manufacturers and power plants, and low-voltage devices
for power quality and protection, wire management,
switching and motor control. In addition, the Automation
Products business area sells instrumentation products,
including actuators and positioners, analytical instruments
and devices to measure flow, pressure, level, temperature
and similar process variables. Many of this business area’s
automation products are sold through distributors,
wholesalers, installers, and original equipment manufacturers.
Revenues of the Automation Products business area in 2004
were generated primarily in Western Europe, Asia and North
America.

The Process Automation business area generated
approximately $4.4 billion in revenues in 2004, and had
approximately 20,500 employees at December 31, 2004.
This business area includes control, force measurement and
marine systems, including systems for control and plant
optimization in the process and utility industries and systems
for electric propulsion, power generation and distribution,
automation, heating, ventilation and air conditioning aboard

cruise, cargo and other offshore vessels. Turbochargers sold
by the Process Automation business area add performance,
environmental and fuel efficiency to large gasoline and diesel
engines. In 2004, revenues for the Process Automation
business area were generated primarily in Western Europe
and Asia, followed by North America and the Middle East.

The Manufacturing Automation business area generated
approximately $1.4 billion in revenues in 2004, and had
approximately 6,000 employees at December 31, 2004. Our
Manufacturing Automation business has an installed base 
of approximately 90,000 industrial robots, and sells robots
and related equipment and software to the automotive,
material handling, foundry and packaging industries. This
business area also develops standardized manufacturing
cells for machine tending, welding, cutting, painting and
finishing and provides packaged systems to automobile
manufacturers for press automation, paint process
automation and power train assembly. This business area’s
research and development and manufacturing locations are
focused near major automotive centers in the United States
and Sweden. Revenues for the Manufacturing Automation
business area in 2004 were generated primarily in Western
Europe, North America and China.

Non-core activities
These activities at December 31, 2004 constituted primarily
the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals, Building Systems, New
Ventures, Equity Ventures and Structured Finance business
areas and a number of other activities, including Customer
Service Workshops and the Logistic Systems business
areas. Non-core activities generated revenues in 2004 of
approximately $1.7 billion, and had approximately 5,000
employees at December 31, 2004.

Our Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business is principally a full
service engineering company that serves the downstream
oil, gas and petrochemicals markets. The downstream
markets typically relate to the processing and transportation
of hydrocarbon raw materials in and through refineries,
petrochemicals and chemical plants and pipelines. In
addition to expertise in engineering, procurement and
construction (or EPC) projects to engineering and project
management services, this business also licenses process
technologies to the refining, petrochemicals and polymer
industries. In July 2004, we divested substantially all of our
Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business operating in the
upstream oil, gas and petrochemicals markets. We refer to
this divested portion as the Upstream Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business. In December 2004, we reclassified
our remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business into
continuing operations from discontinued operations as it did
not meet the accounting criteria required to be classified in
discontinued operations.
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Our Building Systems business area designs, builds and
maintains installations for industrial, infrastructure and
commercial facilities. Following our decision to divest our
Building Systems business area in 2002, we substantially
reduced the number of businesses held in the Building
Systems business area during 2003 and 2004. However, we
remain involved in a number of these divested businesses
through a combination of technology licenses, supplier
relationships and participation on such businesses’ board of
directors. In addition, in February 2004, we sold our Building
Systems business located in Switzerland, but retained a 
10 percent equity interest. During 2004, we took steps to
close down the Building Systems businesses in the United
States and Egypt and to sell the business in Hong Kong. 
In 2004, revenues for the Building Systems business area
were generated principally in Germany.

Our New Ventures business area was established in 2001 as
a business incubator that would find, develop and invest in
new and mature business opportunities, both internally and
externally. New Ventures had three investment portfolios, 
two of which focused on investment opportunities externally,
and one of which focused on opportunities internally. This
business area also directly managed several majority-owned
companies. Since October 2002, we have been
restructuring the New Ventures business area to transfer
core activities to other business areas and to dispose of the
remaining businesses. At December 31, 2004, this business
area principally consisted of the Distributed Energy business
and certain portfolio investments in emerging technology
businesses.

Our Equity Ventures business area focused its activities 
on investments in and the operation of independent 
power projects that would provide business opportunities 
for our former power generation division or that would
develop opportunities to sell our equipment and systems. 
At December 31, 2004, this business area managed
investments in power plants in Brazil, Colombia, India,
Morocco and the Ivory Coast and an airport in South Africa.
Our Equity Ventures business has not pursued further 
project development or significant additional investments
since its classification to Non-core activities in 2002.

Our Structured Finance business area provided financing,
including export, trade and project financing, and asset-
based leasing and lending. We sold a significant part of this
business area in 2002 and we continued our divestments in
2003 and 2004, including the sale of certain lease and loan
portfolios, ownership interests in infrastructure projects and
other financial assets. At December 31, 2004, the Structured
Finance business area consisted of a portfolio of loans,
leases and unfunded commitments which were available for
sale or run-off, with net operating assets of $524 million and
off balance sheet instruments valued at $27 million.

Our Other Non-core activities principally consist of our
Customer Service Workshops and Logistic Systems
business areas. Our Customer Service Workshops business
area overhauls, repairs, rewinds and lubricates rotating
machine products manufactured by the Automation
Technologies division as well as those from third-party
suppliers. Most of our Customer Service Workshops
businesses have been transferred to the core divisions,
closed or divested. The Logistic Systems business area
provides air traffic management, turnkey electromechanical
and airfield lighting systems, and information technology
packages and automation services for airport baggage and
material handling. Other Non-core activities also included 
our Group Processes business area, which was responsible
for our shared services, common processes and IT
infrastructure. This business area generated revenue by
providing selling, general and administrative services to our
other business areas, and by December 31, 2003 all Group
Processes operations had been transferred to other
business areas or closed.

Corporate/Other
Our Corporate/Other division comprises headquarters and
stewardship activities, research and development activities
and other activities. The Corporate/Other division had
approximately 1,500 employees at December 31, 2004.

Headquarters and stewardship activities include the
operations of our corporate headquarters in Zurich,
Switzerland, as well as corresponding local holding
companies in approximately 65 countries. These activities
cover staff functions with group-wide responsibilities, such
as group accounting and consolidation, finance and
controlling, audit, tax, financial advisory, legal affairs, risk
management and insurance, communications, investor
relations and human resources. 

Group Research and Development consists of two Group
R&D laboratories: Power Technologies and Automation
Technologies. Each laboratory collaborates with universities
and other external partners to support our divisions in
developing cross-divisional technology platforms and
focusing on core areas of power, automation and emerging
technologies. The Global R&D laboratories have operations
in nine countries: the United States, Sweden, Switzerland,
Finland, Poland, China, Germany, Norway and India.

Other activities include our Real Estate and Group Treasury
Operations. Our Real Estate business area principally
manages the use of our real estate assets and facilities.
Group Treasury Operations act as a cost center for internal
treasury activities.
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Application of critical accounting policies 

General
We prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with United States generally accepted
accounting principles (U.S. GAAP).

The preparation of our financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We
evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis, including, but
not limited to, those related to: costs expected to be
incurred to complete projects; costs of product guarantees
and warranties; provisions for bad debts; recoverability of
inventories, investments, goodwill and intangible assets;
income tax related costs and accruals; provisions for
restructuring; gross profit margins on long-term contracts;
pensions and other post-retirement benefit assumptions;
and contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

We deem an accounting policy to be critical if it requires an
accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions
about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the
estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably
could have been used, or if changes in the accounting
estimates that are reasonably likely to occur periodically,
could materially impact our Consolidated Financial
Statements. We also deem an accounting policy to be
critical when the application of such policy is essential to our
ongoing operations. We believe the following critical
accounting policies reflect the accounting policies relating to
our more significant estimates and assumptions that we use
in the preparation to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
These policies should be considered in reviewing our
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Revenues and cost of sales recognition
We recognize revenues from the sale of manufactured
products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, the price is fixed and determinable, collectibility is
reasonably assured and upon transfer of title, including the
risks and rewards of ownership, to the customer. When
multiple elements, such as products and services, are
contained in a single arrangement or in a series of related
arrangements with the same customer, we allocate revenue
to each element based on its relative fair value, provided that
such element meets the criteria for treatment as a separate
unit of accounting. The allocation of the sales price between

delivered elements and undelivered elements might affect
the timing of revenue recognition, but would not change the
total revenue recognized on the contract. Revenues from
short-term or non customer specific contracts to deliver
products or services are recognized upon completion of
required services to the customer. Revenues from contracts
that contain customer acceptance provisions are deferred
until customer acceptance occurs, we have tested to the
level required to ensure that acceptance will occur or the
contractual acceptance period has lapsed. As a result,
judgment in the selection of revenue recognition methods
must be made. 

These revenue recognition methods require the collectibility
of the revenues recognized to be reasonably assured. When
recording the respective accounts receivable, allowances 
are calculated to estimate those receivables that will not be
collected. These reserves assume a level of default based 
on historical information, as well as knowledge about specific
invoices and customers. The risk remains that a greater
number of defaults will occur than originally estimated. As
such, the amount of revenues recognized might exceed that
which will be collected, resulting in a deterioration of
earnings in the future. This risk is likely to increase during
periods of significant negative industry or economic trends.

Revenues under long-term contracts are recognized using
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. We
principally use the cost-to-cost or delivery events methods
to measure progress towards completion on contracts. We
determine the method to be used by type of contract based
on our experience and judgment as to which method best
measures actual progress towards completion.

The percentage-of-completion method of accounting
involves the use of assumptions and projections, relating to
future material, labor, construction and overhead costs. 
As a consequence, there is a risk that total contract costs
will exceed those we originally estimated. This risk increases
if the duration of a contract increases or if the project is a
fixed price turnkey project, because there is a higher
probability that the circumstances upon which we originally
developed estimates will change, resulting in increased costs
that we will not recover. Factors that could cause costs to
increase include:

■ unanticipated technical problems with equipment supplied
or developed by us which may require that we incur
additional costs to remedy;

■ changes in the cost of components, materials or labor;

■ difficulties in obtaining required governmental permits or
approvals;

■ project modifications creating unanticipated costs;
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6 ABB Financial review 2004

■ suppliers’ or subcontractors’ failure to perform; 

■ penalties incurred as a result of not completing portions of
the project in accordance with agreed upon time limits;
and

■ delays caused by unexpected conditions or events.

Changes in our initial assumptions, which we review on a
regular basis between balance sheet dates, may result in
revisions to total estimated costs, current earnings and
anticipated earnings. We recognize these changes in the
period in which the changes in estimate are determined. By
recognizing changes in estimates cumulatively, recorded
revenue and costs to date reflect the current estimates 
of the stage of completion. Additionally, losses on long-term
contracts are recognized in the period when they are
identified and are based upon the anticipated excess of
contract costs over the related contract revenues. Any such
losses are recorded as a component of cost of sales.

We accrue anticipated costs for warranties when we
recognize the revenue on the related contracts. Warranty
costs include calculated costs arising from imperfections in
design, material and workmanship, performance guarantees
(technical risks) and delays in contract fulfillment. Although
we generally make assessments on an overall, statistical
basis, we make individual assessments on contracts with
risks resulting from order-specific conditions or guarantees,
such as plants or installations. There is a risk that actual
warranty costs may exceed the amounts provided for, which
would result in a deterioration of earnings in the future when
these actual costs are determined.

Revenues under cost-reimbursement contracts are
recognized as costs are incurred. Shipping and handling
costs are recorded as a component of cost of sales.

Accounting for discontinued operations
Our strategy is to focus on power and automation
technologies for utility and industry customers. In
accordance with our strategy, we have sold and plan to sell
certain businesses that are not part of our core power and
automation technologies businesses. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No.144 (SFAS 144), Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long Lived Assets, broadened
the presentation of discontinued operations to include
disposal transactions involving less than an entire reporting
segment, if certain criteria are met. The purpose of SFAS
144 is to allow for historically comparable data to be available
to investors without the distortions created by divestments
or the closure or abandonment of businesses, thereby
improving the predictive value of financial statements. SFAS
144 requires the revenues and associated costs, net of
taxes, of certain divestments and abandonments, to be
classified as discontinued operations, net of taxes, below
income from continuing operations in our Consolidated

Income Statement and requires the related assets and
liabilities to be classified as assets or liabilities held for sale
and in discontinued operations in our Consolidated Balance
Sheet. 

In order to classify a business as a discontinued operation,
SFAS 144 requires that certain criteria be met. In certain
cases, significant interpretation is required to determine the
appropriate classification. Changes in plans regarding the
sale of a business may change our interpretation as to
whether a business should be classified as a discontinued
operation. Any such reclassification may have a material
impact on our income from continuing operations and the
individual components thereof.

In the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, we have
included the businesses classified as discontinued
operations together with continuing operations in the
individual line items within cash from operating, investing and
financing activities, as permitted by U.S. GAAP.

For a description of our discontinued operations, see Note 3
to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Goodwill and other intangible assets impairment
We review goodwill for impairment annually on October 1
and additionally whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may
not be recoverable in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No.142 (SFAS 142),
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS 142 requires
that a two-step impairment test be performed on goodwill. In
the first step, we compare the fair value of each reporting
unit to its carrying value. Our reporting units are one level
below the reportable segments identified in Note 26 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements. We use a discounted
cash flow model to determine the fair value of reporting units
unless there is a readily determinable fair market value. If the
fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of
the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not impaired
and no further testing is performed. If the carrying value of
the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair
value of the reporting unit, then we must perform the second
step to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill and compare it to the carrying value of the reporting
unit’s goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then we must record
an impairment loss equal to the difference. 
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The discounted cash flow model, which we use to estimate
the fair value of our reporting units, is dependent on a
number of factors including estimates of future cash flows,
appropriate discount rates and other variables. Estimating
future cash flows requires us to make significant estimates
and judgments involving variables such as sales volumes,
sales prices, sales growth, production and operating costs,
capital expenditures, market conditions and other economic
factors. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions 
we believe to be reasonable, but which are unpredictable
and inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from
those estimates. 

We review intangible assets in accordance with SFAS 144,
and accordingly test for impairment upon the occurrence of
certain triggering events, such as a decision to divest a
business or projected losses of an entity. 

We record any related impairment charge in other income
(expense), net, in our Consolidated Income Statements,
unless it is related to a discontinued operation, in which case
the charge is recorded in loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax.

Pension and post-retirement benefits
As more fully described in Note 21 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements, we operate pension plans that cover
the majority of our employees. We use actuarial valuations 
to determine our pension and post-retirement benefit costs
and credits. The amounts calculated depend on a variety 
of key assumptions, including discount rates and expected
return on plan assets. We are required to consider current
market conditions, including changes in interest rates, 
in selecting these assumptions. The discount rates are
reviewed annually and considered for adjustment based on
changes in long-term, highly rated corporate bond yields.
Decreases in the discount rate result in an increase in the
projected benefit obligation and to pension costs. 

The expected return on plan assets is reviewed annually 
and considered for adjustment based on current and
expected asset allocations and represents the long-term
return expected to be achieved. Decreases in the expected
return on plan assets result in an increase to pension costs.
An increase or decrease of 0.5 percent in the expected 
long-term rate of asset return would have decreased or
increased, respectively, the net periodic benefit cost in 2004
by approximately $30 million. 

Under U.S. GAAP, we accumulate and amortize over future
periods actual results that differ from the assumptions used.
Therefore, actual results generally affect our recognized
expense and recorded liabilities for pension and other post-
retirement benefit obligations in future periods.

The “unfunded” balance, which can increase or decrease
based on the performance of the financial markets or
changes in our assumptions regarding rates, does not
represent a mandatory short-term cash obligation. Instead,
the unfunded balance of a pension plan is the difference
between the projected obligation to employees (PBO) and
the fair value of the plan assets. While we comply with
appropriate statutory funding requirements, at December 31,
2004, the unfunded balance of our pension plans was
$1,451 million. In accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No.87 (SFAS 87), Employers’
Accounting for Pensions, we have recorded on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet a net liability of $410 million 
in relation to this unfunded benefit balance. The difference 
is primarily due to an unrecognized actuarial loss of 
$1,019 million, which is amortized using the “minimum
corridor” approach as defined by SFAS 87. 

In May 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board reached a consensus
on Emerging Issues Task Force No.03-4 (EITF 03-4),
Determining the Classification and Benefit Attribution Method
for a “Cash Balance” Pension Plan, which requires the
“traditional unit credit method” to be used for the calculation
of the liability and attribution of the costs for pension plans
with certain characteristics. We determined that certain of
our pension plans covering the employees of Switzerland
had the characteristics described in EITF 03-4 and therefore
we changed the approach to calculating the PBO from the
projected unit credit method to the traditional unit credit
method. The change in cost attribution methods resulted in
an actuarial gain of $406 million in 2003 that is included in
the unrecognized actuarial loss of $1,019 million and as
described above, will result in lower net pension costs in
future years.

We have multiple non-pension post-retirement benefit plans.
Our health care plans are generally contributory with
participants’ contributions adjusted annually. For purposes of
estimating our health care costs, we have assumed health
care cost increases per annum to be 11.76 percent for
2005, then gradually declining to 6.24 percent per annum in
2013, and to remain at that level thereafter.
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Taxes
In preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements, we are
required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions
in which we operate. We account for deferred taxes by 
using the asset and liability method. Under this method, we
determine deferred tax assets and liabilities based on
temporary differences between the financial reporting and
the tax bases of assets and liabilities. The differences are
measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that are
expected to be in effect when the differences are expected
to reverse. We recognize a deferred tax asset when it is
probable that the asset will be realized. We regularly review
our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish a
valuation allowance based upon historical losses, projected
future taxable income and the expected timing of the
reversals of existing temporary differences. To the extent we
increase or decrease this allowance in a period, we
recognize the change in the allowance within provision for
taxes in the Consolidated Income Statement unless the
change relates to discontinued operations, in which case the
change is recorded in loss from discontinued operations, net
of tax. Unforeseen changes in tax rates and tax laws as well
as differences in the projected taxable income compared to
the actual taxable income may affect these estimates.

We operate in numerous tax jurisdictions and, as a result, 
are regularly subject to audit by tax authorities. Although 
we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable and that
appropriate tax reserves have been made, the final
determination of tax audits and any related litigation could 
be different than that which is reflected in income tax
provisions and accruals. 

Accounting for tax contingencies requires that an estimated
loss from a contingency such as a tax claim should be
accrued as a charge to income if it is probable that an asset
has been impaired or a liability has been incurred, and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The
required amount of provision for contingencies of any type
may change in the future due to new developments.

Consolidation
We evaluate our investments in joint ventures and other
types of investments for purposes of determining whether
consolidation or the cost or equity method of accounting 
is appropriate. This determination is based upon our ability 
to retain and exercise control through our decision-making
powers and our ability to exercise significant influence over
the entity, as well as our ownership interests in the entity.

Material changes in our ability to retain control and exercise
significant influence over an entity could change the
accounting method between consolidation or the cost or
equity methods, which could have a material impact on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In January 2003 and December 2003, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No.46
(FIN 46) Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – an
Interpretation of ARB No.51 and revised Interpretation
No.46 (FIN 46(R)), respectively, requires variable interest
entities (VIEs) to be consolidated by their primary
beneficiaries. Accordingly, effective January 31, 2003, we
consolidate VIEs when we are considered the primary
beneficiary. Also effective January 31, 2003, previously
consolidated VIEs would be deconsolidated when a
triggering event, as defined by FIN 46(R), indicates we 
are no longer the primary beneficiary. For those VIEs where
we are not the primary beneficiary, we apply our existing
consolidation policies in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

In determining the primary beneficiary of a VIE, we are
required to make projections of expected losses and
expected residual returns to be generated by that VIE. The
projected expected losses and expected residual returns 
are critical to the identification of the primary beneficiary.
These projections require us to use assumptions, including
assumptions regarding the probability of cash flows.
Expected losses and expected residual returns materially
different from those projected could identify another entity 
as the primary beneficiary. A change in the contractual
arrangements or ownership between the parties involved 
in the VIE could have an impact on our determination of 
the primary beneficiary, which in turn, could have a material
impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contingencies
As more fully described in Note 18 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements, we are subject to proceedings,
lawsuits and other claims related to asbestos, environmental,
labor, product and other matters. We are required to assess
the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to
these matters, as well as potential ranges of probable losses.
A determination of the amount of provision required, if any,
for these contingencies is made after analysis of each
individual issue, often with assistance from both internal 
and external legal counsel and technical experts. The
required amount of provision for a contingency of any type
may change in the future due to new developments in the
particular matter, including changes in approach to its
resolution.
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Restructuring
Certain restructuring provisions include estimates pertaining
to employee termination costs and the settlements of
contractual obligations resulting from our actions. Although
we do not anticipate significant changes, the actual costs
may differ from these estimates due to subsequent
developments such as voluntary retirement of employees
and other business developments. Restructuring costs 
are recorded in other income (expense), net, in the
Consolidated Income Statements. However, restructuring
costs relating to discontinued operations are recorded 
in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax.

Insurance
In April 2004, we completed the sale of substantially 
all of our business operating in the reinsurance industry. 
We refer to the divested portion of this business as the
Reinsurance business. Consequently, we have reflected 
the results of operations of the Reinsurance business 
in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, and the
assets and liabilities in assets and liabilities held for sale 
and in discontinued operations for all periods presented.

We generally recognized premiums in earnings on a pro rata
basis over the period coverage was provided. Premiums
earned included estimates of certain premiums not yet
collected. These premium receivables included premiums
relating to retrospectively rated contracts. For such contracts,
a provisional premium was collected that will eventually be
adjusted. We included an estimated value of the actual
premium in receivables. Unearned premiums represented
the portion of premiums written that was applicable to the
unexpired terms of reinsurance contracts or certificates in
force. These unearned premiums were calculated by the
monthly pro rata method or were based on reports from
ceding companies that we reinsure. 

Insurance liabilities were reflected in liabilities held for 
sale and in discontinued operations, in our Consolidated
Balance Sheet and represented unpaid claims, losses, 
and related loss expenses based upon estimates for losses
reported, estimates received from ceding reinsurers, and
estimates of incurred but not reported losses related 
to direct and assumed business, less amounts ceded to
reinsurers. Reserves for unreported losses were determined
by an estimate established using various statistical 
and actuarial techniques reflecting historical patterns of
development of paid and reported losses adjusted for
current trends. The inherent variability of the estimate was
analyzed in order to ascertain whether it was reasonable
before application. We did not discount loss and loss
adjustment expense reserves. 

We developed our estimate considering a range of reserve
estimates bounded by a high and a low estimate. The high
and low ends of the range did not correspond to an absolute
best and worst case scenario of ultimate settlements
because such estimates may have been the result of unlikely
assumptions. Our best estimate therefore did not include 
the set of all possible outcomes but only those outcomes
that were considered reasonable. Those estimates were
subject to the effects of trends in loss severity and frequency.
Although considerable variability was inherent in such
estimates, we believed the reserves for losses and loss
adjustment expenses were adequate. The estimates were
continually reviewed and adjusted as necessary as
experience developed or new information became known;
such adjustments were included in discontinued operations.
Adjustments to reserves were reflected in the loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax, in the periods in which
the estimates were changed. 

We reflected our liability for losses net of anticipated salvage
and subrogation recoveries. Salvage and subrogation
received and changes in estimates of future recoveries were
reflected in current year underwriting results. We believe 
the liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses were
adequate to cover the ultimate liability; however, due to the
underlying risks and high degree of uncertainty associated
with the determination of the liability for losses, such
estimates may have been more or less than the amounts
ultimately paid when the claims were settled. 

We sought to reduce the loss from our underwriting liabilities
by reinsuring certain levels of risks with other insurance
enterprises or reinsurers. We used recoverable amounts 
for both paid and unpaid losses. We estimated these
recoverable amounts in a manner consistent with the claim
liability associated with the reinsurance policy. The risk of
collectibility of these reinsurance receivables arose from
disputes relating to the policy terms and the ability of the
reinsurer to pay.

New accounting pronouncements
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Statement No.123R (SFAS 123R), Share-
Based Payment, which replaces Statement No.123,
Accounting for Stock Based Compensation, and APB
Opinion No.25 (APB 25), Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees, and requires us to measure compensation cost
for all share-based payments at fair value. We plan to adopt
SFAS 123R as of July 1, 2005. We will recognize share-
based employee compensation cost from July 1, 2005 as if
the fair-value-based accounting method had been used to
account for all employee awards granted, modified, or
settled after the effective date and for any awards that were
not fully vested as of the effective date. Based on currently
existing share-based compensation plans, we do not expect
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the adoption of SFAS 123R to have a material impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Interpretation No.46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities – an Interpretation of ARB No.51.
FIN 46 requires variable interest entities (VIEs) to be
consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. During 2003, we
adopted the requirements of FIN 46 and applied the
guidance to VIEs in which we have an interest. See Note 8
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information
relating to the impact of adopting FIN 46. FIN 46 was revised
in December 2003. We adopted the December revision (FIN
46(R)) effective March 31, 2004. The adoption of FIN 46(R)
did not have a material impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

Restructuring expenses
We have implemented several major restructuring programs
during the past three years (see Note 25 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).

2001 program
Our restructuring program announced in July 2001 (the 2001
program) was substantially completed at September 30,
2002. Restructuring charges relating to workforce
reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs
associated with the 2001 program, along with changes in
estimates accrued for any of these charges, are included 
in other income (expense), net. Termination benefits were
paid to approximately 100, 2,270 and 4,000 employees in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As a result of the 2001
program, certain assets, inventories and property, plant 
and equipment were identified as being impaired or would
no longer be used in continuing operations. We recorded in
2002 a charge of $18 million to write down these assets to
their fair values, and such costs are included in cost of sales
and other income (expense), net.

Step change program
In October 2002, we announced the Step change program.
The goals of the Step change program were to increase
competitiveness of our core businesses, reduce overhead
costs and streamline operations. At June 30, 2004, the Step
change program was substantially complete.

Restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions, 
lease terminations and other exit costs associated 
with the Step change program are included in other income
(expense), net. Termination benefits were paid to
approximately 950, 1,500 and 200 employees in 2004, 
2003 and 2002, respectively. Workforce reductions occurred
principally from production, managerial and administrative
employees. Changes in management’s original estimate of
the amounts accrued for workforce reductions, lease
terminations and other exit costs were included in other
income (expense), net.

As a result of the Step change program, certain assets,
inventories and property, plant and equipment were identified
as being impaired or would no longer be used in continuing
operations. We recorded $0 million, $3 million and $2 million
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, to write down these
assets to their fair value, and such costs were included in
cost of sales and other income (expense), net.

Other
Certain restructuring programs were initiated primarily 
during 2003 at specified locations not included in the Step
change program. The goals of these programs are to
increase efficiencies by reducing headcount and streamlining
operations. These programs are expected to increase
productivity of the non-core businesses. Anticipated savings
will be recognized through the strategic divestment of these
operations.

Restructuring charges related to workforce reductions, 
lease terminations and other exit costs associated with these
other programs are included in other income (expense), net.
Termination benefits were paid to approximately 1,290 and
1,300 employees in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Workforce
reductions occurred principally from production, managerial
and administrative employees. Changes in management’s
original estimate of the amounts accrued for workforce
reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs have
been included in other income (expense), net.

As a result of other restructuring programs, certain assets,
inventories and property, plant and equipment have 
been identified as being impaired or would no longer be
used in continuing operations. We recorded $5 million and
$11 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, to write down
these assets to fair value and such costs are included in cost
of sales and other income (expense), net.
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We expect that we will continue to expend cash and incur
restructuring expenses. In particular, we expect that we will
pay in 2005 a significant portion of our total restructuring
liabilities at December 31, 2004. We also expect to incur
restructuring expenses in an amount equal to approximately
0.5 to 0.7 percent of our revenues in each year as part of
our routine assessment of our business practices and
strategy. These expenses will be recorded in cost of sales,
selling, general and distribution expenses and other income
(expense), net, in the Consolidated Income Statements
according to the nature of the expenses, except for
restructuring expenses incurred by businesses classified in
discontinued operations, which will be recorded in income
(loss) from discontinued operations. We expect to fund our
cash expenditures under our restructuring programs through
cash generated from our continuing operations. The benefits
of these restructuring programs are expected to be realized
through reductions in selling, general and administrative
expenses and cost of sales in the subsequent years. These
benefits, however, may be offset by increases in cost of
sales, selling, general and administrative expenses and other
income (expense), net, due to various other factors, which
cannot be predicted in advance.

Cumulative
The cumulative amounts at December 31, 2004, for each
plan are given below:

2001 Step
program change Other Total

($ in millions)

Restructuring charge for 
workforce reduction 282 274 228 784
Restructuring charge for
lease terminations and other 111 99 68 278
Changes in estimate (49) (11) (25) (85)
Total restructuring charges 344 362 271 977

Division information
Restructuring charges by division and business activity
consist of the following:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Power Technologies 51 61 57
Automation Technologies 72 139 126
Non-core activities:

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 20 20 –
Equity Ventures – – –
Structured Finance – – –
Building Systems 11 43 22
New Ventures 1 1 2
Other Non-core activities – 47 15

Total Non-core activities 32 111 39
Corporate/Other 10 29 33
Total restructuring charges 165 340 255

Restructuring liabilities
Restructuring liabilities consist of the following:

2001 program Step change Other Total

Workforce Lease terminations Workforce Lease terminations Workforce Lease terminations
reductions and other exit costs reductions and other exit costs reductions and other exit costs

($ in millions)

Balance at January 1, 2002 78 39 – – 20 12 149
Restructuring expense 168 40 51 26 – – 285
Cash paid (156) (29) (13) (1) – – (199)
Exchange rate differences 20 5 – – – – 25
Changes in estimate (16) (5) – – (9) – (30)

Balance at December 31, 2002 94 50 38 25 11 12 230
Restructuring expense – – 181 56 110 25 372
Cash paid (99) (10) (143) (48) (43) (12) (355)
Exchange rate differences 14 9 24 4 7 3 61
Changes in estimate – (22) (4) – (6) – (32)

Balance at December 31, 2003 9 27 96 37 79 28 276
Restructuring expense – – 42 17 98 31 188
Cash paid (9) (9) (137) (18) (103) (16) (292)
Exchange rate differences – 2 6 3 5 4 20
Changes in estimate – (6) (7) – (5) (5) (23)

Balance at December 31, 2004 – 14 – 39 74 42 169
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Acquisitions, investments and divestitures

Acquisitions and investments
In 2004, 2003 and 2002, we paid aggregate consideration
of $24 million, $55 million and $154 million, respectively,
related to acquisitions and investments in new businesses,
joint ventures and affiliated companies. 

Divestitures of businesses, joint ventures and affiliated
companies
In 2004, 2003 and 2002, we received cash, net of cash
disposed, from sales of businesses, joint ventures and
affiliated companies of $1,182 million, $543 million and
$2,509 million, respectively. In relation to these dispositions
we recognized net gains in 2004, 2003, and 2002 within
other income (expense), net, of $52 million, $43 million 
and $98 million, respectively. We also recognized net losses
in 2004, 2003, and 2002 within loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax, of $63 million, $38 million and 
$194 million, respectively. 

Our material and certain other dispositions are described
below. 

Divestitures in 2004
In December 2004, we sold our entire 15.7 percent equity
interest in IXYS Corporation for approximately $42 million
and recorded a gain, before tax, of $20 million in other
income (expense), net.

In July 2004, we sold the Upstream Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business to a consortium of private equity
investors (collectively, the Purchasers). We received net cash
proceeds of approximately $800 million, which reflects an
initial sales price of $925 million adjusted for approximately
$85 million of unfunded pension liabilities and changes in 
net working capital. We recognized in 2004 a loss on
disposal of $26 million in loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax. On February 9, 2005, we and the Purchasers
entered into a Settlement Agreement and Amendment (the
Settlement Agreement) finalizing the sales price. This
Settlement Agreement contains provisions to indemnify the
Purchasers with respect to certain incomplete projects. We
believe the provisions we have accrued for such indemnified
projects are adequate.

In June 2004, we sold a business in the Automation
Technologies division operating in Sweden, for gross and net
proceeds of approximately $11 million, and recorded a gain
on disposal of $7 million, before tax, in other income
(expense), net.

In April 2004, we completed the sale of our Reinsurance
business to White Mountains Insurance Group Limited, a
Bermuda based insurance holding company, receiving gross
cash proceeds of $415 million and net proceeds of

approximately $280 million. In anticipation of the sale of this
business, we recorded in 2003 an impairment charge of
$154 million in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax.
We recognized in 2004 a net loss of $41 million in loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax, that related primarily 
to currency translation effects from December 2003 through
the date of sale in April 2004 (as explained in “Note 2
Significant accounting policies – Translation of foreign
currencies and foreign exchange transactions” to our
Consolidated Financial Statements).

In February 2004, we sold our Swiss Building Systems
business to a Swiss private equity company, for gross cash
proceeds of approximately $39 million, but retained a 
10 percent ownership interest. We recognized in 2004 a net
gain on disposal of $12 million, before tax, in other income
(expense), net.

In January 2004, we sold our MDCV (Mitsubishi-Dainichi
Continuous Vulcanization) Cables business. We recorded in
2003 asset write-downs of $10 million in anticipation of the
sale of this business in loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax.

Divestitures in 2003
In December 2003, as part of the divestment of our
Structured Finance business, we sold ABB Export Bank. 
We received cash proceeds of approximately $50 million
from the sale and recorded in 2003 a loss on disposal of 
$12 million, in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax.

In December 2003, as part of the divestment of the Wind
Energy business (which was held in the New Ventures
business area prior to its classification to discontinued
operations), we sold the majority of the business for total
consideration of $35 million, which included a vendor 
note of $10 million. We recognized in 2003 a loss on
disposal from this sale of approximately $25 million in loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax.

In August 2003, as part of the divestment of our Building
Systems businesses, we sold to YIT Corporation of Finland
our Building Systems businesses located in Sweden,
Norway, Denmark, Finland, Russia and the Baltic states for
consideration of $213 million. We recorded a gain on
disposal of approximately $124 million, before tax, in other
income (expense), net. Additionally, throughout 2003, we
sold other Building Systems businesses in a number of
countries, including Belgium, the Netherlands, Austria,
Hungary and the United Kingdom, for aggregate proceeds 
of $21 million. We recorded in 2003 a loss on disposal from
the sale of these businesses of approximately $41 million,
before tax, in other income (expense), net.
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In June 2003, we sold our entire 35 percent interest in the
Swedish Export Credit Corporation to the government of
Sweden for net proceeds of approximately $149 million, and
recorded a loss on disposal of approximately $80 million,
before tax, included in other income (expense), net. 

Also in June 2003, we sold our interests in certain equity
investments in Australia for cash proceeds of approximately
$90 million, and recorded in 2003, a gain on disposal of
approximately $28 million, before tax, in other income
(expense), net.

In March 2003, we sold our aircraft leasing business for
approximately $90 million. This business consisted of a
portfolio of loans and leases related to commuter aircraft and
helicopters used primarily in Northern Europe. We provided
significant financial support to the entity formed by the buyer
for the acquisition. Following the introduction of FIN 46 in
2003, we determined that this entity should be treated as a
variable interest entity and, as a result of the financial support
we provided, that we are the primary beneficiary of this
entity. Accordingly, we consolidated this entity in our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Divestitures in 2002
In December 2002, we completed the sale of our Metering
business to Ruhrgas Industries GmbH for consideration of
approximately $223 million. We recorded in 2002 a loss on
disposal of approximately $48 million from this sale in loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax. Cash held in
escrow of $15 million was released after resolution of certain
disputed items in 2003.

In November 2002, we completed the sale of most of our
Structured Finance business to General Electric Capital
Corporation (GE) and received cash proceeds of
approximately $2.0 billion, including a contingent payment of
$20 million to be released to us should amounts ultimately
collected by GE, from a portfolio transferred by us to GE,
reach specified targets. Collection of the last portion of the
contingent payment, which culminated our collection of
substantially all of the contingent payment, took place on
August 3, 2004. We recorded in 2002 a loss on disposal
from this sale of approximately $146 million in loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax. Pursuant to the sale and
purchase agreement for this transaction, we provided GE
with cash collateralized letters of credit in the aggregate
amount of $202 million as security for certain performance-
related obligations retained by us, of which approximately
$63 million were outstanding as of December 31, 2004. The
remaining cash collateralized letters of credit will further 
be reduced as our performance related obligations expire.
The sale and purchase agreement also provided GE with 
the option to require us to repurchase designated financial
assets transferred to GE. The fair value of GE’s right to
require us to repurchase the designated assets was 

$11 million at December 31, 2003. On January 26, 2004, 
we repurchased the designated financial assets for
approximately $28 million. No further obligation exists for us
to repurchase any assets under the sale and purchase
agreement.

In January 2002, we sold our Air Handling business for cash
proceeds of $113 million, which was the sales price of 
$147 million less a vendor note of 39 million euro principal
value (approximately $34 million at the date of issuance)
issued by the purchaser, Global Air Movement (Luxembourg)
Sarl. We recognized in 2002 a gain on disposal from this sale
of $74 million, before tax, in other income (expense), net.

Other divestitures
In May 2003, we sold our interest in China National
Petrochemical Corporation (Sinopec Corp.) for
approximately $82 million and recorded in 2003 a loss on
disposal of $40 million, before tax, in interest and other
finance expense, net.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, we sold several operating
units and investments not described above for total
proceeds of $39 million, $31 million and $209 million,
respectively, and recognized net gains, before tax, on
disposal of $13 million, $12 million and $24 million,
respectively, in other income (expense), net. Net income from
these businesses and investments was not significant in
2004, 2003 and 2002.

In addition, throughout 2003, we engaged in a number of
sales and terminations of lease portfolios and individual
financing receivables resulting in cash proceeds of
approximately $400 million. These disposals continued in
2004, generating cash proceeds of approximately 
$180 million. The gains (losses) on such disposals were 
not material.

Exchange rates
We report our financial results in U.S. dollars. A significant
amount of our revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are
denominated in other currencies due to our global
operations. As a consequence, movements in exchange
rates between currencies may affect: 

■ our profitability,

■ the comparability of our results between periods, and

■ the carrying value of our assets and liabilities.
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We must translate non-U.S. dollar denominated results of
operations, assets and liabilities to U.S. dollars in our
Consolidated Financial Statements. Balance sheet items are
translated to U.S. dollars using year-end currency exchange
rates. Income statement and cash flow items are translated
to U.S. dollars using the average currency exchange rate
over the relevant period. As a consequence, increases and
decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar against other
currencies will affect our reported results of operations in our
Consolidated Income Statement and the value of certain of
our assets and liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheet,
even if our results of operations or the value of those assets
and liabilities have not changed in their original currency.
Because of the impact foreign exchange rates have on our
reported results of operations and the reported value of our
assets and liabilities, changes in foreign exchange rates
could significantly affect the comparability of our reported
results of operations between periods and result in significant
changes to the reported value of our assets, liabilities and
shareholders’ equity, as has been the case during the period
from 2002 through 2004.

While we operate globally and report our financial results in
U.S. dollars, because of the location of our significant
operations and because our headquarters are in
Switzerland, exchange rate movements between the U.S.
dollar and both the euro (EUR) and the Swiss franc (CHF) are
of particular importance to us. The decline in the value of the
U.S. dollar against the euro and Swiss franc between 2002
and 2004 has had a material impact on our financial
statements.

The exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the EUR
and the U.S. dollar and the CHF at December 31, 2004,
2003, and 2002, are as follows.

December 31 2004 2003 2002

Exchange rates into $ 

EUR 1.00 1.37 1.26 1.05
CHF 1.00 0.88 0.81 0.72

The average exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the
EUR and the U.S. dollar and the CHF for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, are as follows.

December 31 2004 2003 2002

Exchange rates into $ 

EUR 1.00 1.25 1.13 0.94
CHF 1.00 0.81 0.75 0.64

When we incur expenses that are not denominated in the
same currency as the related revenues, foreign exchange
rate fluctuations could adversely affect our profitability. To
mitigate the impact of exchange rate movements on our
profitability, it is our policy to enter into forward foreign
exchange contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk of
our operations.

In 2004, approximately 84 percent of our consolidated
revenues were reported in currencies other than U.S. dollars.
Of that amount, the following percentages were reported in
the following currencies:

■ Euro, approximately 37 percent,

■ Chinese renminbi, approximately 6 percent,

■ Swedish krona, approximately 6 percent,

■ Swiss franc, approximately 5 percent, and

■ Pound sterling, approximately 3 percent.

In 2004, approximately 83 percent of our consolidated cost
of sales and selling, general and administration expenses
were reported in currencies other than U.S. dollars. Of that
amount, the following percentages were reported in the
following currencies:

■ Euro, approximately 37 percent,

■ Chinese renminbi, approximately 5 percent,

■ Swedish krona, approximately 6 percent,

■ Swiss franc, approximately 5 percent, and

■ Pound sterling, approximately 4 percent.

Foreign exchange rate changes resulted in an increase in our
reported revenues and EBIT by 6 percent and 18 percent in
2004 and 12 percent and 42 percent in 2003, respectively.

We also incur expenses other than cost of sales and selling,
general and administration expenses in various currencies.

The results of operations and financial position of most of our
non-U.S. subsidiaries are reported in the currencies of the
countries in which those subsidiaries reside. We call these
“local currencies.” That local currency financial information is
then translated into U.S. dollars at applicable exchange rates
for inclusion in our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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The discussion of our results of operations below provides
certain information with respect to orders, revenues, EBIT
and other measures as reported in local currencies (as well
as in U.S. dollars). We measure period-to-period variations in
local currency results by using a constant foreign exchange
rate for all periods under comparison. Differences in our
results of operations as reported in local currencies as
compared to our results of operations as reported in U.S.
dollars are caused exclusively by changes in currency
exchange rates. 

While we consider our results of operations as measured in
local currencies to be a significant indicator of business
performance, local currency information should not be relied
upon to the exclusion of U.S. GAAP financial measures.
Instead, local currencies reflect an additional measure of
comparability and provide a means of viewing aspects of 
our operations that, when viewed together with the U.S.
GAAP results and our reconciliations, provide a more
complete understanding of factors and trends affecting the
business. Because local currency information is not
standardized, it may not be possible to compare our local
currency information with other companies’ financial
measures having the same or a similar name. Management
strongly encourages investors to review our financial
statements and publicly-filed reports in their entirety, and 
not to rely on any single financial measure.

Orders
We book and report an order when a binding contractual
agreement has been concluded with the customer covering,
at a minimum, the price and scope of products or services
to be supplied, the delivery schedule and payment terms.
The reported value of an order corresponds to the
undiscounted value of revenues that we expect to recognize
following our delivery of the goods or services subject to the
order, less any trade discounts and excluding any value
added or sales tax. The value of orders received during a
given period of time represents a sum of the value of all
orders received during the period, adjusted to reflect the
aggregate value of any changes to the value of orders
received during the period and orders existing at the
beginning of the period. These adjustments, which may in
the aggregate increase or decrease the orders reported
during the period, may include changes in the estimated
order price up to the date of contractual performance,
changes in the scope of products or services ordered,
cancellations of orders, returns of delivered goods, and the
recognition of operating or financial services income relating
to the order (except that the cancellation of orders with an
expected revenue value of over $10 million that were
received in a previous period are not deducted from the
value of orders received during the present period, and
instead, are balanced against order backlog only). 

The undiscounted value of revenues we expect to generate
from our orders at any point in time is represented by our
order backlog. Approximately 12 percent of the value of the
orders we booked in 2004 were “large orders,” which we
define as orders from third parties involving at least 
$15 million worth of products or systems. Of the total value
of orders in the Power Technologies and Automation
Technologies divisions in 2004, approximately 11 percent
and 7 percent, respectively, represented large orders. Within
Non-core activities, large orders represented 49 percent of
total orders in 2004, as large orders accounted for 
68 percent of the value of orders received by the Oil, Gas
and Petrochemicals business. 

The level of orders fluctuates from year to year.
Arrangements included in particular orders can be complex
and unique to the order. Portions of our business involve
orders for long-term projects that can take months or years
to complete and many large orders result in revenues in
periods after the order is booked. However, the level of large
orders, and orders generally, cannot be used to accurately
predict future revenues or operating performance. Orders
that are placed can be cancelled, delayed or modified by the
customer. These actions can reduce or delay any future
revenues from the order, or may result in the elimination of
the order.

Performance measures
We evaluate the performance of our divisions based on
orders received, revenues, earnings before interest and 
taxes (or EBIT), EBIT as a percentage of revenues (or EBIT
margin) and net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities. The orders, revenues and EBIT of our divisions
include interdivisional transactions. In 2004, approximately
95 percent of our core divisions’ orders and revenues were
from third-party customers. EBIT, which is commonly
referred to as operating profit, is the amount resulting from
the subtraction of our cost of sales, selling, general and
administrative expenses, amortization expense and other
income (expense), net, from our revenues. EBIT margin is the
percentage amount resulting from the division of EBIT by
revenues. Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
represents the cash provided by or used in a business
before cash inflows and outflows from investing and
financing activities, and, as relates to our divisions, includes
interdivisional transactions.
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Restatement
The financial statements and other financial data included in
this report reflect restatements we made in September
2004, when we restated certain financial statements
contained in our annual report for the year ended December
31, 2003 as published in our Form 20-F filed with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission in April 2004. The
amendments reflected restatements of our consolidated
financial statements at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and
for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2003, and of certain financial data at
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 and for each of the
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2000.
These changes were intended to correct the effect of
earnings overstatements by the PT-MV BAU in Italy on its
previously reported financial statement results. 

The cumulative effect of these overstatements on our EBIT
and net income was approximately $73 million and 
$89 million, respectively, from the first quarter of 1998
through the end of March 2004. The negative impact on
income tax expense results from the inability to claim tax
benefits under Italian tax law for adjustments made to
improperly filed tax returns for the years 1998 through 2002,
as well as a reassessment of the probability of realization of
our deferred tax assets due to a cumulative loss position
after the restatement. As compared with financial data
originally published, the corrections increased net loss by
$12 million ($0.01 per share basic and diluted), $36 million
($0.04 and $0.03 per share basic and diluted, respectively)
and $14 million ($0.02 per share basic and diluted) in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively, decreased net income by 
$17 million ($0.01 and $0.02 per share basic and diluted,
respectively) and $6 million ($0.01 per share basic and
diluted) in 2000 and 1999, respectively, and decreased
stockholders’ equity by $109 million at December 31, 2003.

Differences from preliminary earnings announcement
On February 17, 2005, we announced, in an unaudited
earnings release, net income for the year ended December
31, 2004 totaling $201 million. Following extensive
negotiations between various representatives of asbestos
claimants and us, on March 21, 2005, we announced that
we reached an agreement with those parties on the basic
terms of an amended plan of reorganization for Combustion
Engineering and ABB Lummus Global to resolve the
asbestos claims against both companies. 

This event, and the resulting change in estimate relating to
our potential asbestos-related liabilities, is required under
accounting rules to be recorded in our results for the year
ended December 31, 2004. As a result of the changes
required to reflect that change in estimate, our Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this report differ in certain
respects from the financial information stated in the February
17, 2005 earnings release.

In the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have adjusted
the preliminary amounts announced in the earnings release
as follows:

Selected Financial Data
Year ended December 31, 2004

As reported on
February 17,

2005 Adjustments (1) As adjusted

($ in millions, except per share data) 

Loss from discontinued 
operations, net of tax (247) (236) (483)
Net income (loss) 201 (236) (35)
Net income (loss) per share 0.10 (0.12) (0.02)

Accrued liabilities and other 6,200 236 6,436
Total stockholders’ equity 3,060 (236) 2,824
(1) Adjustments due to changes in asbestos related cost provision.

Analysis of results of operations 

Consolidated
Our results from operations were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions, except per share data)

Orders 21,689 19,701 19,153
Order backlog (1) 12,364 11,306 12,127
Revenues 20,721 20,427 19,472
Cost of sales 15,757 15,928 15,098
Selling, general and 
administrative expenses 3,786 3,917 4,050
EBIT 1,084 357 199
Interest and other finance 
expense, net (223) (417) (133)
Loss from discontinued 
operations (483) (408) (693)
Net loss (35) (779) (819)
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations 0.22 (0.30) (0.11)
Net loss (0.02) (0.64) (0.74)

Diluted earnings (loss) per 
share:

Income (loss) from 
continuing operations 0.22 (0.30) (0.27)
Net loss (0.02) (0.64) (0.86)

(1) at December 31
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A more detailed discussion of the orders, revenues, cost of
sales, selling, general and administrative expenses and EBIT
for each of our individual divisions and segments follows in
sections entitled “Power Technologies,” “Automation
Technologies,” “Non-core activities” and “Discontinued
operations” below.

Orders

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Power Technologies 9,372 7,682 6,686
Automation Technologies 11,334 9,691 8,428

Total Core Divisions 20,706 17,373 15,114
Non-core activities

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 1,216 1,156 2,123
Building Systems 388 1,616 2,351
New Ventures 41 45 70
Equity Ventures 7 26 19
Structured Finance 6 48 77
Other Non-core activities 36 469 960

Total Non-core activities 1,694 3,360 5,600
Corporate/Other and inter-
division eliminations (711) (1,032) (1,561)
Total 21,689 19,701 19,153

In 2004, orders increased by $1,988 million, or 10 percent 
(3 percent in local currencies), to $21,689 million.

Orders received by the core divisions increased by 
19 percent in 2004 (12 percent in local currencies), with
orders received by the Power Technologies and Automation
Technologies divisions increasing 22 percent and 17 percent
(15 percent and 9 percent in local currencies), respectively.
Orders received by Non-core activities decreased by 
50 percent (53 percent in local currencies) in 2004 as
compared to 2003. Orders valued at approximately 
$92 million, or 0.4 percent of 2004 orders, were received
prior to 2004 and were cancelled, but not deducted from 
the reported value of orders received, during 2004.

In 2003, orders increased by $548 million, or 3 percent
(decreased by 9 percent in local currencies), to 
$19,701 million from $19,153 million in 2002. This small
increase in orders was due to a 40 percent (43 percent in
local currencies) decline in orders received by Non-core
activities that substantially offset increases in orders 
received by each of the Power Technologies and Automation
Technologies divisions of 15 percent (5 percent and 
1 percent, respectively, in local currencies). Orders valued at
approximately $136 million, or 0.7 percent of 2003 orders,
were received prior to 2003 and were cancelled, but not
deducted from the reported value of orders received, during
2003. Orders valued at approximately $644 million, or 
3.4 percent of 2002 orders, were received prior to 2002 and

were cancelled, but not deducted from the reported value 
of orders received, during 2002.

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Europe 11,009 11,024 10,915
The Americas 3,797 3,227 3,862
Asia 5,013 3,460 2,822
MEA 1,870 1,990 1,554
Total 21,689 19,701 19,153

Orders from Europe remained flat in 2004 and 2003, but
declined 8 percent and 12 percent in local currencies,
respectively. Changes in our orders from Europe from 2002
to 2004 were primarily the result of divestments from the
Building Systems business and a shift to reimbursable
contracts in the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business.
Orders from the Americas increased 18 percent (15 percent
in local currencies) during 2004, driven largely by automotive
industries after a decline of 16 percent (18 percent in local
currencies) during 2003. 

Asian orders increased 45 percent and 23 percent 
(38 percent and 15 percent in local currencies) in 2004 and
2003, respectively, principally resulting from an increase in
orders from China in the same respective periods driven by
economic growth and infrastructure development. South
Asian orders were predominantly from India, where orders
grew in 2004 and 2003, following the Indian government’s
economic liberalization and initiatives. In 2004, orders 
from the MEA declined by 6 percent (14 percent in local
currencies) in 2004 compared to 2003, which included
several large orders received by the Power Technologies
division’s Power Systems business area thereby resulting in
an increase of 28 percent (20 percent in local currencies) 
in 2003 as compared to 2002.

Order backlog

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Power Technologies 6,874 6,030 5,682
Automation Technologies 4,322 3,826 3,486
Non-core activities 1,533 1,865 3,579
Corporate/Other and 
inter-division eliminations (365) (415) (620)
Total 12,364 11,306 12,127
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Order backlog increased by $1,058 million, or 9 percent 
(3 percent in local currencies), to $12,364 million in 2004 as
an increase in order backlog in the core divisions exceeded
an 18 percent decline (24 percent in local currencies) in the
order backlog in Non-core activities. In 2003, order backlog
decreased by $821 million, or 7 percent (17 percent in local
currencies), to $11,306 million from $12,127 million in 2002,
as an increase in order backlog in the core divisions was
more than offset by a 48 percent (53 percent in local
currencies) decline in order backlog in Non-core activities.

Revenues

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Power Technologies 8,755 7,598 6,814
Automation Technologies 11,030 9,628 8,201

Core Divisions 19,785 17,226 15,015
Non-core activities

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 1,079 1,895 2,321
Building Systems 508 1,829 2,375
New Ventures 49 53 50
Equity Ventures 7 26 19
Structured Finance 6 48 66
Other Non-core activities 44 471 783

Total Non-core activities 1,693 4,322 5,614
Corporate/Other and inter-
division eliminations (757) (1,121) (1,157)
Total 20,721 20,427 19,472

Revenues increased in each of 2004, 2003 and 2002, driven
by growth in our core divisions partially offset by declines in
Non-core activities.

Revenues increased by $294 million, or 1 percent (decreased
by 5 percent in local currencies), to $20,721 million in 2004
from $20,427 million in 2003. The relatively flat revenue
growth in 2004 was due to a 61 percent decrease (63
percent in local currencies) in revenues generated by Non-
core activities that substantially offset revenue increases 
of 15 percent and 15 percent (9 percent and 7 percent in
local currencies) in the Power Technologies and Automation
Technologies divisions, respectively. In 2003, revenues
increased by $955 million, or 5 percent (decreased by 
7 percent in local currencies), to $20,427 million from
$19,472 million in 2002. The increase in revenues in 2003
was due to increases in revenue of 12 percent and 
17 percent (2 percent and 3 percent in local currencies) in
the Power Technologies and Automation Technologies
divisions, respectively, partially offset by a 23 percent
decrease (36 percent in local currencies) in revenues in 
Non-core activities.

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Europe 10,764 10,963 10,461
The Americas 3,624 3,900 4,177
Asia 4,296 3,519 2,860
MEA 2,037 2,045 1,974
Total 20,721 20,427 19,472

European revenues decreased 2 percent (10 percent in local
currencies) in 2004 after increasing 5 percent (declining 
10 percent in local currencies) in 2003. These changes were
primarily the result of revenue reductions associated with 
the Building Systems divestments in the Nordic countries,
Switzerland and in the United Kingdom, substantially offset
by exchange rate effects related to the declining value of 
the U.S. dollar over this period. Within Europe, Central and
Eastern European revenues decreased in 2004 after
increasing substantially in 2003. Improvement by the core
divisions in this region was more than offset in 2004 by the
shift to reimbursable contracts in our Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business and the sale of businesses from
the Building Systems business. Revenues from the Americas
decreased 7 percent in both 2004 and 2003 (9 percent and
8 percent in local currencies respectively) across all divisions,
primarily reflecting the relatively weak markets in the previous
periods. North American revenues declined in 2003 reflecting
a decline in sales of distribution transformers by the Power
Technologies division. Revenues from Asia increased 22
percent and 23 percent (17 percent and 15 percent in local
currencies) in 2004 and 2003, respectively, primarily
reflecting growth in China. Revenues from India almost
doubled in 2004, after a small decline in 2003. The increase
in Indian revenue in 2004 was across all business areas,
whereas the decline in 2003 reflects the revenues pertaining
to an oil and petrochemical refinery project in India that
stalled during 2003 due to complications encountered by 
the customer in obtaining necessary additional financing.
Revenues in the MEA remained flat (decline of 6 percent in
local currencies) in 2004 after a period of growth in 2003,
principally due to higher revenues from an Angolan oil and
gas project completed in 2003 resulting in an increase 
of MEA revenues in 2003 of 4 percent (2 percent in local
currencies) as compared to 2002.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales decreased by $171 million, or 1 percent 
(7 percent in local currencies), to $15,757 million in 2004
after increasing by $830 million, or 5 percent (decreased 
7 percent in local currencies), to $15,928 million from
$15,098 million in 2002.
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Cost of sales consists primarily of labor, raw materials and
related components. Cost of sales also includes provisions
for warranty claims, contract losses and project penalties, 
as well as order-related development expenses incurred in
connection with projects for which we have recognized
corresponding revenues. Order-related development is
recorded in cost of sales, and amounted to $727 million,
$886 million and $719 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Order-related development amounts are initially
recorded in inventories as works in progress, and reflected 
in cost of sales at the time revenue is recognized.

The gross profit margin on a consolidated basis and for each
core division and Non-core activities, calculated as gross
profit divided by revenues, were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Power Technologies 20.3% 22.0% 22.1%
Automation Technologies 29.4% 29.0% 29.8%
Non-core activities (1) 6.7% (0.5%) 5.0%
Consolidated 24.0% 22.0% 22.5%
(1) Excludes revenues of $0 million, $421 million and $758 million and gross profit 

of $0 million, $378 million and $707 million of the Group Processes business area in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The gross profit margin improved in 2004 as compared to
2003, principally due to an improvement in gross profit
margin in the in the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business
area from negative 9.5 percent in 2003 to 9.9 percent in
2004 following a $1,103 million reduction in costs of sales
related to the winding down or culmination of long-term fixed
price contracts.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by
$131 million, or 3 percent (10 percent in local currencies), to
$3,786 million in 2004 from $3,917 million in 2003. In 2003,
selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by
$133 million, or 3 percent (15 percent in local currencies), to
$3,917 million from $4,050 million in 2002.

The components of selling, general and administrative
expenses were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Selling expenses 1,910 1,830 1,815
General and administrative 
expenses 1,876 2,087 2,235
Total selling, general and 
administrative expenses 3,786 3,917 4,050
Total selling, general and 
administrative expenses as
a percentage of revenues 18.3% 19.2% 20.8%

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage
of revenues have decreased in Power Technologies,
Automation Technologies and Non-core activities in each of
the past two years as compared to the previous period.

Selling expenses increased 4 percent and 1 percent
(decreased 3 percent and 11 percent in local currencies) 
in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The increase in 2004 
was due to growth in selling expense in each of the Power
Technologies and Automation Technologies divisions of 
13 percent (6 percent and 5 percent in local currencies,
respectively), partially offset by business divestments and
closures in Non-core activities. 

General and administrative expenses decreased by 
10 percent and 7 percent (16 percent and 17 percent in
local currencies) in 2004 and 2003, respectively. General 
and administrative expenses decreased in 2004 as a 
result of business sales and closures in Non-core activities,
partially offset by increases of 2 percent and 15 percent 
(a decrease of 5 percent and an increase of 5 percent in
local currencies) in the Power Technologies and Automation
Technologies divisions, respectively. General and
administrative expenses decreased in 2003 as a result of
business sales and closures in Non-core activities, as well as
a decrease of 3 percent (13 percent in local currencies) 
in the Power Technologies division and partially offset by 
an increase of 6 percent (a decrease of 10 percent in local
currencies) in the Automation Technologies division.

General and administrative expenses include non-order
related research and development not related to a specific
order or project, which increased 9 percent and 11 percent
(decreased 1 percent and 1 percent in local currencies) 
in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Research and development
costs not related to a specific order or project were 
$690 million, $635 million and $572 million in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

General and administrative expenses in 2002 additionally
include the recovery of payments to two former chief
executive officers.

Amortization expense 
Amortization expense of other intangibles was $45 million,
$31 million and $45 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Amortization expense of other intangibles
primarily reflects the amortization of intellectual property
related to an acquisition made in 1999 and the amortization
of patents and other intangible assets from acquisitions held
by the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business. The increase
in amortization expense in 2004 was primarily due to the
reclassification of the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business
in 2004, and the related recognition of amortization expense
not recorded while this business was classified in
discontinued operations. Amortization of assets ceases
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when the assets meet the criteria to be classified as held for
sale. Amortization expenses for businesses classified in
discontinued operations are not recorded as an amortization
expense in our consolidated results of operations. When a
business is reclassified from discontinued operations, we
recognize in the period of reclassification all amortization
expense that would have been recognized by the reclassified
business during the period of time the business was
classified in discontinued operations as long as this amount
is less than the fair value of the assets on the date the
business is reclassified into continuing operations.

Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net, typically consists of:
restructuring expenses; gains or losses from the sale of
businesses, gains or losses from the sale or disposal of
property, plant and equipment; asset write-downs; our share
of income or loss from equity accounted companies,
principally from our Equity Ventures business; and license
income.

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Restructuring expenses (165) (340) (255)
Capital gains, net 73 69 107
Asset write-downs (71) (35) (94)
Income from licenses,
equity accounted 
companies and other 114 112 162
Total (49) (194) (80)

Restructuring expenses are described above in
“Restructuring expenses.” 

Capital gains, net in 2004 included gains of $33 million on
the sale of land and buildings, $20 million on the sale of our
shares of IXYS Corporation and lesser amounts from a
number of smaller transactions. Capital gains, net in 2003
included gains of $83 million from the sale of businesses
from the Building System business area, $28 million from the
sale of equity investments in Australia, $26 million from the
sale of land and buildings and lesser amounts from a number
of smaller transactions, partly offset by an $80 million loss on
the sale of our equity interest in the Swedish Export Credit
Corporation. Capital gains in 2002 included a $74 million
gain on the sale of our Air Handling business, a $22 million
gain from the sale of machinery, land and buildings and a
number of smaller gains.

Asset write-downs in 2004 included charges of $21 million 
in respect of goodwill, $14 million in respect of an e-business
investment, $8 million in respect of property impairments, 
$2 million in respect of machinery and equipment,
approximately $20 million in a write-down of notes receivable
in the Power Technologies division and a number of smaller
write-downs. Asset write-downs in 2003 related to software,
several equity investments, impairments of property and a
number of smaller write-downs. Asset write-downs in 2002
included $25 million in respect of software, $30 million in
respect of a number of equity investments, approximately
$30 million in respect of impairments of property and a
number of smaller write-downs.

License income was $24 million, $25 million and $14 million
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, primarily reflecting
income from liquid crystal display licenses.

Income from equity accounted companies was $87 million,
$96 million and $220 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Included in these values is income from our
investment in Jorf Lasfar, which operates a power plant in
Morocco, of $68 million, $62 million and $73 million in 
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decline in 2003 of
income from equity accounted companies is primarily 
due to the sale of our investment in the Swedish Export
Credit Corporation, which we divested in the second quarter
of 2003.

Earnings before interest and taxes
Our EBIT for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 was as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Power Technologies 610 595 451
Automation Technologies 1,027 738 495

Core Divisions 1,637 1,333 946
Non-core activities

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals (4) (296) (142)
Building Systems (70) (104) (113)
New Ventures (5) (21) (37)
Equity Ventures 69 76 43
Structured Finance (14) (65) 96
Other Non-core activities (22) (57) (157)

Total Non-core activities (46) (467) (310)
Corporate/Other and inter-
division eliminations (507) (509) (437)
Total 1,084 357 199

EBIT increased by $727 million, or 204 percent (186 percent
in local currencies), to $1,084 million in 2004 and by 
$158 million, or 79 percent (37 percent in local currencies),
to $357 million in 2003.
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The EBIT margin for our core divisions and on a
consolidated basis for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Power Technologies 7.0% 7.8% 6.6%
Automation Technologies 9.3% 7.7% 6.0%
Core Divisions 8.3% 7.7% 6.3%
Total 5.2% 1.7% 1.0%

The 2004 EBIT margin decline in the Power Technologies
division principally reflected a $26 million (of which
approximately $20 million was included in other income
(expense), net) write-down of notes receivable, the increase
in raw materials costs (especially for steel, copper, aluminum
and transformer oil) during the year, $14 million in project-
related hedging costs incurred following our decision to
cease accounting for certain hedges under Statement of
Accounting Financial Standards No.133 (or SFAS 133),
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity
and lower margin turnkey projects in the Utility Automation
Systems business area including, in certain instances, cost
overruns. Lower margin levels in the Power Systems
business area due to continued low capacity utilization also
contributed to the declining EBIT margin in 2004, caused
principally by a lack of large orders received by the high-
voltage direct current business unit and a related declining
order backlog relating to our performance in China and Brazil
of orders with a combined value of approximately $553
million received in 2001. These developments were partially
offset by strong, productivity-driven margin improvements in
the Medium-Voltage Products business area. The EBIT
margin increased in 2003 as compared to 2002, primarily
due to the elimination of overlapping product lines and
production sites, as well as productivity improvements.

The EBIT margin in the Automation Technologies division
increased in 2004 due to increases in EBIT in all business
areas resulting from productivity improvements and
operational excellence initiatives along with a decrease in
restructuring costs in 2004 from 2003. The EBIT margin
increased in all Automation Technologies business areas in
2003 as compared to 2002, primarily due to productivity
improvements and cost savings programs, partially offset 
by higher restructuring expenses in 2003 than 2002.

The EBIT margin in Non-core activities improved in 2004 as
compared to 2003, primarily due to charges and losses
realized in 2003 relating to certain large projects in the Oil,
Gas and Petrochemicals business, the $80 million loss 
on the sale of our investment in the Swedish Export Credit
Corporation and the cessation or transfer of the Group
Processes business. Non-core activities EBIT margin
declined in 2003 due to the aforementioned items in the 
Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business and the Structured
Finance business.

Net interest and other finance expense
Net interest and other finance expense consists of 
interest and dividend income and interest and other finance
expense. Interest and other finance expense includes
expenses associated with the change in fair value of the
embedded derivative that was in our $968 million convertible
bonds, the amortization of costs associated with our credit
facility, the issuance of our debt securities, gains (losses) on
marketable securities and interest expense on our
borrowings.

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Interest and dividend income 164 152 194
Interest and other finance 
expense (387) (569) (327)
Net interest and other finance 
expense (223) (417) (133)

Net interest and other finance expense decreased by 
47 percent in 2004 after rising 214 percent in 2003.

Interest and dividend income increased in 2004 due to
higher average balances of cash and marketable securities 
in 2004 compared to 2003, as well as higher average market
interest rates. Interest and dividend income decreased in
2003 because market interest rates were lower than those 
in 2002 and because our divestments reduced our previous
sources of dividend income.

Interest and other finance expense decreased in 2004 due
to lower average debt levels in the period, partially offset by
higher average interest rates on our borrowings. The debt
repaid in 2004 was largely debt that had been swapped into
floating interest rates. Consequently, fixed rate debt, with
higher average interest rates than our floating rate debt
during 2004, represented an increased proportion of our
total debt balance. Interest and other finance expense in
2004 also included a $43 million non-cash gain on available
for sale marketable securities contributed to our German
pension funds in 2004 and a $20 million expense relating 
to our securitization programs. In 2003, these expenses
included a $40 million loss on the sale of our shares in the
China National Petrochemical Corporation (Sinopec), a 
$36 million impairment charge for available-for-sale
marketable securities in Germany and a $21 million expense
relating to our securitization programs. The change in fair
value of the embedded derivative and the amortization of 
the related discount on issuance from our $968 million
convertible bonds resulted in an expense of $52 million in
2004, as compared to an expense of $84 million in 2003
and a decrease in expense of $215 million in 2002.
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Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from continuing operations increased by 
$819 million to an income of $448 million in 2004 compared
to a loss of $371 million in 2003. The increase reflects
improved EBIT and reduced net interest and other finance
expense in 2004.

Income (loss) from continuing operations deteriorated by
$245 million to a loss of $371 million in 2003 compared 
to a loss of $126 million in 2002. The deterioration reflects
increased net interest and other finance expense and
increased tax expense in 2003.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
The loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, are as set
forth below:

Discontinued operations
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Combustion Engineering 
(Asbestos) (262) (142) (395)
Powerlines (75) (10) (17)
Upstream Oil, Gas and 
Petrochemicals (70) (44) 14
Reinsurance (41) (97) 22
Wind Energy (25) (42) (1)
Foundry (17) – –
MDCV Cables – (24) (1)
Export Bank – (9) 10
Metering 12 (3) (54)
Structured Finance 14 (29) (183)
Other abandoned or sold 
businesses (19) (8) (88)
Loss from discontinued 
operations, net of tax (483) (408) (693)

Tax expense, net, in discontinued operations was $41
million, $42 million and $91 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

A detailed discussion of the results of the significant
discontinued businesses follows in the section entitled
“Discontinued operations.”

Net loss
As a result of the factors discussed above, net loss improved
by $744 million to a loss of $35 million in 2004 from a loss 
of $779 million in 2003. The net loss in 2003 decreased by
$40 million to a net loss of $779 million in 2003 from a net
loss of $819 million in 2002.

Provision for taxes

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Income (loss) from continuing 
operations, before taxes and
minority inerest 861 (60) 66
Provision for taxes (311) (245) (81)
Effective tax rate for the year 36.1% (408.3%) 122.7%

The provision for taxes in 2004 was $311 million,
representing an effective tax rate for the year of 36.1 percent.
The provision for taxes in 2004 includes an expense relating
to a valuation allowance of $107 million, predominantly
relating to our operations in certain countries including
Canada and France, and a benefit of approximately $45
million from the losses of a post divestment reorganization
and of $39 million relating to the favorable resolution in 
2004 of certain prior year tax matters.

In 2003, the loss from continuing operations before taxes
and minority interest of $60 million included an $84 million
expense comprising the change in fair value of the
embedded derivative and the amortization of the related
discount on issuance from our $968 million convertible bonds
combined with the continued amortization of the discount 
on issuance of these bonds. Furthermore, the provision for
taxes includes the release of an approximately $38 million
tax provision related to a tax case ruled in our favor, an
expense of approximately $16 million related to a tax claim
filed in Central Europe. In addition, the provision for taxes
includes a valuation allowance of approximately $258 million
on deferred tax assets as a result of the determination that it
was more likely than not that such deferred tax assets would
no longer be realized within our Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals
business. The effective tax rate in 2003 applicable to income
from continuing operations excluding the tax effect of these
items would have been 37.5 percent.

The effective tax rate in 2002 was 122.7 percent, in part as 
a result of a valuation allowance of approximately $33 million
on deferred tax assets in the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals
business. Furthermore, the provision for taxes in 2002
includes a valuation allowance of $17 million on deferred tax
assets and an increased tax expense of $7 million related 
to non-deductible expenses under Italian tax law as a result
of the overstatement within the PT-MV BAU in Italy. The
effective tax rate in 2002 applicable to income from
continuing operations excluding the tax effect of these items
would have been 36.4 percent.
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Earnings (loss) per share

Basic and Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($)

Income (loss) from continuing 
operations

Basic 0.22 (0.30) (0.11)
Diluted 0.22 (0.30) (0.27)

Loss from discontinued 
operations

Basic (0.24) (0.34) (0.63)
Diluted (0.24) (0.34) (0.59)

Net loss
Basic (0.02) (0.64) (0.74)
Diluted (0.02) (0.64) (0.86)

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing
income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings (loss) per share
is calculated by dividing income (loss) by the weighted-
average number of shares outstanding during the year,
assuming that all potentially dilutive securities were
exercised, if dilutive. Potentially dilutive securities comprise:
outstanding written call options, if dilutive; the securities
issued under our employee incentive plans, if dilutive; and
shares issuable in relation to our convertible bonds, if dilutive.

Basic loss per share was $0.02 in 2004 compared to $0.64
in 2003. Basic loss per share was $0.64 in 2003 compared
to $0.74 in 2002.

The difference between the basic and diluted earnings per
share in 2002 primarily reflects the effect of the gain of $215
million recognized in 2002 under SFAS 133 with respect to
changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative and the
amortization of the related discount on issuance from our
$968 million convertible bond.

Power Technologies
Effective January 1, 2005, the business areas within the
Power Technologies division were reorganized into two
businesses areas. The Transformers, Medium-Voltage
Products and High-Voltage Products business areas were
combined to form the Products business area, while the
Power Systems and Utility Automation Systems business
areas were combined to form the Systems business area.
We expect to report future financial results for the Power
Technologies business area based on the Products and
Systems business areas.

The financial results of the Power Technologies division were
as follows:

Power Technologies
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Orders 9,372 7,682 6,686
Order backlog 6,874 6,030 5,682
Revenues 8,755 7,598 6,814
Cost of sales 6,976 5,927 5,306
Selling, general and 
administrative expenses 1,097 1,020 989
EBIT 610 595 451

Orders
Orders increased by $1,690 million, or 22 percent 
(15 percent in local currencies), to $9,372 million in 2004.
Orders in 2004 grew at a rate between 18 percent and 
27 percent (11 percent and 19 percent in local currencies) in
all business areas except for Utility Automation Systems,
where orders increased approximately 12 percent (6 percent
in local currencies). Both base and large orders improved in
2004, with the large order growth driven by an order for the
Three Gorges project in China of approximately $390 million.
Orders from other divisions were $500 million in 2004 as
compared to $435 million in 2003, representing 5 percent
and 6 percent of division orders, respectively.

The proportionate geographic distribution of orders of 
the Power Technologies division (based on the location of
the customer, which may be different from the ultimate
destination of the products’ end use) were approximately 
as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003

Europe 37% 40%
The Americas 22% 22%
Asia 29% 21%
MEA 12% 17%
Total 100% 100%

Order growth in 2004 was particularly strong in Asia, led by
China where orders almost doubled, making Asia the Power
Technologies division’s second largest regional source of
orders. Orders also grew in Europe in 2004, which continued
to be the division’s largest regional source of orders. Orders
in North America increased significantly while orders from
South America decreased slightly. Orders from MEA were
down due mainly to a lower level of large orders in 2004 than
in 2003.
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In 2003, orders increased by $996 million, or 15 percent 
(5 percent in local currencies), to $7,682 million. Orders
increased in all business areas, with increases of 30 percent
(20 percent in local currencies) in our Medium-Voltage
Products business area following growth in our base orders,
and 26 percent and 16 percent (13 percent and 8 percent 
in local currencies) in the Utility Automation Systems and
Power Systems business areas, respectively. Orders grew 
by 13 percent (flat in local currencies) in our High-Voltage
Products business area as large orders from Eastern Europe
and the MEA were partially offset by a decrease from the
United States. Orders in our Transformers business area
increased by 5 percent (decreased by 5 percent in local
currencies). 

Order growth in 2003 was driven by growth in the MEA, 
Asia and Europe, moderated by a decrease in the Americas.
Orders from other divisions were $435 million in 2003
compared to $433 million in 2002, representing 6 percent 
of division orders in both the periods.

Order backlog
Order backlog increased by $844 million, or 14 percent 
(6 percent in local currencies), to $6,874 million as at
December 31, 2004 from $6,030 million as at December 31,
2003.

Order backlog increased by $348 million, or 6 percent
(decreased by 6 percent in local currencies), to $6,030
million as at December 31, 2003 from $5,682 million as at
December 31, 2002.

Revenues
The distribution of revenues of the Power Technologies
division by business area for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2003, were approximately as follows:

Business area
Percentage of revenues 

for the Year ended December 31,

2004 2003

Transformers 26% 25%
Power Systems 22% 25%
Medium-Voltage Products 19% 18%
High-Voltage Products 17% 16%
Utility Automation Systems 16% 16%

Revenues increased by $1,157 million, or 15 percent 
(9 percent in local currencies), to $8,755 million in 2004 from
$7,598 million in 2003, principally reflecting a 22 percent 
(16 percent and 15 percent in local currencies, respectively)
revenue growth in the Medium-Voltage Products and High-
Voltage Products business areas, and a 19 percent 
(13 percent in local currencies) increase in the Transformers
business area. Revenues in the Utility Automation Systems

business area increased by 11 percent (5 percent in local
currencies), whereas revenues in the Power Systems
business area increased by 1 percent (down 5 percent in
local currencies), reflecting a lower level of order backlog of
large projects than in 2003.

Revenues increased by $784 million, or 12 percent 
(2 percent in local currencies), to $7,598 million in 2003 from 
$6,814 million in 2002. Revenues from our Medium-Voltage
Products business area increased 30 percent (20 percent in
local currencies) in 2003, based mainly on growth in China
and Eastern Europe, while revenues from the High-Voltage
Products business area decreased by 8 percent (4 percent
in local currency terms), as a result of lower order backlog at
the beginning of 2003. Revenues in our Power Systems and
Utility Automation Systems business areas decreased by 
8 percent and 10 percent (1 percent and 1 percent in local
currencies), respectively, due to a reduced number of short-
term orders received in the second half of 2002. Revenues
for the Power Technologies division were also negatively
affected by the loss of revenues from three businesses that
were divested in each of the United States, Poland and Italy.

The proportionate geographic distribution of revenues of 
the Power Technologies division (based on the location 
of the customer, which may be different from the ultimate
destination of the products’ end use) were approximately 
as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003

Europe 39% 38%
The Americas 22% 25%
Asia 25% 24%
MEA 14% 13%
Total 100% 100%

Regionally, revenues were higher in Europe, MEA and Asia.
Asian revenues in 2004 reflected relatively modest growth in
China, where revenues from the Power Systems business
area declined from a peak in 2003. Revenue growth in the
Americas in 2004 was flat, principally resulting from a decline
in revenues in the United States.

Regionally, in 2003 revenues from Asia and the MEA
significantly increased primarily driven by increased revenues
in China and Saudi Arabia. Revenues from Europe increased
in U.S. dollar terms but decreased slightly in local currencies.
These increases in revenues for 2003 were partly offset 
by decreases in the Americas, with the Americas revenues
decline in 2003 reflecting a decline in sales of distribution
transformers by the Power Technologies division.

Revenues from other divisions were $499 million in 2004
(representing 6 percent of the Power Technologies division’s
revenues), $476 million in 2003 (representing 6 percent of
division revenues) compared to $298 million in 2002
(representing 4 percent of division revenues).
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Cost of sales
Cost of sales increased by $1,049 million, or 18 percent 
(11 percent in local currencies), to $6,976 million in 2004
from $5,927 million in 2003. The Power Technologies
division’s gross profit margin decreased from 22.0 percent in
2003 to 20.3 percent in 2004, reflecting higher input prices
of raw materials, particularly steel, copper, aluminum and
transfer oil, that principally impacted the Transformers
business area, low capacity utilization of the Power Systems
business area and project-related hedging costs incurred
following our decision to cease accounting for certain
hedges under SFAS 133, offset in part by savings in supply
chain management and productivity improvements.

Cost of sales increased by $621 million, or 12 percent 
(2 percent in local currencies), to $5,927 million in 2003 
from $5,306 million in 2002. The Power Technologies
division’s gross profit margin decreased from 22.1 percent 
in 2002 to 22.0 percent in 2003. Despite difficult markets 
in 2003 characterized by a less favorable product mix and
price level erosion, most noticeably in our High-Voltage
Products and Transformers business areas, gross profit
margin remained relatively flat mainly due to ongoing
productivity improvements and cost savings.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administration expenses increased 
by $77 million, or 8 percent (flat in local currencies), to
$1,097 million in 2004 from $1,020 million in 2003.
Expressed as a percentage of revenues, selling, general and
administration expenses decreased to 12.5 percent in 2004
from 13.4 percent in 2003, reflecting productivity gains 
from improved sales and administrative processes and our
restructuring under the Step Change program.

Selling, general and administration expenses increased 
by $31 million, or 3 percent (decreased by 8 percent in local
currencies), to $1,020 million in 2003 from $989 million 
in 2002. Expressed as a percentage of revenues, selling,
general and administration expenses decreased to 
13.4 percent in 2003 compared to 14.5 percent in 2002,
reflecting the benefits of restructuring and efficiency
improvement programs.

Earnings before interest and taxes
EBIT grew $15 million, or 3 percent (2 percent in local
currencies) to $610 million in 2004. EBIT reflected
restructuring expenses of $51 million and $61 million in 2004
and 2003, respectively.

EBIT margin for the Power Technologies division was 
7.0 percent in 2004 compared to 7.8 percent for 2003. The
decrease in EBIT margin in 2004 principally reflected the
increase in raw materials costs (especially for steel, copper,
aluminum and transformer oil) during the year, a $26 million
(of which approximately $20 million was included in other
income (expense), net) write-down of notes receivable, 
$14 million in project-related hedging costs incurred following
our decision to cease accounting for certain hedges under
SFAS 133, lower margin levels in the Power Systems
business area due to continued low capacity utilization and
lower margin turnkey projects in the Utility Automation
Systems business area including, in certain instances, cost
overruns. These decreases were partially offset by strong,
productivity-driven margin improvements in the Medium-
Voltage Products business area. 

EBIT increased by $144 million, or 32 percent (28 percent 
in local currencies), to $595 million in 2003 from $451 million
in 2002. EBIT margin increased from 6.6 percent in 2002 
to 7.8 percent in 2003, caused principally by comparatively
significant improvements from the Medium-Voltage Products,
Utility Automation Systems and Power Systems business
areas due to the elimination of overlapping product lines and
production sites, as well as productivity improvements. EBIT
margin in the Transformers business area remained flat.

Automation Technologies
The financial results of the Automation Technologies division
were as follows:

Automation Technologies
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Orders 11,334 9,691 8,428
Order backlog 4,322 3,826 3,486
Revenues 11,030 9,628 8,201
Cost of sales 7,785 6,835 5,760
Selling, general and 
administrative expenses 2,147 1,889 1,786
EBIT 1,027 738 495

Orders
Orders increased by $1,643 million, or 17 percent (9 percent
in local currencies), from $9,691 million in 2003 to $11,334
million in 2004. Orders received by the Automation Products
business area increased by 21 percent (13 percent in local
currencies) in 2004 led by an increase in orders from process
industries and building installations customers. Orders
received by the Process Automation business area grew at
11 percent (3 percent in local currencies) in 2004, as growth
in orders from the mining, cement, metals, the cruise and
ferry and oil and gas industries exceeded declining orders
from businesses operating in the chemicals, pharmaceuticals
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European orders increased, reflecting strong order increases
in Eastern Europe moderated by the slower growth in
Western Europe. Orders from the Americas declined in 2003,
primarily reflecting lower orders from the automotive and
other industrial sectors. Orders from Asia increased
significantly in 2003, driven by China and India. Orders from
the MEA in 2003 increased in U.S. dollar terms but
decreased slightly in local currencies.

Order backlog
Order backlog increased by $496 million, or 13 percent 
(7 percent in local currencies), to $4,322 million as at
December 31, 2004 from $3,826 million as at December 31,
2003, principally as a result of increased order intake during
2004. 

Order backlog increased by $340 million, or 10 percent
(decreased by 4 percent in local currencies), to $3,826
million as at December 31, 2003 from $3,486 million as at
December 31, 2002. 

Revenues
The distribution of revenues of the Automation Technologies
division by business area were approximately as follows:

Business area
Percentage of revenues 

for the Year ended December 31,

2004 2003

Automation Products 47% 46%
Process Automation 40% 40%
Manufacturing Automation 13% 14%

Revenues increased by $1,402 million, or 15 percent 
(7 percent in local currencies), to $11,030 million in 2004
from $9,628 million in 2003, principally due to 17 percent 
(9 percent in local currencies) revenue growth in the
Automation Products business area. Revenues in 2004 for
the Process Automation business area increased by 
13 percent (5 percent in local currencies), reflecting growth 
in the Oil and Gas, Minerals, Turbocharging and Control
Products business units moderated by declines in the Pulp
and Paper and Marine business units. Our Manufacturing
Automation business area, which accounted for 13 percent
of Automation Technologies’ 2004 revenues, grew more
slowly at 4 percent (decreased 4 percent in local currencies)
as a result of a weak backlog of system orders. Revenues
from other divisions were $391 million in 2004 compared to
$356 million in 2003 representing 4 percent of the division
orders for both periods.

and pulp and paper markets. Orders received by the
Manufacturing Automation business area increased by 
23 percent (16 percent in local currencies), primarily driven
by orders for automotive systems from North America 
and China. Orders from other divisions were $355 million 
in 2004, compared to $344 million in 2003 representing 
3 percent and 4 percent of the division orders, respectively.

The proportionate geographic distribution of orders of the
Automation Technologies division (based on the location of
the customer, which may be different from the ultimate
destination of the products’ end use) were approximately 
as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003

Europe 59% 61%
The Americas 16% 15%
Asia 19% 18%
MEA 6% 6%
Total 100% 100%

The ultimate destination of our products’ end use is relevant
for the Automation Technologies division as some global
distributors and wholesalers in Europe sell our products in
Asia, the Americas, and MEA. We estimate this volume to be
approximately 10 percent of the division orders, divided
between the ultimate destinations of Asia, the Americas, and
MEA.

In 2004, orders from Asia increased faster than in any 
other region. Orders from the Americas also grew, driven by 
a large order from the United States automotive sector.
European orders grew in 2004, as increases in orders from
Western Europe, which accounted for more than 90 percent
of European orders, more than offset a reduction in orders
from Eastern Europe following the receipt of a large order in
Poland during 2003. Orders from the MEA increased
moderately.

Orders increased by $1,263 million, or 15 percent (1 percent
in local currencies), to $9,691 million in 2003 compared 
to $8,428 million in 2002. Over this period, the Automation
Products business area experienced significant growth in
Asia, which was partially offset by lower orders from Europe
and America. The Process Automation business area
increased the volume of large orders during 2003 by
approximately 87 percent (59 percent in local currencies), 
led by a large order for $173 million in the fourth quarter 
for turnkey gas compressors for a pipeline project in Poland.
This increase in large orders, however, could not offset a
lower volume of base orders from the paper and minerals
industries. Orders in the Manufacturing Automation business
area decreased on lower orders from the automotive
industries in North America and Europe. Orders from other
divisions were $344 million in 2003 compared to $311
million in 2002.
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Revenues in the Automation Technologies division increased
by $1,427 million, or 17 percent (3 percent in local
currencies), to $9,628 million in 2003 compared to $8,201
million in 2002. Revenues increased 14 percent (flat in local
currencies) in 2003 in the Manufacturing Automation
business area. Revenues in the businesses now constituting
the Automation Products and Process Automation business
areas increased 17 percent (2 percent in local currencies), as
sales of products and services increased and despite
declining revenues generated from the paper industry.
Revenues from other divisions were $356 million in 2003
compared to $328 million in 2002, representing
approximately 4 percent of division revenues in both periods.

The proportionate geographic distribution of revenues of 
the Automation Technologies division (based on the location
of the customer, which may be different from the ultimate
destination of the products’ end use) were approximately as
follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003

Europe 60% 61%
The Americas 15% 17%
Asia 19% 16%
MEA 6% 6%
Total 100% 100%

The ultimate destination of our products’ end use is relevant
for the Automation Technologies division as some global
distributors and wholesalers in Europe sell our products in
Asia, the Americas, and MEA. We estimate this volume to be
approximately 10 percent of the division revenues, divided
between the ultimate destinations of Asia, the Americas, and
MEA.

Revenues generated in Asia grew significantly in 2004,
reflecting sales growth in China and India, with the result that
Asia became Automation Technologies’ second largest
regional source of revenues. Revenues increased in Europe,
which remained Automation Technologies’ largest revenue
contributor. Revenues from the Americas fell slightly in 2004
due to lower orders in 2003, principally from the automotive
industry. Revenues from the MEA increased following the
receipt of several large orders in 2003.

In 2003, revenues from Europe increased, as increases in
Eastern Europe were tempered by slower growth in Western
Europe due to lower order backlog at the beginning of 2003.
The Americas increased slightly as compared to 2002, while
revenues from Asia and the MEA increased significantly,
driven by higher revenues in 2003 from China, India, Algeria
and the United Arab Emirates.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales increased $950 million, or 14 percent 
(6 percent in local currencies), to $7,785 million in 2004 
from $6,835 million in 2003. The Automation Technologies
division’s gross profit margin increased to 29.4 percent in
2004 from 29.0 percent in 2003 following cost reduction 
and productivity gains from the Step Change program and
operational excellence initiatives, offset in part by increasing
costs for raw materials, particularly steel, copper and oil.

Cost of sales increased $1,075 million, or 19 percent 
(4 percent in local currencies), to $6,835 million in 2003 from
$5,760 million in 2002. The Automation Technologies
division’s gross profit margin decreased to 29.0 percent in
2003 from 29.8 percent in 2002. Gross profit margin in 2003
decreased as savings in supply chain management and
manufacturing and engineering activities were more than
offset by increased input prices from our suppliers following
the strengthening of the euro against the U.S. dollar and
price reductions on certain of our products. In 2003, the
gross profit margin remained flat in the Manufacturing
Automation business area, as operational improvements
were offset by an increase in material costs. For the
businesses now constituting the Process Automation and
Automation Products business areas, gross profit margin
declined following cost increases related to systems
projects, despite the declining percentage of revenue
represented by such projects.

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administration expenses increased by
$258 million, or 14 percent (5 percent in local currencies), to
$2,147 million in 2004 from $1,889 million in 2003.
Expressed as a percentage of revenues, selling, general and
administration expenses decreased to 19 percent in 2004
from 20 percent in 2003, reflecting cost reductions primarily
from the Step change program.

Selling, general and administration expenses increased 
by $103 million, or 6 percent (decreased 8 percent in local
currencies), to $1,889 million in 2003 compared to 
$1,786 million in 2002. Expressed as a percentage of
revenues, selling, general and administration expenses
decreased to 20 percent in 2003 from 22 percent in 2002,
reflecting the impact of the various restructuring and
efficiency improvement programs. 

Earnings before interest and taxes
EBIT grew $289 million, or 39 percent (30 percent in local
currencies) to $1,027 million in 2004. EBIT margin increased
to 9.3 percent in 2004 from 7.7 percent in 2003. EBIT
margin increased in all business areas reflecting productivity
improvements, benefits from operational excellence initiatives
and a decrease in restructuring costs in 2004 to $72 million
from $139 million in 2003. 
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EBIT increased by $243 million, or 49 percent (30 percent in
local currencies), to $738 million in 2003 compared to $495
million in 2002. All business areas improved in operating
income in 2003, mainly due to productivity improvements
and our cost savings programs. The increase in operating
income was partially offset by higher restructuring costs in
2003, at $139 million, as compared to $126 million during
2002. As a result, the EBIT margin increased to 7.7 percent
in 2003 compared to 6.0 percent in 2002. 

Non-core activities

Orders
Orders received by Non-core activities were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 1,216 1,156 2,123
Building Systems 388 1,616 2,351
New Ventures 41 45 70
Equity Ventures 7 26 19
Structured Finance 6 48 77
Other Non-core activities 36 469 960
Total Non-core activities 1,694 3,360 5,600

Orders received declined by 50 percent and 40 percent 
(53 percent and 43 percent in local currencies) in 2004 and
2003, respectively. The reductions in orders over these
periods were primarily due to ongoing divestments, 
declining orders in the Building Systems business area, the
discontinuation and reduction of activities in the Group
Processes business area and a shift in our Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business away from entering into long-term
fixed price contracts toward reimbursable contracts. Non-
core activities orders from other divisions amounted to 
$36 million in 2004 (representing 2 percent of the division
orders in 2004), $445 million in 2003 (representing 
13 percent of the division orders in 2003) and $980 million
in 2002 (representing 17 percent of the division orders in
2002). The orders received by the Group Processes
business area, which only received internal orders from 
other divisions, constituted $413 million and $755 million of
Non-core activities orders received in 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

In 2004, orders for Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business
area increased mainly through base orders (orders below
$15 million). Large orders in 2004, 2 percent below 2003,
included major projects in Sweden, Russia, China, Poland
and Middle East. Orders increased in all regions during 
2004 compared to 2003.

Within the Building Systems business area, 91 percent of 
the orders in 2004 were received by our German business
and 6 percent by the now-sold Swiss business.

In 2004, Non-core activities orders predominantly came from
Europe, with approximately 50 percent of our orders from
Western Europe and approximately 20 percent from Eastern
Europe. The remaining orders were received in roughly equal
proportions from the Americas (principally from the United
States), Asia (principally from China) and the MEA.

In 2003, orders decreased by $2,240 million, or 40 percent
(43 percent in local currencies), to $3,360 million. This
reduction in orders is partially due to the divestment of
businesses, the performance of the remaining businesses in
the Building Systems business area and the discontinuation
and reduction of activities in the Group Processes business
area. Additionally, this reduction resulted in part from a
decrease in large orders in our Oil, Gas and Petrochemical
business, mainly attributable to our strategic decision to 
de-emphasize fixed priced EPC contracts in favor of lower-
risk reimbursable contracts (which generally have lower 
order values) and to more selectively tender for project work.

Order backlog
Order backlog in Non-core activities was as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 1,251 1,264 2,143
Building Systems 255 554 1,263
New Ventures 8 14 79
Equity Ventures – – –
Structured Finance – 2 3
Other Non-core activities 19 31 91
Total Non-core activities 1,533 1,865 3,579

Revenues
Revenues from Non-core activities were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 1,079 1,895 2,321
Building Systems 508 1,829 2,375
New Ventures 49 53 50
Equity Ventures 7 26 19
Structured Finance 6 48 66
Other Non-core activities 44 471 783
Total Non-core activities 1,693 4,322 5,614

Revenues decreased by 61 percent and 23 percent 
(63 percent and 36 percent in local currencies) in 2004 and
2003, respectively. Revenues from other divisions amounted
to $52 million, $476 million and $882 million (representing 
3 percent, 11 percent and 15 percent of Non-core activities
revenues) in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
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Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals revenues in 2004 were 
43 percent (46 percent in local currencies) lower than 2003,
primarily due to the winding down and reduced scope of
large projects. Revenues from the licensing of process
technologies significantly increased, led by revenues from
the licensing of ethylene and novolen technologies.
Revenues decreased by 18 percent (28 percent in local
currencies) in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily due to the
lower volume of order backlog going into 2003 as a
consequence of our focus in pursuing reimbursable EPC
projects. In an effort to reduce our exposure to risks
associated with long-term fixed price contracts, particularly
in our Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business, we have been
pursuing instead long-term reimbursable contracts in which
we charge our customers the sum of our materials,
production, logistics, administrative and financial costs,
together with a negotiated operating profit. We believe that
long-term reimbursable contracts, while not eliminating the
risk of loss completely, should generally enable us to recover
from the customer costs relating to contract delays or cost
increases more easily than we can with fixed price contracts,
where we generally must demonstrate that the delays and
increased costs were a direct result of the customer’s action
or omission. Despite our strategy of focusing on
reimbursable contracts, we may continue to experience
losses on our contracts.

Building Systems revenues decreased by 72 percent and 
23 percent (74 percent and 34 percent in local currencies) in
2004 and 2003, respectively, primarily resulting from the 
sale of businesses. Building Systems revenues in 2004 were
primarily generated in Germany, with 79 percent of 2004
business area revenues, the United States (which we plan to
close) with 10 percent, and Switzerland (sold in February
2004) with 6 percent.

New Ventures revenues came from distributed energy
operations in Europe.

Equity Ventures includes mainly equity accounted companies,
the income from which are recorded in other income
(expense), net.

Structured Finance revenues decreased in each of 2004 and
2003 due to the ongoing portfolio reduction.

Other Non-core activities include Group Processes,
Customer Service Workshops and Logistic Systems
business areas. Group Processes revenues decreased by
$421 million, or 100 percent, to $0 million in 2004. In 2003,
Group Processes revenues decreased by $183 million, or 
44 percent (51 percent in local currencies), to $421 million 
in 2003 from $758 million in 2002. This business area 
does not generate revenue from third-party sales, with all 
the revenues of this business area resulting from internal
charges to other divisions. These decreases were due
principally to the transfer of activities to the other business

areas or cessation of activities. Of the remaining businesses,
revenues decreased by $6 million and $129 million in 
2004 and 2003, respectively, due to the ongoing divestment
and related closing processes in our Customer Service
Workshop and Logistic Systems business areas.

Earnings before interest and taxes
EBIT for Non-core activities was as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals (4) (296) (142)
Building Systems (70) (104) (113)
New Ventures (5) (21) (37)
Equity Ventures 69 76 43
Structured Finance (14) (65) 96
Other Non-core activities (22) (57) (157)
Total Non-core activities (46) (467) (310)

The Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business area in 2004
improved as compared to 2003, reflecting better project
execution capabilities across the organization as well as a
significant reduction in project-related write-offs in 2004.
Stronger performance following the winding down or
culmination of unprofitable long-term, fixed price EPC
projects and increased revenue related to the licensing of
process technologies was partially offset by under
absorption of operating costs by the Floating Production
Systems business. EBIT in 2004 was also negatively
impacted by a charge to depreciation and amortization of
$26 million for the years 2003 and 2004. This charge was
required in 2004 following the reclassification of this business
area from discontinued operations to continuing operations
(see the section entitled “Discontinued operations” below).

EBIT losses generated by the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals
business area increased in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily
due to charges in 2003 of approximately $399 million relating
to four large, long-term fixed price projects booked prior 
to the implementation of our current bidding strategy that
focuses on reimbursable contracts. The customers and
countries in which these four projects were located are
unrelated. The charges are related to delays, project cost
overruns and write-downs of assets that we no longer
considered recoverable.
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EBIT losses generated by the Building Systems business
area decreased by $34 million in 2004 as compared to
2003, primarily due to operational improvements and a
reduction in restructuring expenses, primarily in Germany,
partially offset by losses in the United States and the loss of
income from the profitable Nordic businesses sold in 2003
and the Swiss business sold in February, 2004. In 2003,
EBIT losses decreased by $9 million as compared to 2002.
EBIT for 2003 included the gain on sale of the Nordic
businesses for approximately $124 million, partially offset by
a loss on sale of businesses located in several other
countries, principally Belgium, the Netherlands, Austria and
the UK, of approximately $41 million. 

EBIT losses in the New Ventures business area decreased
by $16 million in 2004 compared to 2003. This improvement
resulted partly because in 2004 this area no longer included
the income from our investment in Turbec AB, which
generated negative earnings recognized in 2003. Turbec
was sold in the fourth quarter of 2003. The 2004 operating
loss also includes a $20 million gain on the divestment of 
our equity interest in IXYS Corporation. In 2003, EBIT losses
decreased by $16 million as compared to 2002, largely due
to restructuring activities leading to a significant reduction 
in selling, general and administrative expenses and lower
asset write-downs, offset in part by negative earnings from
equity accounted companies related to our investment in
Turbec AB.

EBIT generated by the Equity Ventures business area
decreased by $7 million in 2004 as compared to 2003. The
decline from the EBIT generated in 2003, which included a 
$28 million gain on the sale of investments in Australia, was
offset in part by an increase in EBIT from savings in sales,
general and administrative expenses following the cessation
of development activities and from a gain on the sale of an
investment in Oman. In 2003, EBIT increased by $33 million
as compared to 2002, due to the gain realized from
divestments in Australia and savings in sales, general and
administrative expenses.

EBIT losses in the Structured Finance business area
decreased by $51 million in 2004 as compared to 2003,
principally because 2003 included a loss of $80 million on
the disposal of our investment in the Swedish Export Credit
Corporation (which was offset in part in 2003 by income
from Swedish Export Credit Corporation of $13 million
recognized in other income (expense), net). In 2003, EBIT
decreased by $161 million as compared to 2002 due to the
loss on disposal of our investment in the Swedish Export
Credit Corporation and a reduction in income from the
Swedish Export Credit Corporation of $112 million.

EBIT generated by the businesses in Other Non-core
activities increased by $35 million in 2004 as compared to
2003. This improvement was due to the dissolution of 
the Group Processes business area, which represented 
$0 million and $42 million of the losses in 2004 and 2003,
respectively. EBIT generated by the Customer Service
Workshops business area improved in 2004 due to a
reduction in restructuring expenses and improved operational
performance by the few remaining units. The Logistic
Systems business area recognized an operating loss of 
$24 million in 2004 due to issues relating to the Harare
airport project completed in 2001. In 2003, EBIT losses in
Other Non-core activities decreased by $100 million as
compared to 2002. Group Processes represented
approximately $42 million and $105 million of the losses in
2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Corporate/Other
Corporate and other activities comprise headquarters and
stewardship, research and development and other activities.
EBIT for Corporate and other activities are as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Headquarters and stewardship (421) (352) (202)
Research and Development (91) (92) (93)
Other 5 (65) (142)
Total (507) (509) (437)

Headquarters and stewardship operating costs increased by
$69 million and $150 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The 2004 expense included a $14 million write-down in
2004 of an e-business investment. The increase in 2003 as
compared to 2002 was mainly due to events in 2002, such
as the recovery of payments from two former chief executive
officers, that did not recur in 2003.

Other operating costs (including Real Estate, Group Treasury
Operations and consolidation) decreased by $70 million and
$77 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The improvement
in 2004 occurred in each of Real Estate, Group Treasury
Operations and consolidation. Real estate improved in 2004
as compared to 2003 due to reduced restructuring
expenses. Group Treasury Operations improved in 2004 due
to a reduction in the level of general and administrative
expenses.

Other operating costs improved in 2003 mainly due to lower
costs following the cessation of proprietary trading in 2002
and the consequent reduction in employees in Group
Treasury Operations, as well as a reduction in earnings from
certain intra-company transactions as compared to 2002.
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Discontinued operations
Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Combustion Engineering 
(Asbestos) (262) (142) (395)
Powerlines (75) (10) (17)
Upstream Oil, Gas and 
Petrochemicals (70) (44) 14
Reinsurance (41) (97) 22
Wind Energy (25) (42) (1)
Foundry (17) – –
MDCV Cables – (24) (1)
Export Bank – (9) 10
Metering 12 (3) (54)
Structured Finance 14 (29) (183)
Other abandoned or sold 
businesses (19) (8) (88)
Income (loss) from 
discontinued operations, 
net of tax (483) (408) (693)

In addition to the businesses already classified in
discontinued operations, we may from time to time dispose
of or close businesses that are not integral to our core
divisions. If such a business meets the criteria of SFAS 144,
we will reflect the results of operations from the business as
discontinued operations in our Consolidated Income
Statement and as assets and liabilities held for sale and in
discontinued operations in our Consolidated Balance Sheet.
We will reclassify the prior years’ presentation to reflect any
disposals or closures on a comparable basis.

Asbestos
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes costs
and provisions related to asbestos-related claims, including
those against our U.S. subsidiary, Combustion Engineering
Inc., of approximately $262 million, $142 million and $395
million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

An overview of our potential asbestos-related obligations is
included separately in “Contingencies and retained liabilities.”

Powerlines
Our Powerlines business is a construction business that
operates in a market with very low barriers to entry. This has
resulted in increasing price-based competition with local
competitors in the various countries in which we operate.
The business has consequently experienced declining
revenues, and net losses.

Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, in our
Consolidated Income Statement reflects primarily the
following.

■ Our Upstream Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business,
whose sale was completed in July 2004. The remaining
portions of our oil, gas and petrochemicals business
owned by us as at December 31, 2004 do not meet the
accounting criteria required to be classified in
discontinued operations.

■ Provisions and other expenses incurred in connection with
asbestos-related claims, including those against our U.S.
subsidiary, Combustion Engineering Inc. An overview of
our potential asbestos-related obligations is contained in
“Contingencies and retained liabilities” below, as well as in
Note 18 “Commitments and contingencies” of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

■ Our Reinsurance business, which was sold in April 2004.

■ Most of our Power Lines business area, including
operations in Brazil, which were abandoned in 2004,
Nigeria, which were sold in January 2005, Italy, which
were sold in February 2005, and Germany.

■ Our foundry business, which was part of our Automation
Technologies division. 

■ Our Wind Energy business in Germany and Greece, the
majority of which was sold in December 2003. 

■ Most of our Structured Finance business, which we sold
in November 2002. 

■ Our MDCV Cable business located in Germany, which we
sold in January 2004.

■ ABB Export Bank, which we sold in December 2003. 

■ Our Metering business, which we sold in December 2002. 

■ Legal, professional and other fees related to the above
disposals.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, was 
$483 million, $408 million and $693 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax, and including operational results, accumulated
foreign currency translation adjustments, allocation of
interest in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
No.87-24 (EITF 87-24), Allocation of Interest to Discontinued
Operations, capital gains and losses on sale, impairment
charges, goodwill write-offs and other costs for businesses
classified in discontinued operations for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 are as set forth below.
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At the time we decided to exit the Powerlines business, this
business operated in Austria, Germany, Italy, Saudi Arabia,
Brazil, Venezuela, South Africa and Nigeria. The Nigerian and
Italian businesses were sold in January 2005 and February
2005, respectively. The Brazilian business was abandoned in
the fourth quarter of 2004. We expect the German business
to be sold during 2005. In the fourth quarter of 2004, we
reclassified the Nigerian, Italian, Brazilian and German
businesses to discontinued operations. This reclassification
has been reflected in the financial statements for 2004, 2003
and 2002 and the results of the reclassified businesses are
discussed below. We intend to exit our remaining Powerlines
businesses, although we have not classified them in
discontinued operations.

Revenues were $117 million, $187 million and $254 million 
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We recorded net
losses of $75 million, $10 million and $17 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in losses in 2004
relates to reducing the book value of net assets to fair 
value less costs to sell the operations in Italy, Germany and
Nigeria, costs related to the abandonment in Brazil and
operational losses. 

Upstream Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals
In July 2004 we closed the sale of the Upstream Oil, Gas
and Petrochemicals business to a consortium of private
equity investors, Candover Partners, JP Morgan Partners
and 3i Group, for an initial sale price of $925 million. We
received net cash proceeds from the sale of approximately
$800 million after adjustments for approximately $85 million
of unfunded pension liabilities and changes in net working
capital.

The Upstream Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business
generated revenues of $855 million (up to the date of sale),
$1,499 million and $1,535 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. 

Revenues declined in 2004 as compared to 2003 due to the
sale of the business in July 2004. Revenues decreased in
2003 as compared to 2002 due to a large project in the
Floating Production Systems unit nearing completion and
the smaller value of new orders due to our pursuit of long-
term reimbursable contracts, rather than long-term fixed
price contracts.

We recorded net losses for the Upstream Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business of $70 million and $44 million in
2004 and 2003, respectively, and a net income of $14 million
in 2002. The 2004 net loss of $70 million includes a loss on
disposal of approximately $26 million and compliance costs
relating to violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
including aggregate fines of $10.5 million and a $5.9 million
payment to the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission as a disgorgement of unlawful profits and in
resolution of civil charges, as well as other related costs.

In 2003, this business generated a net loss of $44 million, a
$58 million decline from net income in 2002 of $14 million.
This decline was primarily due to certain loss order
provisions in Brazil and the settlement of a project-related
dispute that resulted in an asset write-down in 2003.

Reinsurance business
In April 2004 we sold our Reinsurance business to White
Mountains Insurance Group Limited of Bermuda for gross
cash proceeds of $415 million.

Reinsurance revenues were $139 million, $782 million and
$644 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Reinsurance revenues decreased in 2004 due to the sale of
the business in April 2004. The increase in revenues in 2003
as compared to 2002 was primarily due to higher premium
income from increased volumes and higher insurance
premium rates compared to the rates for comparable
products and risks in 2002. 

We recorded net losses for our Reinsurance business of 
$41 million and $97 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively,
and a net income of $22 million in 2002. The 2004 net 
loss was primarily a result of currency translation effects (as
explained in Note 2 “Significant accounting policies –
Translation of foreign currencies and foreign exchange
transactions” to our Consolidated Financial Statements) of
$32 million, transaction costs, and price adjustments (as part
of the sales agreement all operational risks and results in
2004 were transferred to the purchaser). The 2003 net loss
includes a $154 million impairment charge, income from
operations of approximately $72 million (resulting from higher
technical insurance results and improved investment income)
in the major operating units and an allocation of interest of
$15 million in accordance with EITF 87-24. The impairment
charge of $154 million recorded in 2003 related to the
anticipated disposal of the Reinsurance business and
principally consisted of impairment charges to assets of 
$48 million, to goodwill and other intangible assets of 
$89 million and to deferred tax assets of approximately 
$16 million, and selling costs of $25 million, offset in part by
an accumulated foreign currency translation gain of 
$24 million. The 2002 net income of $22 million reflects the
normal operating results of the Reinsurance business.

Wind Energy 
Our Wind Energy business primarily focused on the
development and operation of wind parks located mainly in
Europe. While this business purchased equity interests in a
number of established wind park companies, its main focus
remained general wind park construction contracting. 
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ABB Export Bank
In December 2003, we completed the sale of ABB Export
Bank, which was part of our Structured Finance business
area and arranged export, trade and project financing.
Revenues were $0 million, $9 million and $17 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. Revenues declined in 2003
due to lower business volumes, the sale of assets following
our decision to divest the business and lower interest rates. 

We recorded a net loss of $0 million and $9 million in 2004
and 2003, respectively, and a net income of $10 million in
2002. The 2003 net loss of $9 million includes a $12 million
loss on disposal, income from operations of $6 million and
the allocation of interest expense of $3 million in accordance
with EITF 87-24. The loss on disposal of $12 million for the
sold business was principally comprised of an asset write-
down of $20 million, transaction costs of $1 million, capital
tax expense associated with the disposal of $4 million 
and an accumulated foreign currency translation gain of
approximately $13 million. The 2002 net income of 
$10 million consisted of normal operational income and the
release of approximately $8 million of excess bad debt
provisions.

Metering
In December 2002, we sold our Metering business. This
business produced electricity, water, energy and gas meters,
metering systems and load control systems.

We recorded net income of $12 million in 2004 and net
losses of $3 million and $54 million in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The 2004 net income of $12 million resulted
from the release of provisions originally made at the date 
of sale for certain price and net equity adjustments. 
The 2003 net loss of $3 million relates to transaction costs
and price adjustments relating to the divestment in 2002.
The 2002 net loss of $54 million included a $48 million loss
on disposal, loss from operations of $3 million and the
allocation of interest expense of $3 million in accordance
with EITF 87-24. The loss on disposal of $48 million
principally consisted of impairment charges in respect 
of goodwill and other intangibles of $65 million, transaction
costs and other provisions of $46 million, tax expense
associated with the disposal of $21 million and an
accumulated currency translation loss of $35 million, offset 
in part by a gain of $119 million recognized in disposal 
of the business.

In December 2003, we sold most of our Wind Energy
business to GI Ventures AG of Munich, including the majority
of our investment in Windpark Dahme. As part of this sale,
GI Ventures also took over most of the projects under
development in our German Wind Energy business and all
the employees. The wind energy business has, since that
time, been non-operative. We also sold one of our equity
participations in Greece as part of a management buy-out in
February 2004 and we intend to sell the remaining Greek
equity participation during 2005. Once this sale is complete
there will be no other projects or participations in respect of
our Wind Energy business remaining.

Revenues were $0 million, $16 million and $48 million in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

We recorded net losses of $25 million, $42 million and 
$1 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The 2004
net loss of $25 million was principally caused by asset
impairment charges relating to the remaining windpark in
Rhodes. The 2003 net loss of $42 million was comprised
principally of a $25 million loss from disposal (net of a 
tax benefit of $10 million), impairment charges to assets 
of $9 million and loss from operations of $8 million.

Foundry
Our Foundry business provides furnace systems, pouring
systems, forging systems and related services in Germany,
Sweden, the United States, Brazil and Thailand. We expect
to sell this business in 2005.

Revenues were $41 million, $45 million and $49 million in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We recorded net losses
of $17 million, $0 million and $0 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. The 2004 net loss includes an anticipated
capital loss on divestment and the operational results, which
included restructuring costs.

MDCV Cable business
In January 2004, we sold our MDCV (Mitsubishi-Dainichi
Continuous Vulcanization) cable business. This business was
located in Germany and manufactured medium and high-
voltage cables, cable-systems and accessories for power
suppliers and network operators.

Revenues were $0 million, $74 million and $78 million in
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. MDCV Cable business
revenues were $0 million in 2004 due to the sale of the
business. The decrease in 2003 was mainly due to the loss
of important projects. We recorded net losses of $0 million,
$24 million and $1 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The net loss was $0 million in 2004 due to the
sale of the business. The 2003 net loss of $24 million was
comprised principally of impairment charges to assets of
$10 million and a loss from operations of $14 million.
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Structured Finance
Our Structured Finance business provided debt capital 
for projects and equipment, and asset-based financing 
such as leasing. In November 2002, we completed the 
sale of most of our Structured Finance business to General
Electric Capital Corporation (GE) and received cash
proceeds of approximately $2.0 billion. The divestment
included a put right in favor of GE regarding certain
designated assets which was exercised in January 2004 
for $28 million as well as some letters of credit for certain
performance related obligations retained by us, of which
approximately $63 million were outstanding at December 31,
2004. 

We recorded net income of $14 million in 2004 and net
losses of $29 million and $183 million in 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The 2004 net income of $14 million relates 
to the settlement of some outstanding matters with GE and
resulted from the release of excess provisions. The 2003 
net loss of $29 million primarily relates to a provision taken
with respect to these outstanding matters that were finalized
in 2004. The 2002 net loss of $183 million included a 
$146 million loss on disposal, loss from operations of $22
million and the allocation of interest expense of $15 million in
accordance with EITF 87-24. The loss on disposal of 
$146 million for the sold business was principally comprised
of an asset write-down of $15 million, goodwill and other
intangible write-offs of $2 million, transaction costs of 
$27 million, the fair value for GE’s right to require us to
repurchase certain designated assets for $38 million, capital
tax expense associated with the disposal of $10 million and
an accumulated foreign currency translation loss of $54
million. 

Liquidity and capital resources

Principal sources of funding
In 2004, 2003 and 2002, we met our liquidity needs using
cash from operations, bank borrowings, the proceeds 
from the issuance of debt securities, divestment proceeds,
as well as the sales of receivables under our securitization
programs. The reductions in our credit rating during 2002
(see “Credit Ratings”) restricted our access to the capital
markets during 2002 and the first half of 2003. As a result,
we relied increasingly on proceeds from divestments, bank
borrowings, cash from operations, and cash raised from 
our capital strengthening program in 2003. Also, in the first
quarter of 2003, we raised approximately $156 million from
the sale of 80 million treasury shares in two transactions.

During the second half of 2003, we completed a number 
of steps to strengthen our Consolidated Balance Sheet and
to improve our liquidity. In September 2003, we issued
convertible unsubordinated bonds of an aggregate principal
amount of 1,000 million Swiss francs, due 2010. See
“Bonds and Notes.” In October 2003, we announced a
three-component capital strengthening program, consisting
of a rights issue providing net proceeds of approximately
$2.5 billion, a new $1 billion unsecured revolving credit
facility to replace our $1.5 billion credit facility and a bond
offering of 650 million euro (equivalent to approximately 
$769 million at the date of issuance). This program has
provided a stronger financial base for the growth of our core
operations, has deleveraged our balance sheet by reducing
our gearing from 87 percent at December 31, 2002 to 
71 percent at December 31, 2003 (see “Financial Position”)
and has given us more financial flexibility. 

During 2004, our financial position was further strengthened
by the positive cash flow from operating activities of 
$962 million and the proceeds from sales of businesses 
(net of cash disposed) of $1,182 million. The cash generated
allowed us to repay maturing debt, repurchase debt 
(see “Bond Repurchases”) and further reduce gearing to 
64 percent at December 31, 2004 (see “Financial Position”).

We believe that our ability to obtain funding from the 
sources described above will continue to provide the cash
flows necessary to satisfy our working capital and capital
expenditure requirements, as well as meet our debt
repayments and other financial commitments for the next
twelve months. Due to the nature of our operations, our 
cash flow from operations generally tends to be weaker in
the first half of the year than in the second half of the year.

Rights issue
On November 20, 2003, our shareholders approved the
issuance of 840,006,602 new shares pursuant to a fully
underwritten rights issue. For each share that they owned,
holders of existing shares were allocated one right to
purchase the offered shares. For every 10 rights, holders of
existing shares were entitled to purchase seven offered
shares. The banks agreed to underwrite 840,006,602 shares
at an issue price of 4.00 Swiss francs per share,
representing an approximate 50 percent discount on the
share price at the time and providing for net proceeds of
$2,487 million. The rights issue was completed on
December 12, 2003 when the cash was received together
with the net proceeds of the bonds of 650 million euro
aggregate principal amount (see “Bonds and Notes”). Of
these funds, approximately $1.2 billion was used to repay
debt maturing in December 2003 and repurchase bonds
with a face value of $94 million, while the remainder was
placed on deposit with banks to be used to repay debt
maturing in 2004.
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early the remaining outstanding 2005 and 2006 bonds that
were not tendered and set the redemption date as
September 29, 2004. The open market repurchases,
combined with the tender offers and calls, resulted in a
decrease in total borrowings during 2004 of $1,330 million.

Bonds and notes
In 2004, we did not issue any bonds.

In 2003, we completed two note issuances, including the
issuance of bonds convertible into our shares, as sources of
funding.

In September 2003, we issued convertible unsubordinated
bonds of an aggregate principal amount of 1,000 million
Swiss francs (approximately $722 million at the date of
issuance), due 2010. This transaction lengthened the maturity
profile of our debt, thereby reducing our dependence on
short-term funding. We used the proceeds, net of expenses
and fees, to reduce our drawing under our $1.5 billion 
credit facility (see “Credit Facilities”). The convertible bonds
pay interest annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 
3.5 percent. On issuance, each 5,000 Swiss francs principal
amount of bonds was convertible into 418.41004 fully paid
ABB ordinary shares at an initial conversion price of 11.95
Swiss francs. The conversion price is subject to adjustment
provisions to protect against dilution or change in control. As
a result of the rights issue discussed above, the conversion
price and conversion ratio of the bonds were adjusted to
9.53 Swiss francs and 524.65897 shares, respectively,
effective December 12, 2003, representing 104,931,794 fully
paid ordinary ABB shares if the bonds are fully converted.

The bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholder 
at any time from October 21, 2003 up to and including 
the tenth business day prior to September 10, 2010. We
may at any time on or after September 10, 2007 redeem the
outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest if, for a
certain number of days during a specified period of time, the
official closing price of our ordinary shares on the relevant
exchange has been at least 150 percent of the conversion
price. In addition, at any time prior to maturity, we can
redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest,
if at least 85 percent in aggregate of the principal amount of
bonds originally issued have been redeemed, converted or
purchased and cancelled. We have the option to redeem the
bonds when due in cash, ordinary shares or any
combination thereof.

Interest rates
We have obtained financing in a range of currencies and
maturities and on various interest rate terms. We use
derivatives to reduce the interest rate and/or foreign
exchange exposures arising on our debt. For example, to
reduce our exposure to interest rates, we use interest rate
swaps to effectively convert fixed rate borrowings into floating
rate liabilities and we use cross currency swaps to effectively
convert foreign currency denominated bonds into U.S. dollar
liabilities. At December 31, 2004, after considering the
effects of interest rate swaps, the effective average interest
rate on our floating rate long-term borrowings (including
current maturities) of $1,950 million and our fixed rate long-
term borrowings (including current maturities) of $1,625
million was 5.8 percent and 5.5 percent, respectively. This
compares with an effective rate of 3.2 percent for floating
rate long-term borrowings and 5.8 percent for fixed-rate long-
term borrowings as of December 31, 2003. A discussion 
of our use of derivatives to modify the characteristics of our
long-term borrowings is contained in Note 15 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Bond repurchases
During the first six months of 2004, through open market
repurchases, we repurchased a portion of our public bonds
with a total equivalent face value of $458 million. These
repurchases included 107 million euro (approximately 
$131 million) of the 475 million euro 5.125 percent bonds
due 2006, and 26,500 million Japanese yen (approximately 
$243 million) of 50,000 million Japanese yen 0.5 percent
bonds due 2005. The 26,500 million Japanese yen bonds
and the 107 million euro bonds were subsequently cancelled
at the end of July and mid-September 2004, respectively.
During the second half of 2004, a further 6,075 million
Japanese yen 0.5 percent bonds (approximately $55 million)
were repurchased on the open market and were not
cancelled. The open market repurchases resulted in a gain
on extinguishments of debt of approximately $6 million.
During 2003, we repurchased outstanding bonds with a face
value of $94 million and recorded an insignificant gain on
extinguishments of debt in connection with the repurchases.

On July 29, 2004, we announced tender offers to
repurchase all of the outstanding 300 million euro 5.375
percent bonds due 2005 and 475 million euro 5.125 percent
bonds due 2006, being approximately 275 million euro and
approximately 368 million euro, respectively. In conjunction
with the tender offers, we convened bondholders’ meetings
to vote on amendments to these bonds to allow us to call
and redeem those bonds that were not tendered under the
respective tender offer. Bonds validly tendered and accepted
under the tender offers were settled on September 14,
2004. On September 9, 2004, bondholders approved the
resolutions, which gave us the option to redeem the
outstanding instruments. We exercised our option to redeem
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In November 2003, as part of our three-component capital
strengthening program, we issued bonds of an aggregate
principal amount of 650 million euro (approximately 
$769 million at the time of issuance), due 2011. These
bonds pay interest semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual
rate of 6.5 percent. In the event of a change of control of
ABB Ltd, the terms of the bonds require us to offer to
repurchase the bonds at 101 percent of the principal amount
thereof, plus any accrued interest. 

In May 2002, we issued $968 million aggregate principal
amount of convertible unsubordinated bonds due 2007. The
bonds pay interest semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual
rate of 4.625 percent. On issuance each $1,000 principal
amount of bonds was convertible into 87.7489 fully paid
ABB ordinary shares at an initial conversion price of 18.48
Swiss francs (converted into U.S. dollars at a fixed
conversion rate of 1.6216 Swiss francs per U.S. dollar). The
conversion price is subject to adjustment provisions to
protect against dilution or change in control. As a result of
the rights issue and resulting increase in our share capital
discussed above, the conversion price of the bonds was
adjusted, effective November 21, 2003, to 14.64 Swiss
francs (converted into U.S. dollars at the fixed exchange rate
of 1.6216 Swiss francs per U.S. dollar), representing a total
of 107,220,546 shares if the bonds were fully converted. As
a result of the amendment to the bonds in May 2004,
described below, the conversion price of the bonds was
amended to $9.03, representing 107,198,228 shares if the
bonds are fully converted.

The $968 million bonds are convertible at the option of 
the bondholder at any time from June 26, 2002 up to and
including May 2, 2007. We may, at any time on or after 
May 16, 2005, redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus
accrued interest if (1) for a certain number of days during 
a specified period of time, the official closing price of 
our American Depositary Shares on the New York Stock
Exchange exceeds 170 percent of the conversion price 
or (2) at least 85 percent in aggregate principal amount of
bonds originally issued have been exchanged, redeemed or
purchased and cancelled. We have the option to redeem the
bonds when due, in cash, American Depositary Shares or
any combination thereof.

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No.133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities, as amended, a component of the convertible
bonds due 2007 had to be accounted for as an embedded
derivative as the shares to be issued upon conversion were
denominated in Swiss francs, while the bonds are
denominated in U.S. dollars. A portion of the issuance
proceeds was deemed to relate to the value of the derivative
on issuance and subsequent changes in value of the
derivative were recorded through earnings and as an
adjustment to the carrying value of the bonds. The allocation
of a portion of the proceeds to the derivative created a
discount on issuance that was being amortized to earnings
over the life of the bonds. On May 28, 2004, bondholders
voted in favor of our proposed amendment to the terms of
the bonds whereby, if the bonds are converted, we will
deliver U.S. dollar-denominated American Depositary Shares
rather than Swiss franc-denominated ordinary shares. 
The conversion price was set at $9.03. As a result of the
amendment, we are no longer required to account for a
portion of the bonds as a derivative. Consequently, on 
May 28, 2004, the value of the derivative was fixed and the
amount previously accounted for separately as an
embedded derivative was considered to be a component of
the carrying value of the bonds. This carrying value is being
accreted to the $968 million par value of the bonds as an
expense in interest and other finance expense over the
remaining life of the bonds. The amortization of the discount
on the bonds will be between $7 million and $9 million per
quarter until the bonds mature in May 2007. 

Also in May 2002, we issued 200 million pounds sterling
(approximately $292 million at the time of issuance)
aggregate principal amount of bonds due 2009 (sterling-
denominated bonds), which pay interest semi-annually 
in arrears at 10 percent per annum. We also issued in May
2002, 500 million euro (approximately $466 million at the
time of issuance) aggregate principal amount of bonds, due
2008 (euro-denominated bonds), which pay interest annually
in arrears at 9.5 percent per annum.

The sterling-denominated bonds and the euro-denominated
bonds contain certain clauses linking the interest paid on the
bonds to the credit rating assigned to the bonds. If the rating
assigned to these bonds by both Moody’s and Standard 
& Poor’s remains at or above Baa3 and BBB–, respectively,
then the interest rate on the bonds remains at the level at
issuance, that is 10 percent and 9.5 percent, for the sterling-
denominated and euro-denominated bonds, respectively. If
the rating assigned by either Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s
decreases below Baa3 or BBB–, respectively, then the
annual interest rate on the bonds increases by 1.5 percent
per annum to 11.5 percent and 11 percent, for the sterling-
denominated and euro-denominated bonds, respectively. If
after such a rating decrease, the rating assigned by both
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s returns to a level at or above
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The facility contains certain financial covenants in respect 
of minimum interest coverage, maximum net leverage and 
a minimum level of consolidated net worth. We are required
to meet these covenants on a quarterly basis. Should our
unsecured long-term debt ratings reach certain defined
levels (basically investment grade), these covenants will only
have to be calculated as of June and December of each
year. The facility also contains provisions for the mandatory
prepayment and cancellation of the facility upon a change of
control of ABB Ltd.

The facility imposes restrictions on the amount of third party
indebtedness in subsidiaries other than in the obligors 
under the facility, subject to certain exceptions. The facility
also contains certain other undertakings including certain
limitations on disposals of assets, certain restrictions on
mergers and acquisitions and negative pledges. 

The facility contains cross-default clauses whereby an event
of default would occur if we were to default on
indebtedness, as defined in the facility, at or above a
specified threshold. 

The facility replaced a $1.5 billion 364-day revolving facility
entered into in December 2002 and secured by a package
of assets with a net carrying value of $3.5 billion at
December 31, 2002 and by certain intra-group loans.

The $1.5 billion facility contained certain stringent financial
covenants in respect of minimum interest coverage, total
gross debt, a maximum level of debt in subsidiaries other
than those specified as borrowers under that facility, a
minimum level of consolidated net worth, as well as specific
negative pledges. We were required to meet these financial
covenants at each quarter-end commencing December 31,
2002. In addition, in order to ensure the continued availability
of the $1.5 billion facility until its cancellation in December
2003, we were required to obtain minimum levels 
of proceeds from the disposal of specified assets and
businesses and/or equity issuances during 2003.

Securitization programs
In addition to the aforementioned primary sources of 
liquidity and capital resources, we also sell certain trade
receivables to Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (“QSPEs”),
unrelated to us, primarily through two revolving-period
securitization programs. Solely for the purpose of credit
enhancement from the perspective of the QSPEs, we retain
an interest in the sold receivables. Retained interests at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 amounted to $373 million
and $390 million, respectively. The fair value of the retained
interests at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was
approximately $349 million and $367 million, respectively.

Baa3 and BBB–, respectively, then the interest rates on the
bonds return to their original levels. As a result of the
downgrade of our long-term credit rating by Moody’s to Ba2
on October 31, 2002, this step-up clause in interest was
triggered on both bonds. The increase in interest costs is
effective for interest periods beginning after the payment of
the coupon accruing at the date of the downgrade. This
increase in interest rates had no significant impact on 2002
interest expense. The total impact on 2004 and 2003 was
an increase in interest expense of approximately $15 million
and $13 million, respectively. Future years will also be
affected if our credit ratings do not return to at least both
Baa3 and BBB– from Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s,
respectively.

A cross-currency swap has been used to modify the
characteristics of the sterling-denominated bonds and an
interest rate swap has been used to modify the euro-
denominated bonds. After considering the impact of the
cross-currency and interest rate swaps, the sterling-
denominated bonds effectively became a floating rate U.S.
dollar obligation, while the euro-denominated bonds became
a floating rate euro obligation. In both cases, the floating rate
resets every three months. See Note 15 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Almost all of our publicly traded bonds contain cross-default
clauses which would allow the bondholders to demand
repayment if we were to default on certain borrowings at or
above a specified threshold amount.

Credit facilities
On November 17, 2003, as part of our three-component
capital strengthening program, we entered into a unsecured
syndicated $1 billion three-year revolving credit facility which
became available in December 2003 after the fulfillment of
certain conditions including the repayment and cancellation
of the previous $1.5 billion facility and the raising of specified
minimum levels of gross proceeds from the rights issue 
(see “Rights Issue”) and from the bonds denominated in
euros which were issued in November 2003 (see “Bonds and
Notes”). The $1 billion facility is for general corporate
purposes. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, nothing was
outstanding under the facility and although we currently do
not intend to draw on it, it provides us with additional
financial flexibility.

In November 2004, the facility was amended. The
amendments included a reduction in the level of commitment
fees and the removal of restrictions on us to redeem early
capital market instruments, such as bonds, having a maturity
date beyond that of the facility.

ABB_FR04en_001-054.qxd  19.4.2005  17:46 Uhr  Seite 37



38 ABB Financial review 2004

The net cash received from (paid to) QSPEs during 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $130 million, $(119) million and 
$(384) million, respectively, as follows.

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Gross trade receivables
sold to QSPEs 
($25, $505 and $832) (1) 5,846 5,661 5,972
Collections made on behalf 
of and paid to QSPEs 
($(23), $(696) and $(753)) (1) (5,713) (5,883) (6,074)
Purchaser, liquidity and
program fees 
($0, $(2) and $(5)) (1) (20) (21) (37)
Decrease (increase) in
retained interests 
($0, $117 and $(87)) (1) 17 124 (245)
Net cash received from
(paid to) QSPEs during the 
year ($2, $(76) and $(13)) (1) 130 (119) (384)
(1) Related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations for 2004, 2003 and

2002, respectively.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, of the gross trade
receivables sold, the total trade receivables for which 
cash has not been collected at those dates amounted to 
$1,083 million and $898 million, respectively. Of these
amounts, $54 million and $34 million at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively, was more than 90 days past due.

In addition, we transfer receivables outside of the above
described securitization programs. These transfers were
sales, made without recourse, directly to banks or pursuant
to factoring or similar type arrangements. Total sold
receivables included in these transactions during 2004 and
2003 were approximately $902 million and $1,400 million,
respectively, of which, sales of $159 million and $594 million,
respectively, related to assets held for sale and in
discontinued operations. During 2004 and 2003, the related
costs, including the associated gains and losses, were 
$10 million and $12 million, respectively, of which, costs of
$1 million and $3 million, respectively, related to assets 
held for sale and in discontinued operations. 

For further discussion of our securitization programs, see the
section entitled “Off-balance sheet arrangements” below and
Notes 2 and 7 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Credit ratings
Debt ratings are an assessment by the rating agencies of the
credit risk associated with our company and are based on
information provided by us or other sources that the rating
agencies consider reliable. Lower ratings generally result in
higher borrowing costs and reduced access to capital
markets.

At December 31, 2002, after a series of rating downgrades
during 2002, our long-term company ratings were Ba3 and
BBB– (our long-term unsecured debt was rated B1 and
BB+) from Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, respectively. On
January 13, 2003, Standard & Poor’s further lowered our
long-term company rating to BB+ and our long-term
unsecured debt to BB–. In late October 2003, both rating
agencies changed the outlook on these ratings to positive
from negative. On May 18, 2004, Moody’s increased our
long-term company rating from Ba3 to Ba2 and our long-
term unsecured debt from B1 to Ba2, both with stable
outlook. On December 6, 2004, Standard & Poor’s changed
the outlook on these ratings from positive to stable. Our
ratings are currently below “investment grade” that would be
represented by Baa3 (or above) and BBB– (or above) from
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s, respectively. A rating below
investment grade is reflected in higher interest costs on
borrowings. Until our credit rating has returned to investment
grade, we do not anticipate having the ability to access the
commercial paper markets.

Restrictions on transfers of funds
We face restrictions on the transfer of funds in various
countries due to local regulations and foreign exchange
restrictions. Funds, other than regular dividends, fees or loan
repayments, cannot be transferred offshore from these
countries and are therefore deposited locally. As a
consequence, these funds are not available within our Group
Treasury Operations to meet short-term cash obligations.
These funds are reported as cash on our Consolidated
Balance Sheet, but we do not consider these funds as
available for the repayment of debt outside the respective
countries where the cash is situated, including those
described below.

Currency and other local regulatory restrictions exist in a
number of countries where we operate, including: Brazil,
China, Egypt, India, Korea, Malaysia, Russia, Saudi Arabia,
South Africa, Taiwan, Thailand, Turkey and Venezuela.

Furthermore, restricted cash amounting to $452 million and
$433 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively,
is not included in cash and equivalents but is reflected in
long-term assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Financial position

Balance sheet
During 2004 and 2003, the divestments and
discontinuations of certain businesses were recorded as
discontinued operations pursuant to SFAS 144, as
discussed in detail under “Application of Critical Accounting
Policies – Accounting for discontinued operations” above.
Accordingly, the balance sheet data for all periods presented
have been restated to present the financial position and
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results of operations of the businesses meeting the criteria 
of SFAS 144 as assets and liabilities held for sale and in
discontinued operations.

Operating assets
At December 31, 2004 2003

($ in millions)

Marketable securities and short-term 
investments 524 473
Receivables, net 6,330 6,049
Inventories, net 2,977 2,671
Prepaid expenses and other 1,688 1,794
Total operating assets 11,519 10,987

Our operating assets, at December 31, 2004, increased by 
5 percent, compared to operating assets at December 31,
2003. Operating assets include marketable securities,
receivables, inventories and prepaid expenses, and exclude
cash and equivalents and assets held for sale and in
discontinued operations.

Our Group Treasury Operations invest the surplus cash
available from time to time in time deposits and marketable
securities, with varied maturities based on defined
investment guidelines and the liquidity requirements of the
business. Investments which are less than three months in
duration are classified as part of cash equivalents, and those
of more than three months in duration are classified as part
of marketable securities and short term investments.
Receivables, net, as at the end of 2004 increased from the
end of 2003, primarily as a result of a decline in the value of
the U.S. dollar, which we use for reporting purposes, against
local currencies. A reduction in receivables, particularly from
Non-core activities is primarily due to collections from the
contracts completed over the same period, was more than
offset by increases in receivables in the core divisions
resulting from higher volume of revenues. Inventories, net,
increased by 5 percent in local currencies reflecting a higher
order backlog at the end of 2004 compared to the end of
2003.

Operating liabilities
At December 31, 2004 2003

($ in millions)

Accounts payable, trade 4,272 4,034
Accounts payable, other 1,437 1,395
Short-term borrowings and current maturities 
of long-term borrowings 633 1,644
Accrued liabilities and other 6,436 5,957
Total operating liabilities 12,778 13,030

Total operating liabilities as at the end of December 2004
decreased by 2 percent compared to operating liabilities at
the end of 2003. Operating liabilities, excluding liabilities held
for sale and in discontinued operations, include accounts
payable, short-term borrowings including current maturities
of long-term borrowings and accrued liabilities and other.

Total accounts payable increased at December 31, 2004
compared to December 31, 2003, as increases in this
account from the core divisions were partially offset by
reductions, primarily from the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals
business.

Our short-term debt was lower at the end of 2004 than at
the end of 2003, reflecting our debt repayments during the
year (see “Liquidity and capital resources”). 

Accrued liabilities and other increased primarily as a result of
higher volume of advances received from customers and
additional provisions in respect of asbestos-related liabilities,
recorded at December 31, 2004 (see “Asbestos liability”).

Non-current assets
At December 31, 2004 2003

($ in millions)

Financing receivables, non-current 1,233 1,372
Property, plant and equipment, net 2,981 2,858
Goodwill 2,602 2,528
Other intangible assets, net 493 601
Prepaid pension and other related benefits 549 564
Investments and other 1,469 1,727
Total Non-current assets 9,327 9,650

Financing receivables at December 31, 2004, which include
receivables from leases and loans receivable, decreased
compared to December 31, 2003, as we continue to
terminate our lease portfolios and loan receivables within our
Structured Finance business area.

The increase in the value of property, plant and equipment,
net, at December 31, 2004, mainly reflects the decline 
in the value of the U.S. dollar, which we use for reporting
purposes, against local currencies. Expressed in local
currency terms, property, plant and equipment decreased 
by 3 percent primarily as a result of the sale of real estate
properties, mainly in Switzerland, and normal levels of
depreciation. Capital expenditure during 2004 increased,
with major investments in the core divisions in machinery
and equipments in Germany, Italy, Finland and Sweden
partially offset by reduced investments in Non-core activities,
particularly in the Equity Ventures business area. 

The reduction in other intangible assets, net mainly reflects
amortization on capitalized software and other intangible
assets. 
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During 2004, goodwill increased principally due to a decline
in the value of the U.S. dollar, which we use for reporting
purposes, partly offset by a write-off of $21 million goodwill
related to the sale of businesses. 

Investments and other decreased, mainly due to write-down
of certain deferred tax assets created in the previous years
as we did not believe the tax assets were more likely than
not to be realized and to a lesser extent due to the sale of
our shares and participations during 2004.

Non-current liabilities
At December 31, 2004 2003

($ in millions)

Long-term borrowings 4,901 6,290
Pension and other related benefits 1,551 1,790
Deferred taxes 953 1,022
Other liabilities 1,083 1,077
Total Non-current liabilities 8,488 10,179

During 2004, long-term borrowings were significantly
reduced through the repayment of maturing bonds, open
market repurchases of public bonds, the tender offer for
certain of our bonds and the call of those bonds not
tendered. Our gearing ratio (defined as total borrowings
divided by the sum of total borrowings and the stockholders
equity including minority interest), excluding the borrowings
in the discontinued operations, was 64 percent at December
31, 2004, compared to 71 percent at December 31, 2003,
reflecting the reduction of our total debt. The reduction in the
value of pension and other employee benefits at December
31, 2004, was mainly due to our contribution of $549 million
of available-for-sale debt securities to certain of our pension
plans in Germany, offset in part by an increase in liabilities
related to the decline in value of the U.S. dollar, our use of a
lower discount rate compared to 2003 and lower
performance of existing plan assets, along with the normal
increase in the pension liabilities during the year.

Other liabilities include non-current provisions of $439 million
and $441 million, deferred income of $143 million and $158
million, and non-current derivative liabilities of $53 million and
$40 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Included in non-current provisions are amounts accrued for
the estimated environmental remediation costs related to 
our former Nuclear Technology business (see Note 18 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements) of $266 million and 
$276 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

We entered into certain leasing transactions with U.S.
investors prior to 1999. Prepaid rents that have been received
on these transactions are $314 million and $312 million 
at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and have
been recorded as deposit liabilities. Net gains on these
transactions are being recognized over the lease terms.

Cash flows
In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, the effects 
of the discontinued operations are not segregated, as
permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No.95 (SFAS 95), Statement of Cash Flows. The
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows can be summarized
into main activities as follows:

Year ended December, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Cash flows provided by
(used in) operating activities 962 (173) 0
Cash flows provided by
investing activities 354 754 2,651
Cash flows provided by
(used in) financing activities (2,805) 1,603 (2,793)
Effects of exchange rate 
changes 74 150 141
Adjustment for the net change
in cash and equivalents in 
assets held for sale and in 
discontinued operations 308 (80) 60
Net change in cash and
equivalents – continuing 
operations (1,107) 2,254 59

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Operating assets and liabilities include marketable securities
held for trading purposes, trade receivables, inventories,
payables and other assets and liabilities. Debt and equity
securities that are purchased and held principally for the
purpose of sale in the near term are classified as trading
securities. Cash flows from marketable securities classified
as available-for-sale are reflected in investing activities. Cash
flows from discontinued operations are included in the table
below in the respective divisions in which these businesses
were formerly classified.

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Net loss, net of adjustments
for non-cash items 942 (431) (419)
Changes in operating
assets and liabilities 20 258 419
Sub-total: Cash flows
provided by (used in) 
operating activities 962 (173) 0
Consisting of
Power Technologies 499 639 337
Automation Technologies 1,090 814 503
Non-core activities (1) (69) (754) (27)
Corporate and other (558) (872) (813)
(1) Including the entire Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals, Wind Energy, Reinsurance and

Export Bank businesses.
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Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Acquisitions, investments,
divestitures, net 1,158 488 2,365
Asset purchases, net
of disposals (420) (392) (126)
Other investing activities (384) 658 412
Sub-total: Cash flows
provided by investing
activities 354 754 2,651

Investing activities include: accounts receivable from leases
and third party loans (financing receivables); net investments
in marketable securities that are not held for trading
purposes; purchases of property, plant and equipment, net
of disposals; and acquisitions of, investments in and
divestitures of businesses. Net cash provided by investing
activities was $354 million during 2004, a decrease of $400
million from $754 million during 2003.

We continued our program of divesting non-core businesses
and other assets during 2004. For 2004, cash inflows from
acquisitions, investments and divestitures, net, were higher
by $670 million compared to 2003. Significant divestitures
during 2004 were the sale of our Upstream Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business ($800 million), the sale of our Re-
insurance business (approximately $280 million) and the sale
of our participations in IXYS Corporation ($42 million).

During 2003, we received cash proceeds of approximately
$149 million from the sale of our 35 percent stake in
Swedish Export Credit Corporation and approximately $90
million from the sale of our investments in two projects in
Equity Ventures business area in Australia. Cash proceeds of
approximately $213 million were received through the sale 
of our Building Systems businesses in Sweden, Norway,
Denmark, Finland and Russia. In addition, the sale of the
ABB Export Bank for approximately $50 million, and the sale
of part of our Wind Energy business, part of the New
Ventures business in Non-core activities, were completed
during the fourth quarter of 2003. As a result of these
significant divestitures and net cash outflows of $24 million
for certain smaller investments and disposals, net cash
inflows from purchases of, investments in and divestitures of
businesses was $488 million during 2003. 

In 2004, as compared to 2003, cash from operations from
the Power Technologies division decreased, primarily
influenced by lower advances from customers and increased
volume of project receivables. Over the same period, cash
from operations provided by the Automation Technologies
division increased, mainly through higher earnings, higher
advances from customers and the increase of trade
payables. Cash used in Non-core activities was lower
compared to 2003 primarily from the improvements in our
Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business due to a stronger
focus on cash management and improved collection of
receivables from customers as a result of completion of
several large projects. These factors more than offset the
cash outflows from the Upstream Oil, Gas and
Petrochemicals business due to the cancellation of
securitization programs and other activities involved in the
preparation for the sale of this business. Other cash inflows
in Non-core activities mainly represented the dividend
received from Jorf Lasfar by our Equity Ventures business
area in 2004. Cash used in corporate was lower in 2004
compared to 2003, influenced primarily by lower cash
payments to the Combustion Engineering settlement trust.
Cash inflows from operating activities improved by $1,135
million over 2003.

During 2003, higher earnings and working capital
improvements contributed to increased cash in 2003 as
compared to 2002 from the operating activities of the Power
Technologies and Automation Technologies divisions. These
cash flows were more than offset by cash used in corporate,
which included cash payments of $388 million towards the
settlement of asbestos-related issues as well as cash used
in corporate overheads and interest payments. In addition,
losses from Building Systems and New Ventures business
areas mainly contributed to cash outflows in Non-core
activities during 2003. The net cash used in operating
activities during 2003 was $173 million, compared to a break
even level of cash during the year 2002.

During 2002, net cash provided by operating activities of the
Power Technologies and Automation Technologies divisions
primarily resulted from improved earnings and a reduction of
net working capital. Net cash provided by Non-core
activities, excluding the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals
businesses, mainly consisted of net cash proceeds from the
sale of marketable securities (trading) of $498 million. The
Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals businesses had an operating
cash outflow due to project losses and higher working
capital levels. Corporate cash outflows were influenced by
increased costs in respect of the credit facility and other
financing arrangements, and included cash payments
related to asbestos-related claims of $246 million. These
resulted in a break-even level of cash from operations for
2002.
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Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Change in borrowings,
net of repayment (2,752) (1,016) (2,796)
Treasury and capital stock
transactions (36) 2,675 0
Other financing activities (17) (56) 3
Sub-total: Cash flows
provided by financing 
activities (2,805) 1,603 (2,793)

Our financing activities primarily include borrowings, both
from the issuance of debt securities and directly from banks,
treasury and capital stock transactions. 

Significant cash outflow from financing activities during the
year 2004 included the repayment of maturing bonds, open
market repurchases of public bonds, the tender offer for
certain of our bonds and the call of those bonds not
tendered. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for a
detailed discussion on the nature of borrowings. The cash
outflow for the treasury and capital stock transactions
represented payments made in 2004 in respect of certain
tax and other liabilities incurred in connection with the rights
issue carried out during the fourth quarter of 2003. 

During 2003, as part of our strategy to lengthen our debt
maturity profile, we replaced maturing short-term borrowings
with long-term borrowings. Cash outflows in connection with
borrowings reflected the repayment of short-term (including
current portion of long-term) borrowings as they fell due,
partially offset by cash inflows from the proceeds of the
1,000 million Swiss francs convertible bonds and 650 million
euro aggregate principal of bonds issued in September and
November 2003, respectively. The net proceeds of the rights
issuance of $2.5 billion, completed in December 2003, and
the proceeds from the sale of treasury shares during the first
quarter of 2003 for $156 million contributed to the overall 
net cash inflow of $2,675 million during 2003.

During 2002, net cash outflows from borrowings reflected
our strategy to reduce our overall level of borrowings,
particularly in respect of borrowings with maturities of 
90 days or less. There were no treasury and capital stock
transactions or dividends paid in 2002. 

The net cash outflows from the purchase and sale of
property, plant and equipment was higher in 2004 as
compared to 2003, reflecting fewer properties sold in 2004.
Cash outflow for capital investment in property, plant and
equipment remained at the same level for 2004 compared to
2003. Major capital expenditures on investment in machinery
and equipment during 2004 occurred in Germany, Italy,
Finland and Sweden. For 2004, proceeds of $123 million
were received on the sale of property, plant and equipment
compared to $155 million in 2003. Significant asset sales
during 2004 included the sale of real estate properties in
Switzerland, Germany and Italy. 

Cash used for purchases of property, plant and equipment,
net of disposals, was $392 million during 2003, an increase
of $266 million compared to $126 million during 2002. While
investment in property plant and equipment remained at
nearly the same level in both 2003 and 2002, proceeds of
approximately $300 million from the sale of our real estate
properties in Sweden in 2002, substantially offset the
outflows of investment in property, plant and equipment. 

During 2004, we contributed $549 million of available-for-
sale debt securities to certain of our pension plans in
Germany. A significant portion of these securities was
purchased during 2004, which significantly increased net
cash used in other investing activities. Additionally, cash
outflows in investing activities for 2004 represents the net
investment of cash in marketable securities by Group
Treasury Operations and our Group captive insurance
companies, partly offset by cash inflows from the termination
of lease portfolios and loan receivables from our remaining
Structured Finance business. 

Cash provided by other investing activities increased to 
$658 million in 2003 from $412 million in 2002. The cash
provided by other investing activities largely resulted from
cash proceeds of $390 million from the sale of financing
receivables related to our Structured Finance business and
net cash proceeds of $268 million from the sale of
marketable securities that were not held for trading
purposes, primarily relating to the Reinsurance business
which we sold in April 2004 and the sale of our shares in the
China National Petrochemical Corporation (Sinopec Corp.)
for approximately $80 million. The increase in cash provided
by other activities in 2002 was primarily due to a reduction in
investments in financing receivables.
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Disclosures about contractual obligations and
commitments

Contractual obligations
The following table summarizes certain of our contractual
obligations and principal payments under our debt
instruments and leases at December 31, 2004: 

Less than 1–3 3–5 After
Total 1 year years years 5 years

Payments due by period ($ in millions)

Long-term debt 
obligations 5,350 449 1,040 1,854 2,007
Capital (finance) 
lease obligations 254 25 42 28 159
Operating lease 
obligations 1,924 347 536 389 652
Purchase obligations 3,013 2,003 651 186 173

Off-balance sheet arrangements

Commercial commitments
Certain guarantees issued or modified after December 31,
2002 are accounted for in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No.45 (FIN 45),
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others. Upon issuance of certain guarantees, a liability,
equal to the fair value of the guarantee, is recorded.

FIN 45 requires that we disclose the “maximum potential
exposure” of certain guarantees, as well as possible
recourse provisions that may allow us to recover from third
parties amounts paid out under such guarantees. The
“maximum potential exposure” as defined by FIN 45 does
not allow any discounting of our assessment of actual
exposure under the guarantees. The information below
reflects our maximum potential exposure under the
guarantees, which is higher than our assessment of the
expected exposure. 

Guarantees
The following table provides quantitative data regarding our
third-party guarantees. The maximum potential payments
represent a “worst-case scenario,” and do not reflect our
expected results. 

The carrying amount of liabilities recorded in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets reflects our best estimate of
future payments we may incur as part of fulfilling our
guarantee obligations.

December 31, 2004 2003

Maximum Carrying Maximum Carrying
potential amount of potential amount of

payments liabilities payments liabilities

($ in millions)

Third-party performance 
guarantees 1,525 2 1,200 –
Financial guarantees 253 1 207 –
Indemnification guarantees 198 16 – –
Total 1,976 19 1,407 –

Guarantees related to third-party performance
Performance guarantees represent obligations where we
guarantee the performance of a third party’s product or
service according to the terms of a contract. Such
guarantees may include guarantees that a project will be
completed within a specified time. If the third party does not
fulfill the obligation, we will compensate the guaranteed 
party in cash or in kind.

We retained obligations for guarantees related to the Power
Generation business contributed in mid-1999 to the former
ABB ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture. The guarantees
primarily consist of performance guarantees, advance
payment guarantees and other miscellaneous guarantees
under certain contracts such as indemnification for personal
injuries and property damages, taxes, and compliance with
labor laws, environmental laws and patents. The guarantees
are related to projects that are expected to be completed 
by 2015, but in some cases the guarantees have no definite
expiration. In May 2000, we sold our interest in the ABB
ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture to ALSTOM SA
(ALSTOM). As a result, ALSTOM and its subsidiaries have
primary responsibility for performing the obligations that are
the subject of the guarantees. Further, ALSTOM, the parent
company, and ALSTOM POWER NV, formerly ABB ALSTOM
POWER NV, have undertaken jointly and severally to fully
indemnify and hold us harmless against any claims arising
under such guarantees. Our best estimate of the total
maximum potential exposure of quantifiable guarantees
issued by us on behalf of the Power Generation business is
approximately $875 million and $1,200 million at December
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. We have not experienced
any losses related to guarantees issued on behalf of the
Power Generation business.

We have retained obligations for guarantees related to the
Upstream Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business sold in 
July 2004. The guarantees primarily consist of third-party
performance guarantees, advance payment guarantees and
other miscellaneous guarantees. The guarantees have
maturity dates ranging from one to five years. The maximum
amount payable under the guarantees is approximately 
$650 million at December 31, 2004. We have the ability to
recover potential payments under these guarantees through
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certain backstop guarantees. The maximum potential
recovery under these backstop guarantees is approximately
$146 million at December 31, 2004.

Guarantees relating to financial obligations
Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances that
we will make payment to a beneficiary in the event that a
third party fails to fulfill its financial obligations and the
beneficiary under the guarantee incurs a loss due to that
failure.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, we had $253 million 
and $207 million, respectively, of financial guarantees
outstanding. Of those amounts, $123 million and 
$189 million, respectively, were issued on behalf of
companies in which we currently have or formerly had an
equity interest. The guarantees have original maturity dates
ranging from one to thirteen years. Also included in the 
$253 million are financial guarantees we retained related 
to the Upstream Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business sold
in July 2004. The maximum amount payable under these
guarantees is approximately $101 million and the guarantees
have original maturity dates ranging from one to six years
and in some cases have no time-related expiry as they are
contingent on future events.

Guarantees relating to indemnification
We delivered to the purchasers of the Upstream Oil, Gas 
and Petrochemicals business and Reinsurance business
guarantees related to assets and liabilities divested in 2004.
The maximum liability at December 31, 2004, of
approximately $49 million and $149 million, relating to the
Upstream Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business and
Reinsurance business, respectively, will reduce over time,
pursuant to the agreements. The fair value of these
guarantees is not material.

We have indemnified certain purchasers of divested
businesses for potential claims arising from the operations of
the divested businesses, including for asbestos-related
claims arising from the operations of Combustion
Engineering and its predecessors and affiliates. Such
indemnifications have not been fair valued to the extent they
were issued prior to the effective date of FIN 45. Additionally,
in cases where we could not calculate the maximum loss
related to such indemnifications, no amounts have been
included under maximum potential payments in the table
above. Indemnifications for which maximum losses could not
be calculated include indemnifications for legal claims.

Other commitments
We have granted lines of credit and have committed to
provide additional capital for certain equity accounted
companies. At December 31, 2004, the total unused lines of
credit amounted to $78 million and capital commitments
amounted to $24 million.

Securitization programs
In addition to the primary sources of liquidity and capital
resources described in the section entitled “Liquidity and
Capital Resources”, we also sell certain trade receivables to
Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (“QSPEs”), unrelated to
us, primarily through two revolving-period securitization
programs. Under the two securitization programs, neither
QSPE commits to purchase our trade receivables, and the
QSPEs may at any time refuse to continue purchasing our
trade receivables. If both QSPEs simultaneously refuse to
purchase additional receivables, then we would experience 
a temporary loss of cash flow from the sale of trade
receivables over a period of several weeks until new trade
receivables generated by us began to convert to cash in 
the normal course of our business.

Solely for the purpose of credit enhancement from the
perspective of the QSPEs, we retain an interest in the sold
receivables. Pursuant to the requirements of the revolving-
period securitizations, we effectively bear the risk of potential
delinquency or default associated with trade receivables 
sold or interests retained. Retained interests included in other
receivables at December 31, 2004 and 2003 amounted to
$373 million and $390 million, respectively. The decrease in
the retained interest during 2004 of $17 million was mainly
due to a change in terms of one program, resulting in a
reduction in the level of reserves required. In the normal
course of servicing the assets sold, we evaluate potential
collection losses and delinquencies and update the
estimated fair value of our retained interest. Pursuant to the
terms of the securitization programs, receivables more than
90 days overdue are considered delinquent. An increase in
delinquency rates compared to historic levels will cause an
increase in retained interests, while a decrease in
delinquency rates compared to historic levels will cause a
corresponding decrease in retained interests. Ultimately, if
the customer defaults, we will be responsible for the
uncollected amount up to the amount of our retained interest
relating to the relevant securitization program. The fair value
of the retained interests at December 31, 2004 and 2003
was approximately $349 million and $367 million,
respectively.
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We retain servicing responsibility relating to the sold
receivables. Net cash settlements on both programs take
place twice per month. However, in one of the programs
there is, in addition, the daily transfer of collections of sold
receivables. Under the terms of the latter program, if our
rating falls below BB+ (Standard & Poor’s) or Ba3 (Moody’s)
then we may be required to relinquish the right to collect the
sold receivables on behalf of the QSPE, and instead the
cash collection of such sold receivables would be made
directly to the accounts of the QSPE rather than via us.

The net cash received from (paid to) QSPEs during 2004,
2003 and 2002 was $130 million, $(119) million and 
$(384) million, respectively, as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

($ in millions)

Gross trade receivables
sold to QSPEs 
($25, $505 and $832) (1) 5,846 5,661 5,972
Collections made on behalf 
of and paid to QSPEs 
($(23), $(696) and $(753)) (1) (5,713) (5,883) (6,074)
Purchaser, liquidity and
program fees 
($0, $(2) and $(5)) (1) (20) (21) (37)
Decrease (increase) in
retained interests 
($0, $117 and $(87)) (1) 17 124 (245)
Net cash received from
(paid to) QSPEs during the 
year ($2, $(76) and $(13)) (1) 130 (119) (384)
(1) Related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations for 2004, 2003 and

2002, respectively.

The increase in gross receivables sold in 2004 compared to
2003, is due primarily to an increase in the programs’ size, 
a change in the definition of receivables eligible to be sold in
one program and the addition of new sellers to one of the
programs. The decrease in gross receivables sold in 2003,
as compared to 2002, is due primarily to the fact that
businesses which were either classified as discontinued
operations or which we sold were phased out of the
securitization programs during 2003.

We pay purchaser, liquidity and program fees on our
securitization programs. Purchaser and program fees are
based on the amount of funding that we receive, while
liquidity fees are based on the programs’ size. These costs
of $20 million, $21 million and $37 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively, are included in interest and other finance
expense.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, of the gross trade
receivables sold, the total trade receivables for which cash
has not been collected at those dates amounted to 
$1,083 million and $898 million, respectively. Of these
amounts, $54 million and $34 million at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively, was more than 90 days past due.

In addition, we transfer receivables outside of the above
described securitization programs. These transfers were
sales, made without recourse, directly to banks and/or sales
pursuant to factoring or similar type arrangements. Total sold
receivables included in these transactions during 2004 and
2003 were approximately $902 million and $1,400 million,
respectively, of which, sales of $159 million and $594 million,
respectively, related to assets held for sale and in
discontinued operations. During 2004 and 2003, the related
costs, including the associated gains and losses, were 
$10 million and $12 million, respectively, of which, costs of
$1 million and $3 million, respectively, related to assets 
held for sale and in discontinued operations. The reduction 
in the amount of receivables transferred outside of the
securitization programs in 2004 compared to 2003 was
mainly the result of the sale of a business classified in
discontinued operations that had in 2003 generated
significant sales of receivables.

For a further discussion of our securitization programs, see
Notes 2 and 7 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pension and other post-retirement obligations
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, our pension liabilities
exceeded plan assets by $1,451 million and $1,680 million,
respectively. Our other post-retirement plan liabilities
exceeded plan assets by $369 million and $397 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. This
underfunding is not a short-term obligation for us as the
settlement of the pension liability will take place as the
covered employees draw benefits from the plans in the
future. 

Variable interests
We are a party to certain off-balance sheet arrangements
including variable interests in unconsolidated entities. See
Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information on variable interests.

Related and certain other parties
In the normal course of our activities, we sell products and
derive certain other revenues from companies in which we
hold an equity interest. The revenues derived from these
transactions are not material for us. In addition, in the normal
course of our activities, we purchase products from
companies in which we hold an equity interest. The amounts
involved in these transactions are not material for us. Also, 
in the normal course of our activities, we engage in
transactions with businesses that we have divested on terms
that we believe are negotiated on an arm’s length basis.
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We have participations in joint ventures and affiliated
companies, which are accounted for using the equity
method. Many of these entities have been established to
perform specific functions, such as constructing, operating
and maintaining a power plant. In addition to our
investments, we may provide products to specific projects,
may act as contractor of such projects or may operate 
the finished products. We may also grant lines of credit to
these entities or for specific projects and guarantee their
obligations, as discussed under the section entitled “Off-
balance sheet arrangements” above. These joint ventures,
affiliated companies or project-specific entities generally
receive revenues either from the sale of the final product or
from selling the output generated by the product. The
revenue usually is defined by a long-term contract with the
end user of the output. 

Our risk with respect to these entities is substantially 
limited to the carrying value of the companies on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The carrying value for the
equity accounted companies at December 31, 2004 and
2003, was $596 million and $642 million, respectively.

Our 2004 and 2003 Consolidated Financial Statements
include the following aggregate amounts related to
transactions with equity accounted investees and other
related parties, including related party transactions, that are
recorded in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax,
and assets and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued
operations:

2004 2003

($ in millions)

Revenues 57 99

Receivables 11 105
Other current liabilities 13 23
Financing receivables (non-current) 45 22

Payables 1 6
Other current liabilities 1 4
Short-term borrowings 18 32
Non-current liabilities 4 2
Long-term borrowings – 48

Contingencies and retained liabilities

Environmental
All of our operations, but particularly our manufacturing
operations, are subject to comprehensive environmental
laws and regulations. Violations of these laws could result in
fines, injunctions (including orders to cease the violating
operations) or other penalties (including orders to improve
the condition of the environment in the affected area or to
pay for such improvements). In addition, environmental
permits are required for our manufacturing facilities (for
example, with respect to air emissions and wastewater
discharges). In most countries in which we operate,
environmental permits must be renewed on a regular basis
and we must submit reports to environmental authorities.
These permits may be revoked, renewed or modified by the
issuing authorities at their discretion and in compliance with
applicable laws. We have implemented formal environmental
management systems at nearly all of our manufacturing sites
in accordance with the international environmental
management standard ISO 14001, and we believe that we
are in substantial compliance with environmental laws,
regulations and permit requirements in the various
jurisdictions in which we operate, except for such instances
of non-compliance that, in the aggregate, are not reasonably
likely to be material.

In a number of jurisdictions, including the United States, we
may be liable for environmental contamination at our present
or former facilities, or at other sites where wastes generated
from our present or former facilities were disposed. In the
United States, the Environmental Protection Agency and
various state agencies are responsible for regulating
environmental matters. These agencies have identified
certain of our current and former U.S. based companies as
potentially responsible parties in respect to a number of such
sites under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation, and Liability Act, the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act and other federal and state environmental
laws. As a potentially responsible party, we may be liable for
a share of the costs associated with cleaning up these sites.
As of December 31, 2004, there were approximately 25
sites, at which our companies have, or may be potentially
responsible for, environmental clean up costs. These 25 sites
include several of our current or former facilities where we
have undertaken voluntary corrective actions. The clean up
of these sites involves primarily soil and groundwater
contamination. We do not believe that our aggregate liability
in connection with these sites will be material.
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Generally, our liability with regard to any specific site will
depend on the number of potentially responsible parties,
their relative contributions of hazardous substances or
wastes to the site and their financial resources, as well as on
the nature and extent of the contamination. Nevertheless,
such laws commonly impose strict liability jointly and
severally on the parties involved, so that any one party may
be liable for the entire cost of cleaning up a contaminated
site.

In addition, we retained liability for certain specific
environmental remediation costs at two sites in the United
States that were operated by our Nuclear technology
business, which has been sold to British Nuclear Fuels PLC
(BNFL) in April 2000. Pursuant to the purchase agreement
with BNFL, we have retained all of the environmental liabilities
associated with our subsidiary Combustion Engineering
Inc.’s (Combustion Engineering) Windsor, Connecticut facility
and a portion of the environmental liabilities associated with
our ABB C-E Nuclear Power Inc. subsidiary’s Hematite,
Missouri facility. The primary environmental liabilities
associated with these sites relate to the costs of remediating
radiological and chemical contamination at these facilities.
Such costs are not payable until a facility is taken out of use
and generally are incurred over a number of years. Although
it is difficult to predict with accuracy the amount of time 
it may take to remediate radiological contamination upon
decommissioning, based on information that BNFL has
made publicly available, we believe that it may take until 2013
to remediate the Hematite site. With respect to the Windsor
site, we believe the remediation may take until 2008. At the
Windsor site, a significant portion of the contamination is
related to activities that were formerly conducted by or for
the United States government. We believe that a significant
portion of the remediation costs for this facility will be covered
by the United States government under the government’s
Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program. As a result
of the sale of the Nuclear Technology business, in 2000 we
established in other liabilities a reserve of $300 million in
connection with our estimated remediation costs related to
both facilities. We have estimated the total contingent liability
in a range of loss from $266 million to $447 million. As such,
at December 31, 2004, we have recorded in other liabilities a
reserve of $266 million, net of payments since inception of
$34 million. Expenditures charged to the remediation reserve
were $10 million, $6 million and $12 million during 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. In connection with the Chapter
11 filing by Combustion Engineering discussed below, we
will assume any and retain all remaining environmental
liabilities of Combustion Engineering in respect to the
Windsor and Hematite sites.

Estimates of the future costs of environmental compliance
and liabilities are imprecise due to numerous uncertainties.
Such costs are affected by the enactment of new laws and
regulations, the development and application of new
technologies, the identification of new sites for which we
may have remediation responsibility and the apportionment
of remediation costs among, and the financial viability of,
responsible parties. In particular, the exact amount of the
responsibility of the United States government for the
Windsor site cannot be precisely estimated. It is possible
that final resolution of environmental matters may require us
to make expenditures in excess of our expectations, over 
an extended period of time and in a range of amounts that
cannot be reasonably estimated. Although final resolution 
of such matters could have a material effect on our
Consolidated Income Statement in a particular reporting
period in which the expenditure is incurred, we believe that
these expenditures will not have a material adverse effect 
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Asbestos liability 

Summary
Our Combustion Engineering subsidiary has been a co-
defendant in a large number of lawsuits claiming damage for
personal injury resulting from exposure to asbestos. A
smaller number of claims have also been brought against
two other subsidiaries, ABB Lummus Global Inc. (“Lummus”)
(which is part of our Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business
and was formerly a subsidiary of Combustion Engineering)
and Basic Incorporated (“Basic”) (which was a subsidiary 
of Combustion Engineering and of Asea Brown Boveri Inc.
(“Asea Brown Boveri”) and is now a subsidiary of ABB
Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”) following the merger in December
2004 of Asea Brown Boveri into Holdings), as well as 
against other ABB group entities. In late 2002, taking into
consideration the growing number and cost of asbestos-
related claims, Combustion Engineering and we determined
that Combustion Engineering’s asbestos-related liability
should be resolved through a comprehensive settlement 
that included a plan of reorganization for Combustion
Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. 

In November 2002, Combustion Engineering and the
representatives of various asbestos claimants entered into a
Master Settlement Agreement which settled the value of
approximately 154,000 open asbestos-related claims
against Combustion Engineering. Under that agreement,
Combustion Engineering established and funded a trust (the
“CE Settlement Trust”) to provide for partial payment on 
such settled claims. 
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In January 2003, Combustion Engineering reached
agreement with various creditors (including representatives of
the asbestos claimants who participated in the Master
Settlement Agreement and a representative of future
claimants) on the terms of a proposed “Pre-Packaged Plan
of Reorganization for Combustion Engineering” under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (as amended
through June 4, 2003, the “CE Plan”). The CE Plan provided
for a “channeling injunction” to be issued, under which
asbestos-related claims related to the operations of
Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic could only be
brought against a trust (separate from the CE Settlement
Trust established under the Master Settlement Agreement) 
to be established and funded by Combustion Engineering,
ABB Ltd and other ABB group companies. This channeling
injunction was intended to free Combustion Engineering,
ABB Ltd and affiliates, as well as certain former direct or
indirect owners, joint venture partners and affiliates of
Combustion Engineering, including ALSTOM and ABB
ALSTOM POWER NV, from further liability for such claims.

The CE Plan was filed with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court 
on February 17, 2003, and confirmed by the District Court 
on August 8, 2003. However, on December 2, 2004, 
the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit effectively reversed
the District Court’s confirmation order. The Court of 
Appeals remanded the CE Plan to the District Court for a
determination of whether, in light of the pre-petition
payments made by Combustion Engineering to the CE
Settlement Trust under the Master Settlement Agreement
and the fact that claimants who received partial payments 
of their claims under the Master Settlement Agreement
participated in the approval of the plan, the treatment of
asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion
Engineering under the CE Plan was consistent with the
requirements of the Bankruptcy Code. Combustion
Engineering and we have been reviewing the Court of
Appeals’ decision and considering various options to resolve
the asbestos-related liability of Combustion Engineering,
Lummus and Basic.

In March 2005, following extensive discussions with certain
representatives of various parties, including the Creditors
Committee and the Future Claimants Representative
appointed in the Combustion Engineering case, we reached
an agreement on certain “settlement points” for modifying
the CE Plan with a view to bringing it into conformity with the
Court of Appeals’ decision and for providing a mechanism
for resolving finally Lummus’ potential asbestos liability. The
settlement points contemplate, that the modified plan will
continue to reflect the CE Plan’s fundamental approach of
channeling asbestos-related claims against Combustion
Engineering to a trust funded in part by other entities of the
ABB group of companies. The settlement points provide for
us to make an additional contribution of approximately 
$232 million to pay present and future asbestos claimants of

Combustion Engineering and Lummus. In addition, the
settlement points provide that we will pay directly or indirectly
up to $8 million in respect of certain approved legal fees in
the Chapter 11 case of Combustion Engineering. The
settlement points contemplate that the modified CE Plan will
become effective under the Bankruptcy Code concurrently
with a separate Chapter 11 plan of reorganization for
Lummus. The parties are now working to reach agreement
on other issues relating to, and details of, the proposed
modified plan and related proceedings involving Lummus
and to prepare the related documentation. Each of the
proposed plans will require approval of creditors and be
subject to court review. 

One of the holdings of the Court of Appeals was that the
asbestos-related claims against Basic that are not related 
to Combustion Engineering’s operations could not be
“channeled” to the proposed trust under the CE Plan. 
The proposed plans do not address Basic, and we expect
that Basic’s asbestos-related liabilities will have to be
resolved through its own bankruptcy or similar U.S. state
court liquidation proceeding, or through the tort system.

Background
When we sold our 50 percent interest in the former ABB
ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture to ALSTOM in May 2000,
we retained ownership of Combustion Engineering, a
subsidiary that had conducted part of our former power
generation business and that now owns commercial real
estate that it leases to third parties. Combustion Engineering
is a co-defendant, together with other third parties, in
numerous lawsuits in the United States in which the plaintiffs
claim damages for personal injury arising from exposure 
to asbestos in equipment or materials that Combustion
Engineering allegedly supplied or was responsible for,
primarily during the early 1970s and before. 

From 1989 through February 17, 2003 (the date that
Combustion Engineering filed for Chapter 11 as described
below), approximately 438,000 asbestos-related claims were
filed against Combustion Engineering. On February 17,
2003, there were approximately 164,000 asbestos related
personal injury claims pending against Combustion
Engineering. There were approximately 138,000 such claims
pending against Combustion Engineering on December 31,
2002, and approximately 94,000 such claims were pending
on December 31, 2001. Of the approximately 164,000 claims
that were pending on February 17, 2003, approximately
154,000 are claims by asbestos claimants who participated
in the Master Settlement Agreement. Approximately 
29,000 new claims were made in the period from January 1,
2003, to February 17, 2003 (all but 111 of which agreed to
participate in the Master Settlement Agreement).
Approximately 34,500 claims were resolved in 2002 and
approximately 27,000 claims were resolved in 2001.

ABB_FR04en_001-054.qxd  19.4.2005  17:46 Uhr  Seite 48



ABB Financial review 2004 49

Other entities of ours have sometimes been named as
defendants in asbestos-related claims, including Lummus
and Basic. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were
approximately 11,000 claims pending against Lummus and
4,300 and 4,200 claims, respectively, pending against Basic. 

Additionally, at December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were
approximately 12,400 and 8,700 asbestos-related claims
pending against our entities other than Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic. These claims are unrelated
to Combustion Engineering and will not be resolved in the
Combustion Engineering bankruptcy case. Of the 12,400
claims outstanding at December 31, 2004, approximately
3,660 are claims that were brought in the state of Mississippi
in the United States, in 7 cases that include multiple plaintiffs
and hundreds of co-defendants and make no specific
allegations of any relationship between any entity of ours and
the plaintiffs. Approximately 4,240 of such claims have been
brought in the state of Ohio in the United States by claimants
represented by a single law firm in cases that typically name
50 to 60 co-defendants and do not allege any specific
linkage between the plaintiffs and any entity of ours.
Approximately 2,700 such claims are pending in the state of
West Virginia in the United States. The remaining such
claims are pending in various jurisdictions. We generally seek
dismissals from claims where there is no apparent linkage
between the plaintiffs and any entity of ours. To date,
resolving claims against our entities other than Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic has not had a material
impact on our consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Negotiations with representatives of asbestos
claimants and pre-packaged Chapter 11 filing
During 2001 and 2002, Combustion Engineering
experienced a significant increase in the level of new claims
and higher total and per-claim settlement costs as compared
to prior years. In October 2002, Combustion Engineering
and we determined that it was likely that the expected
asbestos-related costs of Combustion Engineering would
exceed the value of its assets ($812 million at September 30,
2002 and $828 million at December 31, 2002) if its historical
settlement patterns continued into the future. In October
2002, Combustion Engineering and we determined to resolve
the asbestos-related liability of Combustion Engineering and
its affiliates by reorganizing Combustion Engineering under
Chapter 11, the principal business reorganization chapter of
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Combustion Engineering and we
determined to structure the Chapter 11 reorganization as a
“pre-packaged plan,” in which Combustion Engineering
would solicit votes from asbestos claimants to approve the
plan before the Chapter 11 case was filed with the
Bankruptcy Court.

Beginning in October 2002, Combustion Engineering and
we conducted extensive negotiations with representatives of
certain asbestos claimants with respect to a pre-packaged
plan. On November 22, 2002, Combustion Engineering 
and the asbestos claimants’ representatives entered into a
Master Settlement Agreement for settling open asbestos-
related personal injury claims that had been filed against
Combustion Engineering prior to November 15, 2002.
Combustion Engineering also agreed, pursuant to the
Master Settlement Agreement, to form and fund the CE
Settlement Trust to administer and pay the asbestos-related
personal injury claims settled under the Master Settlement
Agreement. Under the terms of the Master Settlement
Agreement, eligible claimants who met all criteria to qualify
for payment were entitled to receive a percentage of the
value of their claim from the CE Settlement Trust and retain 
a claim against Combustion Engineering for the unpaid
balance (the “stub claim”). The Master Settlement
Agreement divides claims into three categories based on 
the status of the claim at November 14, 2002, the status of
the documentation relating to the claim and whether or not
the documentation establishes a valid claim eligible for
settlement and payment by Combustion Engineering. The
Master Settlement Agreement was supplemented in January
2003 to clarify the rights of certain claimants whose right to
participate in a particular payment category was disputed.
The Master Settlement Agreement, as supplemented, settles
the value of and provides for the partial payment on
approximately 154,000 open asbestos-related personal
injury claims that had been lodged against Combustion
Engineering.

The Master Settlement Agreement, as supplemented,
provided that the CE Settlement Trust was to be funded by:

■ cash contributions from Combustion Engineering in the
amount of $5 million;

■ cash contributions from ABB Inc., a subsidiary of ABB
Ltd, in the amount of $30 million;

■ a promissory note from Combustion Engineering in the
principal amount of approximately $101 million
(guaranteed by Asea Brown Boveri, now merged into
Holdings); and

■ an assignment by Combustion Engineering of the 
$311 million unpaid balance of principal and interest due
to Combustion Engineering from Asea Brown Boveri, 
now merged into Holdings, under a loan agreement dated
May 12, 2000 (guaranteed by ABB Ltd).
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Approximately 154,000 eligible claimants have entered into
the Master Settlement Agreement or adoption agreements
with Combustion Engineering and the CE Settlement Trust
and have received partial payment on their claims.

Pre-packaged plan of reorganization
On January 17, 2003, we announced that Combustion
Engineering and we had reached an agreement on a
proposed Pre-Packaged Plan of Reorganization for
Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code. The agreement was reached with
representatives of certain asbestos claimants with existing
asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion
Engineering (encompassing both claimants who had lodged
claims prior to November 15, 2002, and claimants who 
had filed claims on or after that date and were not eligible to
participate in the Master Settlement Agreement) and with 
the proposed representative of persons who may be entitled
to bring asbestos-related personal injury claims in the future.

As proposed, the CE Plan provided for the creation of 
the Asbestos PI Trust, an independent trust separate and
distinct from the CE Settlement Trust, and addressed
Asbestos PI Trust Claims, which consist of present and
future asbestos-related personal injury claims (including the
stub claims of claimants who previously settled pursuant 
to the Master Settlement Agreement) that arise directly or
indirectly from any act, omission, products, or operations of
Combustion Engineering, Lummus or Basic. The CE Plan
provided that, if it were to become effective, a channeling
injunction would be issued under Section 105 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code pursuant to which the Asbestos PI Trust
Claims against ABB Ltd and certain of its affiliates (including
Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic) would be
channeled to the Asbestos PI Trust. The effect of the
channeling injunction contemplated by the CE Plan would 
be that the sole recourse of a holder of an Asbestos PI 
Trust Claim would be to the Asbestos PI Trust and such
holder would be barred from asserting such a claim against
ABB Ltd and the affiliates covered by the injunction
(including Combustion Engineering and, under the CE Plan
as proposed, Lummus and Basic). 

As proposed, the CE Plan provided that on its effective date,
the Asbestos PI Trust would be funded with the following:

■ a $20 million 5 percent term note (the “CE Convertible
Note”) with a maximum term of ten years from the
effective date of the CE Plan, to be issued by Combustion
Engineering and secured by its Windsor, Connecticut real
estate and real estate leases (under certain specified
contingencies, the Asbestos PI Trust may have the right to
convert the term note into ownership of 80 percent of the
voting securities of the reorganized Combustion
Engineering);

■ excess cash held by Combustion Engineering on the
effective date of the CE Plan (the “Excess CE Cash”);

■ a non-interest bearing promissory note (the “ABB
Promissory Note”) to be issued by ABB Inc. and ABB Ltd,
and guaranteed by certain ABB Ltd subsidiaries, in 
an aggregate amount of up to $350 million payable in
installments (including two $25 million payments
contingent upon ABB Ltd generating an earnings before
interest and taxes margin of 12 percent in 2007 and
2008);

■ a non-interest bearing promissory note to be issued on
behalf of Lummus (the “Lummus Note”) in the amount of
$28 million payable in relatively equal annual installments
over 12 years;

■ a non-interest bearing promissory note (the “Basic Note”)
to be issued on behalf of Basic in the aggregate 
amount of $10 million payable in relatively equal annual
installments over 12 years;

■ 30,298,913 shares of ABB Ltd (the “CE Settlement
Shares”), which had a fair value of $170 million, 
$154 million and $86 million at December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively; and

■ an assignment by Combustion Engineering, Lummus, 
and Basic to the Asbestos PI Trust of any proceeds 
under certain insurance policies. As of December 31,
2004, aggregate unexhausted product liability limits under
such policies were approximately $200 million for
Combustion Engineering, approximately $43 million for
Lummus and approximately $28 million for Basic,
although amounts ultimately recovered by the Asbestos PI
Trust under these policies may be substantially different
from the policy limits. In addition, Combustion Engineering
would assign to the Asbestos PI Trust scheduled
payments under certain of its insurance settlement
agreements ($78 million at December 31, 2004). (The
proceeds and payments to be assigned are together
referred to as “Certain Insurance Amounts”).

In addition, the CE Plan as proposed provided that if
Lummus were sold within 18 months after the CE Plan’s
effective date, ABB Inc. would contribute $5 million to the
CE Settlement Trust and $5 million to the Asbestos PI Trust
(together, these payments are referred to as the “Lummus
Sale Payments”). If the CE Settlement Trust has ceased to
exist at that time, both $5 million payments would be 
made to the Asbestos PI Trust, but in no event would this
contribution exceed the net proceeds from the sale of
Lummus.

ABB_FR04en_001-054.qxd  19.4.2005  17:46 Uhr  Seite 50



ABB Financial review 2004 51

Upon the effective date under the CE Plan, ABB Inc. would
indemnify the Combustion Engineering estate against up to
$5 million of liability on account of certain contingent claims
held by certain indemnified insurers. Further, on the effective
date, Asea Brown Boveri (now merged into Holdings) would
provide for the benefit of Combustion Engineering a nuclear
and environmental indemnity with regard to obligations
arising out of Combustion Engineering’s Windsor,
Connecticut, site. The two indemnities described in this
paragraph are referred to as the “Related Indemnities.”

Judicial review process
The solicitation of votes to approve the CE Plan began on
January 19, 2003. Combustion Engineering filed for Chapter
11 in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in Delaware on February 17,
2003, based on the terms previously negotiated in
connection with the CE Plan. On June 23, 2003, the
Bankruptcy Court issued its Order Approving the Disclosure
Statement but Recommending Withholding of Confirmation
of the Plan of Reorganization for Combustion Engineering 
for Ten Days (the “Initial Ruling”) and related findings of fact.
The Initial Ruling approved the disclosure statement that was
the document used as the basis for soliciting approval of 
the CE Plan from asbestos claimants and verified the voting
results that approved the CE Plan and indicated that the
Bankruptcy Court would recommend that the CE Plan be
confirmed if Combustion Engineering and we could establish
to the court’s satisfaction certain specified information. We
then submitted the additional information for the court’s
consideration.

On July 10, 2003, the Bankruptcy Court issued a
Supplemental and Amendatory Order Making Additional
Findings and Recommending Confirmation of Plan of
Reorganization (the “Supplemental Ruling”). The
Supplemental Ruling recommended to the U.S. District
Court, among other things, that the CE Plan be confirmed.

Following the issuance of the Supplemental Ruling,
interested parties had a period during which they could
appeal the Initial Ruling and the Supplemental Ruling. This
appeal period expired on July 24, 2003. A number of
interested parties, including a small number of asbestos
claimants and certain insurance companies which historically
have provided insurance coverage to Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic filed appeals based on
various objections to the CE Plan. The District Court held a
hearing on July 31, 2003, with respect to the appeals and
entered its confirmation order on August 8, 2003. 

Various parties appealed the District Court’s confirmation
order to The United States Court of Appeals for the Third
Circuit, which granted a motion for expedition of appeals
and ordered that all briefs were to be filed by October 7,
2003. On June 3, 2004, the Court of Appeals held a hearing
with respect to the appeals of the confirmation order of the

District Court. On December 2, 2004, the Court of Appeals
issued its decision (the “Third Circuit Decision”).

The effect of the Third Circuit Decision was to reverse the
District Court’s confirmation order in respect of the CE Plan.
The Third Circuit Decision focused on three issues raised by
the appealing parties which relate to the ultimate terms of
the CE Plan: (i) whether the Bankruptcy Court had “related
to” jurisdiction over the claims against the non-debtors,
Lummus and Basic, that do not arise from any products or
operations of Combustion Engineering (the “non-derivative
claims”); (ii) whether the non-debtors, Lummus and Basic,
could avail themselves of the protection of the channeling
injunction by invoking Section 105 of the Bankruptcy Code
and contributing assets to the Asbestos PI Trust; and (iii)
whether the two-trust structure and use of stub claims in the
voting process comply with the Bankruptcy Code. The Court
of Appeals held that there were insufficient factual findings to
support “related-to” jurisdiction and that Section 105 of the
Bankruptcy Code could not be employed to extend the
channeling injunction to the non-derivative claims against
nondebtors, such as Lummus and Basic. With regard to the
two-trust structure, the Court of Appeals remanded the CE
Plan to the District Court to determine whether creditors
received fair treatment in light of the pre-petition payments
made to the CE Settlement Trust participants and the use of
stub claims in the voting process. Among other things, the
Court of Appeals instructed the lower courts to consider
whether payments under the CE Settlement Trust
constituted voidable preferences that were inconsistent with
the fair distribution scheme of the Bankruptcy Code. 

On December 15, 2004, Combustion Engineering filed a
petition seeking a rehearing en banc by the Court of Appeals.
Specifically, Combustion Engineering and its immediate
parent, Asea Brown Boveri, now merged into Holdings,
challenged the holding in the Third Circuit Decision that the
Bankruptcy and District Courts did not have “related to”
jurisdiction over the non-derivative claims against Lummus
and Basic and that Section 105 of the Bankruptcy Code
could not be used to extend the channeling injunction to such
claims. On January 19, 2005, the Court of Appeals denied
the petition for rehearing en banc.

Notwithstanding the Third Circuit Decision, the Master
Settlement Agreement, which settles the amount of and
provides for partial payment on approximately 154,000
asbestos-related claims, remains effective. Early in the
Combustion Engineering bankruptcy case, an asbestos
claimant commenced an action against the trustee of the 
CE Settlement Trust and individuals who had received
distributions from such trust, asserting that further
distributions by the CE Settlement Trust should be enjoined
because the transaction that created the CE Settlement
Trust was a voidable preference. The Bankruptcy Court ruled
that it would not dismiss that action for lack of standing. 
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On October 22, 2004, the trustee of the CE Settlement Trust
moved to dismiss the complaint in that action. This matter is
pending and no decision has been rendered by the Court. 

Following the Third Circuit Decision, the lower courts
assumed jurisdiction over further confirmation proceedings 
in respect of the CE Plan. On January 27, 2005, the
Bankruptcy Court authorized the Future Claimants
Representative and the Creditors Committee to file any
available bankruptcy-related and similar claims against 
third parties, including preference claims against certain
claimants that did not participate in the CE Settlement Trust,
and any potential bankruptcy related claims against us. 
The Bankruptcy Court further stated that if Combustion
Engineering and we cannot agree on modifications to the 
CE Plan with the Future Claimants Representatives and
Creditors Committee, and the representative of Combustion
Engineering claimants who opposed the confirmation order,
the Bankruptcy Court would appoint an independent
representative to prosecute all of the foregoing preference
claims and bankruptcy related claims asserted against us.
We also entered into a tolling agreement to extend the time
period within which bankruptcy related claims against us
could be brought. 

Since February 17, 2003, a stay and preliminary injunction
have barred the commencement and prosecution of certain
asbestos-related claims against Combustion Engineering,
Lummus, Basic, certain other ABB group entities and certain
other parties, including parties indemnified by us. The barred
claims include, among others, claims arising from asbestos
exposure caused by Combustion Engineering, Lummus or
Basic and claims alleging fraudulent conveyance, successor
liability and veil piercing. We do not know the number or
nature of claims that would now be pending against the
protected entities if those legal measures had not been in
place.

Modified CE Plan
In March 2005, following extensive discussions with 
certain representatives of various claimants, the Creditors
Committee and the Future Claimants Representative, 
we reached an agreement on certain “settlement points” 
for modifying the CE Plan with a view to bringing it into
conformity with the Third Circuit Decision and for providing a
mechanism for resolving finally Lummus’ potential asbestos
liability.

The settlement points contemplate the following elements for
finally resolving both Combustion Engineering’s and
Lummus’ potential asbestos liability: 

■ The modified plan for Combustion Engineering (the
“Modified CE Plan”) would continue to reflect the CE
Plan’s fundamental approach of channeling claims against
Combustion Engineering to a trust funded, in part, by
other entities in the ABB group of companies. 

■ Confirmation and effectiveness of the Modified CE Plan
would be obtained concurrently with a Chapter 11 Plan
for Lummus (the “Lummus Plan”), acceptances to which
would be obtained from voting Lummus asbestos
claimants prior to Lummus commencing a Chapter 11
case.

■ We would contribute to the Asbestos PI Trust the CE
Convertible Note, the ABB Promissory Note, the Excess
CE Cash and the CE Settlement Shares and would
provide the Related Indemnities and assign the Certain
Insurance Amounts, as contemplated by the CE Plan,
subject to any modifications that may be agreed.

■ We would make an additional contribution (the “Additional
Contribution”) of $232 million. The Additional Contribution
will be used as follows: (i) up to $28 million will be used to
fund payment of all current and future asbestos claims
against Lummus by a trust created under §524(g) of the
Bankruptcy Code pursuant to the Lummus Plan; and (ii)
the remaining amounts will be used to provide additional
funding under the Modified CE Plan to pay CE’s asbestos
creditors through the Asbestos PI Trust. Under the
Modified CE Plan, the Lummus Sale Payments would not
be required and the Lummus Note would be replaced by
contributions to a separate Lummus §524(g) trust as
discussed below. 

■ Lummus has retained a person to act as a representative
for future Lummus asbestos personal injury claimants 
(the “Lummus FCR”). The parties to the settlement points
have agreed that the Lummus FCR will have determined
by April 15, 2005, the appropriate funding to pay in 
full all current and future Lummus asbestos claims. In the
event the Lummus FCR concludes that such amount
exceeds $28 million, we will increase the amount of our
contribution for the benefit of such Lummus claims by 
the amount in excess of $28 million, up to an additional 
$5 million. If the Lummus FCR concludes that such
amount exceeds $33 million, we will have the option to
terminate the settlement with no further obligations under
the settlement points.

■ We will directly or indirectly pay up to $8 million in respect
of certain approved legal fees in the Chapter 11 case of
Combustion Engineering.

■ The Modified CE Plan would provide for a settlement of all
pending preference claims and related claims, including
any claims against us, our affiliates, and our and their
officers, directors and employees, being asserted in the
CE case.
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■ The scope of the channeling injunction to be issued under
the Modified CE Plan would be the same as under the CE
Plan, except that non-derivative claims against Basic
would not be subject to the injunction.

■ Basic would not be addressed in the Modified CE Plan
and would therefore not contribute the Basic Note. 

■ The Modified CE Plan would also involve certain other
adjustments, including certain changes in the relative
amounts to be paid by the CE Asbestos PI Trust to
different categories of claimants and changes in the
administration of the trust.

In a status conference on April 5, 2005, the Bankruptcy
Court instructed the Company to submit the documentation
relating to the Modified CE Plan and the Lummus Plan to the
Bankruptcy Court within 60 days. We and various other
interested parties are now working to reach agreement on
open issues, details relating to the Modified CE Plan and the
Lummus Plan and the form and substance of the operative
documents and related Bankruptcy Court motions and other
pleadings. We cannot be certain when those negotiations
will be concluded or whether or on what terms the parties
will resolve outstanding issues. The Modified CE Plan and
the Lummus Plan will become effective only if different
classes of their respective creditors vote in favor of the
respective plans. The Modified CE Plan and the Lummus
Plan will be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy and
District Courts, as well as to further judicial review if appeals
are made. While we believe that the Modified CE Plan and
the Lummus Plan are consistent with the Third Circuit
Decision and other applicable laws and precedents, we
cannot be certain whether the courts will approve the plans,
nor can we predict whether the plans will receive the needed
creditor votes. 

We do not know whether any plan of reorganization for
Combustion Engineering or Lummus will ultimately be
confirmed or whether asbestos-related liabilities of any other
ABB group entities would be resolved by any such plan. If for
any reason a Chapter 11 plan relating to Combustion
Engineering is not eventually confirmed, Combustion
Engineering could be required to enter a Chapter 7
proceeding. If for any reason a Chapter 11 plan relating to
Lummus is not eventually confirmed, we expect that
Lummus’ asbestos-related liabilities will have to be resolved
through the tort system.

Because the Third Circuit Decision held that non-derivative
claims cannot be subject to the CE Plan’s proposed
channeling injunction, Basic will not be included in the
Modified CE Plan. We expect that Basic’s asbestos-related
liabilities will have to be resolved through its own bankruptcy
or similar U.S. state court liquidation proceeding or through
the tort system. 

If any ABB group entities are not included in the protection
offered by the channeling injunction entered pursuant to any
Combustion Engineering plan that is confirmed, such entities
could be required to resolve in the tort system, or otherwise,
current and future asbestos-related claims that are asserted
against such entities. Such events would be subject to
numerous uncertainties, risk and expense.

If U.S. federal legislation addressing asbestos personal injury
claims is passed, which is speculative at this time, such
legislation may affect the amount that will be required to
resolve the asbestos-related claims against ABB group
entities.

Effect on our financial position
Expenses. We recorded expenses related to asbestos of
$262 million, $142 million and $395 million in loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax, and $1 million, $3 million
and $25 million in income from continuing operations, 
net of tax, for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax, for 2004 reflects a
charge of $232 million taken in connection with the
agreement we reached in March 2005 on the basic terms 
of the Modified CE Plan, $17 million resulting from the mark-
to-market adjustment relating to the CE Settlement Shares,
a credit of $6 million resulting from adjustment of the
provision for the estimated liability of Basic as described
below, and other costs of $19 million. Loss from
discontinued operations, net of tax, for 2003 includes a
charge of $68 million, net of tax, resulting from the mark-to-
market adjustment relating to the CE Settlement Shares, a
provision of $41 million, representing the present value of the
first two $25 million payments under the ABB Promissory
Note, which were previously considered contingent, as well
as $33 million of other costs. The 2002 amount reflected 
our estimate of incremental total costs to be incurred based
upon the terms of the CE Plan. 

Cash Payments. Cash payments, before insurance
recoveries, related to Combustion Engineering’s asbestos-
related claims were $56 million (including $49 million
contributed to the CE Settlement Trust, described above),
$391 million (including $365 million contributed to the CE
Settlement Trust), and $236 million (including $30 million
contributed into the CE Settlement Trust), in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Administration and defense costs were
$10 million, $36 million and $32 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.
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Cash payments related to asbestos-related claims against
Lummus and Basic made through December 31, 2004 were
approximately $3 million and $3 million, respectively. Cash
payments to resolve asbestos-related claims against entities
other than Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic
have been immaterial to date, totaling less than $1 million in
the aggregate. We have not maintained a reserve for the
claims pending against entities other than Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic.

Provisions. At December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, we
recorded total provisions on a consolidated basis of 
$1,023 million, $815 million and $1,095 million in respect of
asbestos-related claims and defense costs related to
Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic. Our provisions
in continuing operations for asbestos-related liabilities at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, now include $2 million and
$4 million, respectively, previously classified in liabilities held
for sale and in discontinued operations. Based upon the
expected implementation of the Modified CE Plan and the
Lummus Plan, we recorded provisions of $985 million and
$33 million, respectively, at December 31, 2004, in accrued
liabilities and other. If the Modified CE Plan and Lummus
Plan become effective, certain amounts will be reclassified 
as of the effective date to other long-term liabilities based 
on the timing of the future cash payments to the Asbestos 
PI Trust or any similar trust created under the Lummus 
Plan. Future earnings will be affected by mark-to-market
adjustments relating to the CE Settlement Shares through
the effective date of the Plan, as well as contingent
payments when they become probable of payment. The
provisions as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, were based
on our obligations under the CE Plan and assumed that 
the CE Plan would be confirmed and become effective as
proposed. 

In light of the decision of the Court of Appeals, we have
made a separate provision as of December 31, 2004 with
respect to Basic in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standard Board Statement No.5, Accounting for
Contingencies, and Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No.14, Reasonable Estimation of the Amount
of a Loss: an interpretation of FASB Statement No.5.
With respect to Basic, we have established a provision of 
$5 million relating to its asbestos-related liabilities based on
analysis of historical claims statistics and related settlement
costs and a projection of such claims activity over the next
several years.

Management believes that it is probable that the full amount
of the relevant provisions will be required to settle the
respective asbestos-related liabilities of Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic. We may incur liability
greater than the existing provisions, whether in connection
with a modified plan of bankruptcy or otherwise, but
management does not believe that the amount of any such
incremental liability can be reasonably estimated or that there
is a better estimate of these liabilities than the amounts that
are provided for.

Our provisions in respect of asbestos-related claims include,
as stated above, amounts for each of Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic. The assets of Combustion
Engineering include amounts receivable of approximately
$221 million, $232 million and $241 million at December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, for probable insurance
recoveries, which were established with respect to asbestos-
related claims. 

The ultimate outcome of our efforts to resolve the asbestos-
related personal injury claims against Combustion
Engineering and other entities of ours (including any such
claims against third parties indemnified by entities of ours)
remains uncertain. The related costs may be higher than our
provisions reflect and could have a material adverse impact
on our consolidated financial position, results of operations
and cash flows. In the event the Modified CE Plan or
Lummus Plan do not become effective, the ultimate cost for
the resolution of asbestos-related personal injury claims
against Combustion Engineering and Lummus may be
significantly higher and could have a material adverse impact
on our consolidated financial position, results of operations
and cash flows.
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Consolidated Income Statements

Year ended December 31 (in millions, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002

Revenues $ 20,721 $ 20,427 $ 19,472
Cost of sales (15,757) (15,928) (15,098)
Gross profit 4,964 4,499 4,374

Selling, general and administrative expenses (3,786) (3,917) (4,050)
Amortization expense (45) (31) (45)
Other income (expense), net (49) (194) (80)
Earnings before interest and taxes 1,084 357 199

Interest and dividend income 164 152 194
Interest and other finance expense (387) (569) (327)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes and minority interest 861 (60) 66

Provision for taxes (311) (245) (81)
Minority interest (102) (66) (111)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 448 (371) (126)

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (483) (408) (693)
Net loss $ (35) $ (779) $ (819)

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.22 $ (0.30) $ (0.11)
Net loss $ (0.02) $ (0.64) $ (0.74)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.22 $ (0.30) $ (0.27)
Net loss $ (0.02) $ (0.64) $ (0.86)

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

at December 31(in millions, except share data) 2004 2003

Cash and equivalents $ 3,676 $ 4,783
Marketable securities and short-term investments 524 473
Receivables, net 6,330 6,049
Inventories, net 2,977 2,671
Prepaid expenses and other 1,688 1,794
Assets held for sale and in discontinued operations 155 4,981
Total current assets 15,350 20,751

Financing receivables, non-current 1,233 1,372
Property, plant and equipment, net 2,981 2,858
Goodwill 2,602 2,528
Other intangible assets, net 493 601
Prepaid pension and other employee benefits 549 564
Investments and other 1,469 1,727
Total assets $ 24,677 $ 30,401

Accounts payable, trade $ 4,272 $ 4,034
Accounts payable, other 1,437 1,395
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term borrowings 633 1,644
Accrued liabilities and other 6,436 5,957
Liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations 290 3,990
Total current liabilities 13,068 17,020

Long-term borrowings 4,901 6,290
Pension and other employee benefits 1,551 1,790
Deferred taxes 953 1,022
Other liabilities 1,083 1,077
Total liabilities 21,556 27,199

Minority interest 297 285
Stockholders’ equity:

Capital stock and additional paid-in capital 3,083 3,067
Retained earnings 1,725 1,760
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,846) (1,772)
Less: Treasury stock, at cost (11,611,529 shares at December 31, 2004 and 2003) (138) (138)

Total stockholders’ equity 2,824 2,917
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 24,677 $ 30,401

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 (in millions) 2004 2003 2002

Operating activities:
Net loss $ (35) $ (779) $ (819)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 633 585 611
Provisions 92 (728) (132)
Pension and postretirement benefits 55 21 37
Deferred taxes 3 47 (123)
Net gain from sale of property, plant and equipment (36) (26) (23)
Loss on sale of discontinued operations 63 38 194
Other 167 411 (164)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Marketable securities (trading) 43 13 498
Trade receivables (160) 85 627
Inventories (74) 238 369
Trade payables (63) (381) 79
Other assets and liabilities, net 274 303 (1,154)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 962 (173) –

Investing activities:
Changes in financing receivables 176 390 264
Purchases of marketable securities and short-term investments (other than trading) (2,877) (2,781) (4,377)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (543) (547) (602)
Acquisitions of businesses (net of cash acquired) (24) (55) (144)
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities and short-term investments (other than trading) 2,317 3,049 4,525
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 123 155 476
Proceeds from sales of businesses (net of cash disposed) 1,182 543 2,509
Net cash provided by investing activities 354 754 2,651

Financing activities:
Net changes in borrowings with maturities of 90 days or less (104) (99) (1,677)
Increases in borrowings 265 1,976 9,069
Repayment of borrowings (2,913) (2,893) (10,188)
Treasury and capital stock transactions (36) 2,675 –
Other (17) (56) 3
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,805) 1,603 (2,793)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents 74 150 141
Adjustment for the net change in cash and equivalents in assets 
held for sale and in discontinued operations 308 (80) 60
Net change in cash and equivalents – continuing operations (1,107) 2,254 59
Cash and equivalents beginning of year 4,783 2,529 2,470
Cash and equivalents end of year $ 3,676 $ 4,783 $ 2,529

Interest paid $ 382 $ 438 $ 482
Taxes paid $ 379 $ 238 $ 298

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

For the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 (in millions) Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Capital Unrealized Unrealized Total
stock and Foreign gain (loss) Minimum gain (loss) accumulated
additional currency on available- pension of cash other Total

paid-in Retained translation for-sale liability flow hedge comprehensive Treasury stockholders’
capital earnings adjustment securities adjustment derivatives loss stock equity

Balance at January1, 2002 $ 2,028 $ 3,358 $ (1,521) $ (41) $ (49) $ (87) $ (1,698) $ (1,750) $ 1,938
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss (819) (819)
Foreign currency 
translation adjustments (304) (304) (304)
Accumulated foreign currency 
translation adjustments allocated 
to divestments of businesses 90 90 90
Effect of change in fair value 
of available-for-sale securities, 
net of tax of $1 3 3 3
Minimum pension liability 
adjustments, net of tax of $30 (107) (107) (107)
Change in derivatives qualifying 
as cash flow hedges, 
net of tax of $52 131 131 131
Total comprehensive loss (1,006)

Other (1) (1)
Balance at December 31, 2002 2,027 2,539 (1,735) (38) (156) 44 (1,885) (1,750) 931
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss (779) (779)
Foreign currency 
translation adjustments 25 25 25
Accumulated foreign currency 
translation adjustments allocated 
to divestments of businesses (37) (37) (37)
Effect of change in fair value 
of available-for-sale securities, 
net of tax of $18 65 65 65
Minimum pension liability 
adjustments, net of tax of $5 19 19 19
Change in derivatives qualifying
as cash flow hedges,
net of tax of $13 41 41 41
Total comprehensive loss (666)

Sale of treasury stock (1,456) 1,612 156
Capital stock issued in connection
with rights offering, net 2,487 2,487
Call options 9 9
Balance at December 31, 2003 3,067 1,760 (1,747) 27 (137) 85 (1,772) (138) 2,917
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss (35) (35)
Foreign currency 
translation adjustments 19 19 19
Accumulated foreign currency 
translation adjustments allocated 
to divestments of businesses 20 20 20
Effect of change in fair value 
of available-for-sale securities,
net of tax of $6 (15) (15) (15)
Minimum pension liability 
adjustments, net of tax of $37 (69) (69) (69)
Change in derivatives qualifying 
as cash flow hedges, 
net of tax of $16 (29) (29) (29)
Total comprehensive loss (109)

Call options 8 8
Other 8 8
Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 3,083 $ 1,725 $ (1,708) $ 12 $ (206) $ 56 $ (1,846) $ (138) $ 2,824

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

Note 1 The company
ABB Ltd and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) is a leading global company in power and automation technologies that enable utility and
industry customers to improve performance while lowering environmental impact.The Company works with customers to engineer and install
networks, facilities and plants with particular emphasis on enhancing efficiency and productivity for customers that source, transform, transmit and
distribute energy.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies
The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Basis of presentation
The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles and are presented
in United States dollars ($) unless otherwise stated. Par value of capital stock is denominated in Swiss francs.

Scope of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include100 percent of the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, income, loss and cash flows of ABB Ltd
and companies in which ABB Ltd has a controlling interest (subsidiaries), as if ABB Ltd and its subsidiaries were a single company. Intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Minority interest is calculated for entities fully consolidated but not wholly owned. The components
of net income and equity attributable to the minority shareholders are presented in the minority interest line items included in the Consolidated Income
Statements and Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively.

Effective January31,2003,variable interest entities (VIEs) are consolidated when the Company is considered the primary beneficiary. Also, effective
January31,2003, previously consolidated VIEs would be deconsolidated when a triggering event, as defined by Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation No.46(R) (FIN 46R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – an Interpretation of ARB No.51, indicates the Company is no
longer the primary beneficiary. For those VIEs where the Company is not the primary beneficiary, existing consolidation policies are applied. See Note 8
for information relating to the impact of adopting FIN 46R.

Investments in joint ventures and affiliated companies in which the Company has significant influence, but not a controlling interest, are accounted
for using the equity method.This is generally presumed to exist when the Company owns between 20 percent and 50 percent of the investee. In
certain circumstances, the Company’s ownership is between 20 percent and 50 percent of the investee but it consolidates the investment because
the Company participates in significant operating and financial decisions of the investee.

Under the equity method, the Company’s investment in and amounts due to and from an equity investee are included in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets; the Company’s share of an investee’s earnings is included in the Consolidated Income Statements; and the dividends, cash distributions,
loans or other cash received from the investee, additional cash investments, loan repayments or other cash paid to the investee, are included in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets and the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Additionally, the carrying values of investments accounted for using
the equity method of accounting are adjusted downward to reflect any other-than-temporary declines in value.

Investments in non-public companies in which the Company does not have a controlling interest or significant influence are accounted for at cost.This
is generally presumed to exist when the Company owns less than 20 percent of the investee. Dividends and other distributions of earnings from these
investments are included in income when received.The carrying value of investments accounted for using the cost method of accounting are adjusted
downward to reflect any other-than-temporary declines in value.

Reclassifications
Amounts reported for prior years in the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation, primarily as a result of the application of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.144 (SFAS144), Accounting for the Impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, in reflecting assets and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations.

Operating cycle
A portion of the Company’s operating cycle, including long-term construction activities, exceeds one year. For classification of current assets and
liabilities related to these types of construction activities, the Company elected to use the duration of the contract as its operating cycle.

Use of estimates
The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts
and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentrations of credit risk
The Company sells a broad range of products, systems and services to a wide range of industrial and commercial customers throughout the world.
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited, as the Company’s customer base is comprised of a large number of individual
customers. Ongoing credit evaluations of customers’ financial positions are performed and, generally, no collateral is required.

Subsequent to the sale of a significant portion of the Company’s Structured Finance business during 2002, the Financial Services activities of the
Company were substantially reduced. As a consequence of this divestment, the credit risk of the Company’s remaining Financial Services activities is
primarily concentrated in the remaining lease and loan portfolio. Policies and procedures to control the remaining credit risks include measurements to
develop and ensure the maintenance of a diversified portfolio through the active monitoring of counterparty, country and industry exposure.
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The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses and such losses, in the aggregate, are in line with the Company’s expectations.

It is Company policy to invest cash in deposits with banks throughout the world with certain minimum credit ratings and in high quality, low risk, liquid
investments.The Company actively manages its credit risk by routinely reviewing the creditworthiness of the banks and the investments held, as well
as maintaining such investments in deposits or liquid investments.The Company has not incurred significant credit losses related to such investments.

The Company’s exposure to credit risk on derivative financial instruments is the risk that a counterparty will fail to meet its obligations.To reduce this
risk, the Company has credit policies that require the establishment and periodic review of credit limits for individual counterparties. In addition, the
Company has entered into close-out netting agreements with most counterparties. Close-out netting agreements provide for the termination, valuation
and net settlement of some or all outstanding transactions between two counterparties on the occurrence of one or more pre-defined trigger events.

Cash and equivalents
Cash and equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and equivalents does not include restricted
cash of $452 million and $433 million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively, which are reflected as long-term assets.

Marketable securities and short-term investments
Debt and equity securities are classified as either trading or available-for-sale at the time of purchase and are carried at fair value. Debt and equity
securities that are purchased and held principally for the purpose of sale in the near term are classified as trading securities and unrealized gains
and losses thereon are included in the determination of earnings. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are excluded from the
determination of earnings and are instead recognized in the accumulated other comprehensive loss component of stockholders’ equity, net of
tax (accumulated other comprehensive loss) until realized. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are computed based upon the
historical cost of these securities applied using the specific identification method. Declines in fair values of available-for-sale securities that are 
other-than-temporary are included in the determination of earnings.

The Company analyzes its available-for-sale securities for impairment during each reporting period to evaluate whether an event or change in
circumstances has occurred in that period that may have a significant adverse effect on the fair value of the investment.The Company records an
impairment charge through current period earnings and adjusts the cost basis for such other-than-temporary declines in fair value when the
fair value is not anticipated to recover above cost within a three-month period after the measurement date unless there are mitigating factors that
indicate an impairment charge through earnings may not be required. If an impairment charge is recorded, subsequent recoveries in fair value are
not reflected in earnings until sale of the security.

Revenue recognition
The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of manufactured products when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the price is fixed
or determinable, collectibility is reasonably assured and upon transfer of title, including the risks and rewards of ownership to the customer, or upon the
rendering of services. If contracts for sale of manufactured products require installation that can only be performed by the Company, revenues are
deferred until installation of the products is complete. In accordance with Emerging IssuesTask Force No.00-21,Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables,when multiple elements such as products and services are contained in a single arrangement or in related arrangements with the same
customer, the Company allocates revenues to each element based on its relative fair value, provided that such element meets the criteria for treatment
as a separate unit of accounting. Revenues from contracts that contain customer acceptance provisions are deferred until customer acceptance
occurs, the Company has tested to the level required to ensure that acceptance will occur or the contractual acceptance period has lapsed.

Revenues under long-term contracts are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.The Company principally uses the
cost-to-cost or delivery events methods to measure progress towards completion on contracts. Management determines the method to be used by
type of contract based on its judgment as to which method best measures actual progress towards completion. Revenues under cost-reimbursement
contracts are recognized as costs are incurred.

Product-related expenses and contract loss provisions
Anticipated costs for warranties are recorded when revenues are recognized. Losses on product and maintenance-type contracts are recognized in the
period when they are identified and are based upon the anticipated excess of contract costs over the related contract revenues. Shipping and handling
costs are recorded as a component of cost of sales.

Receivables
The Company accounts for the securitization of trade receivables in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.140 (SFAS140),
Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS140 requires an entity to recognize the financial
and servicing assets it controls and the liabilities it has incurred and to derecognize financial assets when control has been surrendered, as evaluated in
accordance with the criteria provided in SFAS140.

The Company accounts for the transfer of its receivables to Qualifying Special Purpose Entities (QSPEs) as a sale of those receivables to the extent
that consideration other than beneficial interests in the transferred accounts receivable is received.The Company does not recognize the transfer as a
sale unless the receivables have been put presumptively beyond the reach of the Company and its creditors, even in bankruptcy or other receivership.
In addition, the QSPEs must obtain the right to pledge or exchange the transferred receivables, and the Company cannot retain the ability or obligation
to repurchase or redeem the transferred receivables.

At the time the receivables are sold, the balances are removed from trade receivables and a retained interest or deferred purchase price component
is recorded in other receivables.The retained interest is recorded at its estimated fair value. Costs associated with the sale of receivables are included in
the determination of earnings.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued 
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The Company, in its normal course of business, sells receivables outside its securitization programs without recourse (see Note7). Sales or transfers
that do not meet the requirements of SFAS140 are accounted for as secured borrowings.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined using either the first-in, first-out or the weighted-average cost method) or market. Inventoried
costs relating to percentage-of-completion contracts are stated at actual production costs, including overhead incurred to date, reduced by amounts
recognized in cost of sales. For inventory relating to long-term contracts, inventoried costs include amounts relating to contracts with long production
cycles, a portion of which is not expected to be realized within one year.

Impairment of long-lived assets and accounting for discontinued operations
Long-lived assets that are “held and used” are assessed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset
may not be recoverable. If the asset’s net carrying value exceeds the asset’s net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated over its remaining
useful life, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its estimated fair value, pursuant to the measurement criteria of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No.144 (SFAS144), Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.The Company adopted SFAS144
as of January1,2002. In the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, the amounts related to businesses with assets and liabilities held for sale and
in discontinued operations are not segregated, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.95, Statement of Cash Flows.

In accordance with SFAS144, the Company includes in assets and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations the assets and liabilities that
meet certain criteria with respect to the Company’s plans for their sale or abandonment. Depreciation and amortization cease when the asset meets
the criteria to be classified as held for sale. If (1) a planned or completed disposal involves a component (disposal group) of the Company whose
operations and cash flows can be distinguished operationally and for financial reporting purposes; (2) such operations and cash flows will be (or have
been) eliminated from the Company’s ongoing operations; and (3) the Company will not have any significant continuing involvement in the disposal
group, then the disposal group’s results of operations are presented as discontinued operations for all periods. Operating losses from discontinued
operations are recognized in the period in which they occur. Long-lived assets (or groups of assets and related liabilities) classified as held for sale, are
measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. 

In addition to the interest expense contained within businesses classified as discontinued operations, a portion of the Company’s interest expense is
reclassified from interest and other finance expense to loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
No.87-24 (EITF 87-24), Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations. Such amounts were $20 million, $33 million and $41million in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.These amounts were calculated based upon the ratio of net assets of the discontinued business less debt that is required to be
paid as a result of the disposal, divided by the sum of total net assets and total debt (other than the portion of debt directly attributable to other
operations of the Company, debt of the discontinued operation that will be assumed by the buyer and debt that is required to be paid as a result of the
disposal transaction).This ratio was multiplied by the portion of total interest expense not directly attributable to other operations of the Company to
arrive at allocable interest attributable to businesses reflected as discontinued operations.

Goodwill and other intangible assets 
The excess of cost over the fair value of net assets of acquired businesses is recorded as goodwill. The Company accounts for its goodwill in
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.142 (SFAS142), Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Under SFAS142, effective
January1,2002, the Company ceased amortizing goodwill. In accordance with SFAS142, goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and also
upon the occurrence of a triggering event requiring the re-assessment of a business’ carrying value of its goodwill.The Company performs its
annual impairment assessment on October1. A fair value approach is used to identify potential goodwill impairment and,when necessary, measure
the amount of impairment.The Company uses a discounted cash flow model to determine the fair value of reporting units, unless there is a readily
determinable fair market value.

The cost of acquired intangible assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, typically ranging from 3 to10 years.
Intangible assets are tested for impairment upon the occurrence of certain triggering events.

Capitalized software costs
Capitalized costs of software for internal use are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, typically
ranging from 3 to 5 years. Capitalized costs of a software product to be sold are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No.86, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed, and are carried at the lower of
unamortized cost or net realizable value until the product is available for general release to customers, at which time capitalization ceases and costs
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated life of the product.The Company expenses costs incurred prior to technological feasibility, and
thereafter capitalizes costs incurred in developing or obtaining software for internal use and for software products to be sold.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:10 to 50 years for buildings and leasehold improvements and 3 to15 years for machinery and equipment.

Derivative financial instruments
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate and currency exposures, and to a lesser extent commodity exposures,
arising from its global operating, financing and investing activities.The Company’s policies require that its industrial entities hedge their exposure from

Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued 
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firm commitments denominated in foreign currencies, as well as at least fifty percent of the anticipated foreign currency denominated sales volume of
standard products over the next twelve months. In addition, derivative financial instruments were also used for proprietary trading purposes within the
Company’s former Financial Services division and within limits determined by the Company’s Board of Directors until June 2002, when the Company
ceased entering into new positions.

The Company accounts for its derivative financial instruments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.133, Accounting
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as subsequently amended (SFAS133). SFAS133 requires the Company to recognize all derivatives,
other than certain derivatives indexed to the Company’s own stock, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Derivatives that are not
designated as hedges must be adjusted to fair value through earnings. If the derivatives are designated as a hedge, depending on the nature of the
hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivatives will either be offset against the change in fair value of the hedged item through earnings or recognized
in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is
immediately recognized in earnings.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are the primary instrument used to manage foreign exchange risk.Where forward foreign exchange contracts are
designated as cash flow hedges under SFAS133, changes in their fair value are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the hedged
item is recognized in earnings.The Company also enters into forward foreign exchange contracts that serve as economic hedges of existing assets and
liabilities.These are not designated as accounting hedges under SFAS 133 and, consequently, changes in their fair value are reported in earnings where
they offset the translation gain or loss on the foreign currency denominated asset or liability.

To reduce its interest rate and currency exposure arising from its funding activities and to hedge specific assets, the Company uses interest rate and
currency swaps. Where interest rate swaps are designated as fair value hedges, the changes in fair value of the swaps are recognized in earnings, as
are the changes in the fair value of the underlying assets or liabilities.Where such interest rate swaps do not qualify for the short cut method as defined
under SFAS133, any ineffectiveness is included in earnings. Where interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedges, their change in value is
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the hedged item is recognized in earnings.

All other swaps, futures, options and forwards that are designated as effective hedges of specific assets, liabilities or committed or forecasted
transactions are recognized in earnings consistent with the effects of the hedged transactions.

If an underlying hedged transaction is terminated early, the hedging derivative financial instrument is treated as if terminated simultaneously, with any
gain or loss on termination of the derivative immediately recognized in earnings. Where derivative financial instruments have been designated as
hedges of forecasted transactions, and such forecasted transactions become probable of not occurring, hedge accounting ceases and any derivative
gain or loss previously included in accumulated other comprehensive loss is reclassified into earnings.

Certain commercial contracts may grant rights to the Company or other counterparties, or contain other provisions considered to be derivatives under
SFAS 133. Such embedded derivatives are assessed at inception of the contract and depending on their characteristics accounted for as separate
derivative instruments pursuant to SFAS133.

Sale-leasebacks
The Company periodically enters into transactions accounted for as sale-leasebacks, in which fixed assets, generally real estate and/or equipment,
are sold to a third party and then leased for use by the Company. Under certain circumstances, the necessary criteria to recognize a sale of the assets
may not occur, and the transaction is reflected as a financing transaction, with the proceeds received from the transaction reflected as a borrowing
or as a deposit liability.When the necessary criteria have been met to recognize a sale, gains or losses on the sale of the assets are generally deferred
and amortized over the term of the transaction, except in certain limited instances when a portion of the gain or loss may be recognized.The lease
of the assets is accounted for as either an operating lease or a capital lease depending upon its specific terms, as required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No.13, Accounting for Leases. By their nature, sale-leaseback transactions are generally highly structured and complex
transactions, which therefore require detailed analyses to be made by the Company in determining the appropriate accounting treatment.

Insurance
The following accounting policies apply specifically to the Reinsurance business. In April 2004, the Company completed the sale of its Reinsurance
business and reflected the results of operations in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, and the assets and liabilities in assets and liabilities held
for sale and in discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Premiums and acquisition costs
Premiums were generally earned pro rata over the period coverage was provided. Premiums earned included estimates of certain premiums due,
including adjustments on retrospectively rated contracts. Premium receivables included premiums related to retrospectively rated contracts that
represented the estimate of the difference between provisional premiums received and the ultimate premiums due. Unearned premiums represented
the portion of premiums written that was applicable to the unexpired terms of reinsurance contracts or certificates in force.These unearned premiums
were calculated by the monthly pro rata method or were based on reports from ceding companies. Acquisition costs were costs related to the
acquisition of new business and renewals.These costs were deferred and charged against earnings ratably over the terms of the related policy.

Profit commission
Certain contracts carried terms and conditions that resulted in the payment of profit commissions. Estimates of profit commissions were reviewed
based on underwriting experience to date and, as adjustments become necessary, such adjustments were reflected in earnings.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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Loss and loss adjustment expenses
Loss and loss adjustment expenses were charged to operations as incurred.The liabilities for unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses were
determined on the basis of reports from ceding companies and underwriting associations, as well as estimates by management and in-house actuaries,
including those for incurred, but not reported, losses, salvage and subrogation recoveries. Inherent in the estimates of losses were expected trends
of frequency, severity and other factors that could vary significantly as claims were settled.The Company estimated expected trends using actuarial
methods widely used in the insurance industry, such as the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method, utilizing the Company’s historically paid and incurred losses. 

Fees
Contracts that neither result in the transfer of insurance risk nor the reasonable possibility of significant loss to the reinsurer were accounted for as
financing arrangements rather than reinsurance. Consideration received for such contracts was reflected as accounts payable, other, and was
amortized on a pro rata basis over the life of the contract.

Funds withheld
Under the terms of certain reinsurance agreements, the ceding reinsurer retained a portion of the premium to provide security for expected loss
payments.The funds withheld were generally invested by the ceding reinsurer and earn an investment return that became additional funds withheld.

Reinsurance
The Company sought to reduce the loss that may have arisen from catastrophes and other events that may have caused unfavorable underwriting
results by reinsuring certain levels of risks with other insurance enterprises or reinsurers. Reinsurance contracts were accounted for by reducing
premiums earned by amounts paid to the reinsurers. Recoverable amounts were established for paid and unpaid losses and loss adjustment expense
ceded to the reinsurer. Amounts recoverable from the reinsurer were estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the
reinsurance policy. Contracts where it was not reasonably possible that the reinsurer would realize a significant loss from the insurance risk generally
did not meet the conditions for reinsurance accounting and were recorded as deposits.The Company assessed probability of risks transferred in
significant loss realization based on the terms in the reinsurance contract that impact the timing and amount of reimbursement under the contract
and the present value of all cash flows without regard to how cash flows are characterized, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No.113, Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of Short Duration and Long Duration Contracts.

Translation of foreign currencies and foreign exchange transactions
The functional currency for most of the Company’s operations is the applicable local currency.The translation from the applicable functional currencies
into the Company’s reporting currency is performed for balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and for
income statement accounts using average rates of exchange prevailing during the year.The resulting translation adjustments are excluded from the
determination of earnings and are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the entity is sold, substantially liquidated or being
evaluated for impairment in anticipation of disposal.

Foreign currency exchange gains and losses, such as those resulting from foreign currency denominated receivables or payables, are included in the
determination of earnings, except as they relate to intra-Company loans that are equity-like in nature with no reasonable expectation of repayment,
which are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

In highly inflationary countries, monetary balance sheet positions in local currencies are converted into U.S.dollars at the year-end rate. Fixed assets
are kept at historical U.S.dollar values from acquisition dates. Sales and expenses are converted at the exchange rates prevailing upon the date of the
transaction. All translation gains and losses resulting from the restatement of balance sheet positions are included in the determination of earnings.

Taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for deferred taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. For financial statement purposes the
Company records a deferred tax asset when it determines that it is probable that the deduction will be sustained based upon the deduction’s technical
merit. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to reflect the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

Generally, deferred taxes are not provided on the unremitted earnings of subsidiaries to the extent it is expected that these earnings are permanently
reinvested. Such earnings may become taxable upon the sale or liquidation of these subsidiaries or upon the remittance of dividends. Deferred taxes
are provided in situations where the Company’s subsidiaries plan to make future dividend distributions.

The Company operates in numerous tax jurisdictions and, as a result, is regularly subject to audit by tax authorities.The Company provides for tax
contingencies relating to audits by tax authorities based upon its best estimate of the facts and circumstances as of each reporting period. Changes in
the facts and circumstances could result in a material change to the tax accruals.The Company provides for contingencies whenever it is deemed
probable that a tax asset has been impaired or a tax liability has been incurred for events such as tax claims or changes in tax laws. 

Research and development
Research and development expense was $690 million, $635 million and $572 million in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.These costs are included
in selling, general and administrative expenses.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued 
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Earnings per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year,
assuming that all potentially dilutive securities were exercised, if dilutive. Potentially dilutive securities comprise: outstanding written call options, if
dilutive; the securities issued under the Company’s employee incentive plans, if dilutive; and shares issuable in relation to outstanding convertible bonds,
if dilutive (see Notes15,22 and 24).

Stock-based compensation
The Company has certain employee incentive plans under which it offers stock-based securities to employees.The plans are described more fully
in Note 22.The Company accounts for such stock-based securities using the intrinsic value method of APB Opinion No.25 (APB 25), Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, as permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.123 (SFAS123), Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation. All such securities were issued with exercise prices greater than or equal to the market prices of the stock on the dates of grant.
Accordingly, the Company has recorded no compensation expense related to these securities, except in circumstances when a participant receives
appreciation rights or ceases to be employed by a consolidated subsidiary, such as after a divestment by the Company.The following table illustrates
the effect on net loss and on loss per share (see Note 24) if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS123 to stock-based
employee compensation. Fair value of these securities offered to employees was determined on the date of grant by using a dynamic proprietary
option-pricing model (see Note 22).

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Net loss, as reported $ (35) $ (779) $ (819)
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined 
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (8) (11) (22)
Pro forma net loss $ (43) $ (790) $ (841)

Loss per share:
Basic – as reported $ (0.02) $ (0.64) $ (0.74)
Basic – pro forma $ (0.02) $ (0.65) $ (0.76)

Diluted – as reported $ (0.02) $ (0.64) $ (0.86)
Diluted – pro forma $ (0.02) $ (0.65) $ (0.88)

New accounting pronouncements
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No.46 (FIN 46), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities – an
Interpretation of ARB No.51. FIN 46 requires variable interest entities (VIEs) to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries. During 2003, the
Company adopted the requirements of FIN 46 and applied the guidance to VIEs in which the Company has an interest. See Note 8 for information
relating to the impact of adopting FIN 46. FIN 46 was revised in December 2003.The Company adopted the December revision (FIN 46R) effective
March 31,2004.The adoption of FIN 46R did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In December2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No.123R (SFAS123R), Share-Based Payment, which replaces
SFAS123 and APB25 and requires the Company to measure compensation cost for all share-based payments at fair value.The Company plans
to adopt SFAS123R as of July1,2005.The Company will recognize share-based employee compensation cost from July1,2005, as if the fair-value-
based accounting method had been used to account for all employee awards granted, modified, or settled after the effective date and for any
awards that were not fully vested as of the effective date. Based on currently existing share-based compensation plans, the Company does not
expect the adoption of SFAS123R to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

Note 3 Discontinued operations
In December 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors approved management’s plans to sell the Company’s Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business. 
As discussed below, the Company completed the sale of the upstream part of the Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business (Upstream business) in July
2004. In December 2002 management did not believe the divestment of the remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business would be contingent 
on the resolution of the asbestos litigation facing Combustion Engineering, Inc, a subsidiary of the Company, as described in Note 18. Subsequently,
after discussions with potential purchasers, management determined the divestment would likely only occur upon a pre-packaged plan of
reorganization for Combustion Engineering, Inc becoming effective. Following the U.S. Third Circuit Court’s decision in December 2004 that effectively
reversed the District Court’s confirmation order regarding the reorganization under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code of Combustion Engineering, Inc, the
Company determined it no longer met the criteria required to continue to classify the remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business in discontinued
operations. Therefore, as of the fourth quarter of 2004, the results of operations of the remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business were reclassified
to continuing operations for all periods presented. Additionally, the assets and liabilities of the remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business are no
longer included in assets and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations but have been reclassified to the appropriate asset and liability lines 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet for all periods presented. The remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business had revenues of $1,076 million, 
$1,876 million and $2,314 million and losses before interest and taxes of $4 million, $296 million and $142 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The following are divestments of businesses no longer pursued for strategic reasons and which are in line with the Company’s strategy to focus on
PowerTechnologies and AutomationTechnologies as described in Note 26.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies, continued
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During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company reclassified most of its Power Lines business, part of the PowerTechnologies division, to discontinued
operations.The businesses that have been reclassified are in Brazil,which was abandoned in the fourth quarter of 2004, and Nigeria and Italy, whose
sales were completed in January and February2005, respectively. Also reclassified is the business in Germany, which the Company plans to sell
during 2005. These reclassified businesses had revenues of $117million, $187million and $254 million and net losses of $75 million, $10 million and
$17million for the years ended December 31,2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.The net loss related to these businesses in 2004 relates to operational
losses of $46 million and costs to sell these businesses of $29 million. Losses recorded in 2003 and 2002 relate to operational losses incurred in such
years.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company reclassified its Foundry business, part of the AutomationTechnologies division, to discontinued
operations.The Company plans to sell this business in 2005.The Foundry business had revenues of $41million, $45 million and $49 million and net
losses of $17million, $0 million and $0 million for the years ended December31,2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.The net loss recorded in 2004
includes $10 million related to costs to sell the Foundry business.

In January 2004, the Company agreed to sell the Upstream business to a consortium of private equity investors consisting of Candover Partners
Limited, JP Morgan Partners LLC and 3i Group PLC (collectively, the “Purchasers”). In July 2004, the Company completed the sale of the Upstream
business for an initial purchase price of $925 million. Net cash proceeds from the sale were approximately $800 million, reflecting the initial sales price
adjusted for unfunded pension liabilities and changes in net working capital.The Upstream business had revenues of $855 million, $1,499 million
and $1,535 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and net losses of $70 million and $44 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, and net income
of $14 million in 2002. Included in the $70 million net loss recorded in 2004 is the loss on sale of approximately $26 million which includes goodwill and
other intangible assets of approximately $350 million. On February 9, 2005, the Company and the Purchasers entered into a Settlement Agreement
and Amendment (Settlement Agreement) finalizing the sales price. The Settlement Agreement also contains provisions to indemnify the Purchasers
with respect to certain incomplete projects (see Note 18).The Company believes the provisions recorded for such indemnified projects are adequate.

In April 2004, the Company completed the sale of its Reinsurance business to White Mountains Insurance Group Limited, a Bermuda-based insurance
holding company, receiving gross cash proceeds of $415 million and net cash proceeds of approximately $280 million. As a result of the anticipated
sale, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $154 million in the fourth quarter of 2003.The Company recorded losses totaling $41 million
and $97million in 2004 and 2003, and net income of $22 million in 2002 and revenues of $139 million, $782 million and $644 million in 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.The $41million net loss related primarily to foreign exchange effects of the business in 2004 through the date of sale.The 2003
net loss of $97million includes a $154 million impairment charge, income from operations of approximately $72 million and an allocation of interest
of $15 million in accordance with EITF 87-24.The impairment charge recorded in 2003 from the anticipated disposal of the Reinsurance business of
$154 million was principally comprised of an asset write-down of $48 million, goodwill and other intangible write-offs of $89 million, selling costs
of $25 million, deferred tax write-offs of approximately $16 million, offset in part by an accumulated foreign currency translation gain of $24 million.

In November 2002, the Company completed the sale of most of its Structured Finance business to General Electric Capital Corporation (GE) and
received cash proceeds of approximately $2.0 billion, including a contingent payment of $20 million to be released to the Company should amounts
ultimately collected by GE, from a portfolio transferred by the Company to GE, reach specified targets.The Company received the last portion of
the contingent payment amount in August 2004.The Company’s Structured Finance business had revenues of $262 million in 2002, and a net loss
of $183 million in 2002.The 2002 net loss of $183 million included a $146 million loss on disposal, loss from operations of $22 million and the
allocation of interest expense of $15 million in accordance with EITF87-24.The loss on disposal of $146 million was principally comprised of asset
write-downs of $15 million, goodwill and other intangible write-offs of $2 million, transaction costs of $27million, the fair value for GE’s right to
require the Company to repurchase certain designated assets of $38 million, capital tax expense associated with the disposal of $10 million and an
accumulated foreign currency translation loss of $54 million. Upon final settlement in 2004 of a purchase price dispute with GE, the Company
recorded a net gain of $14 million.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the Company provided GE with cash collateralized letters of credit totaling $202 million as security
for certain performance-related obligations retained by the Company, of which approximately $63 million were outstanding at December31,2004.The
remaining cash collateralized letters of credit will further be reduced as the performance-related obligations of the Company expire.

The sale and purchase agreement provided GE the option to require the Company to repurchase certain designated financial assets transferred to GE
upon the occurrence of certain events, but in any event no later than February1,2004. In January 2004, the Company repurchased the financial assets
for approximately $28 million. No further obligation exists for the Company to repurchase any assets under the sale and purchase agreement with GE.

As a continuation of the Company’s divestment of its Structured Finance business, the Company completed the sale of ABB Export Bank in 
December 2003 for approximately $50 million. ABB Export Bank had revenues of $9 million and $17 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively, and a net
loss of $9 million in 2003 and net income of $10 million in 2002. The 2003 net loss of $9 million in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes
a $12 million loss on disposal, income from operations of $6 million and the allocation of interest expense of $3 million in accordance with EITF 87-24.
The loss on disposal of $12 million was principally comprised of an asset write-down of $20 million, transaction costs of $1 million, capital tax expense
associated with the disposal of $4 million offset by an accumulated foreign currency translation gain of approximately $13 million.

In December 2002, the Company completed the sale of its Metering business to Ruhrgas Industries GmbH of Essen, Germany, for $223 million,
including $15 million held in escrow until certain disputed items were resolved.The cash held in escrow was released after the resolution of these items
in 2003.The Metering business sold to Ruhrgas Industries GmbH had revenues of $372 million and a net loss of $54 million in 2002.The 2002 net
loss of $54 million included a $48 million loss on disposal, loss from operations of $3 million and the allocation of interest expense of $3 million in
accordance with EITF87-24.The loss on disposal of $48 million for the sold business was principally comprised of goodwill and other intangible write-
offs of $65 million, transaction costs and other provisions of $46 million, tax expense associated with the disposal of $21million and an accumulated
foreign currency translation loss of $35 million, offset in part by a gain of $119 million, being the difference between the proceeds received and net
assets of the business. Upon final settlement in 2004 of a purchase price dispute with Ruhrgas Industries GmbH, the Company recorded a net gain
of $12 million.

Note 3 Discontinued operations, continued 
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During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company reclassified its Wind Energy business to discontinued operations. In December 2003, the Company
sold a portion of its Wind Energy business in Germany to GI Ventures AG of Munich, Germany, for proceeds of approximately $35 million including
a vendor note of approximately $10 million.The Wind Energy business had revenues of $0 million, $16 million and $48 million and net losses of
$25 million, $42 million and $1million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.The 2003 net loss of $42 million was comprised principally of a $25 million
loss from disposal (net of a tax benefit of $10 million), asset write-downs of $9 million and a loss from operations of $8 million.The 2004 net loss of
$25 million consisted of an additional impairment charge related to a portion of the unsold Wind Energy business.

In January 2004, the Company completed the sale of its MDCV cable business based in Germany to the Wilms Group of Menden, Germany.This
business was part of the Power Technologies division. It had revenues of $74 million and $78 million and net losses of $24 million and $1million in 2003
and 2002, respectively.The 2003 net loss of $24 million was comprised principally of asset write-downs of $10 million and a loss from operations of 
$14 million.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, also includes costs related to the Company’s potential asbestos obligation of the Company’s U.S.
subsidiary,Combustion Engineering Inc.,of approximately $262 million, $142 million and $395 million in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively 
(see Note18).

Operating results of the discontinued businesses are summarized as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Revenues $ 1,165 $ 2,641 $ 3,379
Costs and expenses, finance loss (1,569) (2,963) (3,818)
Loss before taxes (404) (322) (439)
Tax expense (16) (48) (60)
Net loss from discontinued operations (420) (370) (499)
Loss from dispositions, net of a tax benefit (expense) of $(25) million, 
$6 million and $(31) million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively (63) (38) (194)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (483) $ (408) $ (693)

The components of assets and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations are summarized as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003

Cash and equivalents $ 9 $ 317
Marketable securities and short-term investments – 1,625
Receivables, net 59 1,904
Inventories, net 16 283
Prepaid expenses and other 11 148
Financing receivables, non-current – 10
Goodwill and Other intangible assets 6 360
Property, plant and equipment, net 50 223
Other assets 4 111
Assets held for sale and in discontinued operations $ 155 $ 4,981

Accounts payable $ 49 $ 1,060
Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term borrowings 2 14
Accrued liabilities and other 112 2,425
Long-term borrowings 18 47
Other liabilities, non-current 109 444
Liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations $ 290 $ 3,990

Included in the table above are the assets and the liabilities held for sale of the Building Systems businesses of approximately $81million and $42 million,
respectively, at December31,2003. In accordance with SFAS144, certain Building Systems businesses met the criteria for the classification of assets
and liabilities as held for sale, but did not meet the additional criteria for its results of operations to be classified as discontinued operations (see Note 4).

At December31,2004 and 2003, the Consolidated Balance Sheets included $18 million and $79 million of pledged cash balances, respectively.
Approximately $0 million and $44 million related to the Company’s Reinsurance business and $0 million and $8 million related to the Upstream
business and, as such, were included in assets held for sale and in discontinued operations in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 3 Discontinued operations, continued
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Acquisitions and investments
During 2004,2003, and 2002, the Company invested $24 million, $55 million and $154 million, in 24,24 and 32 new businesses, joint ventures or
affiliated companies, respectively.The aggregate excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired totaled $15 million, 
$2 million and $93 million, in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively, and has been recorded as goodwill. Assuming these acquisitions had occurred on
the first day of the year prior to their purchase, the pro forma Consolidated Income Statements for those years would not have materially differed
from reported amounts either on an individual or an aggregate basis.

Other divestitures
In addition to the sold businesses described under discontinued operations, the Company periodically divests businesses and investments not
considered by management to be aligned with its focus on Power Technologies and Automation Technologies as described in Note 26.The results of
operations of these divested businesses are included in the Company’s Consolidated Income Statements in the respective line items of income from
continuing operations, through the date of disposition.

Divestment of Building Systems businesses
In April 2002, the Company decided to dispose of its Building Systems businesses.The gradual disposal process was envisaged to extend over 
a non-defined period of time preceded by restructurings in several locations.The disposal of the Building Systems businesses contemplated that the
Company would retain an involvement in the disposed operations through a combination of technology license agreements, supplier relationships,
retention of certain orders and participation on the Board of Directors of some of the disposed companies. As a result of these factors, the Company
concluded that classification of the Building Systems businesses as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS144 was not appropriate. 

In August 2003, the Company completed the sale of its Building Systems businesses located in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland, Russia and
the Baltics toYITCorporation of Helsinki, Finland, for consideration of approximately $213 million.The Company recognized a net gain on disposal of
$124 million, which is included in other income (expense), net.

During 2003, the Company completed, in a series of transactions, the sale of its Building Systems businesses located in several other countries,
principally Belgium, the Netherlands, Austria, and the UK for aggregate proceeds of approximately $21million.The Company recognized a net loss
on disposal of $41million, which is included in other income (expense), net.

In February 2004, the Company completed the sale of its Building Systems business located in Switzerland to CapVis Equity Partners AG, a Swiss
private equity company, for a purchase price of approximately $39 million.The Company retained a10 percent ownership interest in the sold business
and recognized a net gain on disposal of $12 million, which is included in other income (expense), net.

Divestment of Air Handling business
In January 2002, the Company sold its Air Handling business to Global Air Movement (Luxembourg) Sarl for proceeds of $147million, including a
vendor note of 39 million euro principal value, issued by the purchaser.The Company recognized a net gain on disposal of $74 million,which is included
in other income (expense), net.

Other divestitures
In June 2003, the Company sold its interests in certain equity investees in Australia for approximately $90 million, resulting in a gain on disposal of 
$28 million recorded in other income (expense), net.

In June 2003, the Company sold its entire 35 percent interest in Swedish Export Credit Corporation to the Government of Sweden for 1,240 million
Swedish krona ($159 million), resulting in net proceeds of approximately $149 million and a loss on disposal of $80 million recorded in other income
(expense), net.

In June 2004, the Company sold a business in Sweden, formerly part of the automation technologies division, for $11million, resulting in a gain on
disposal of $7million recorded in other income (expense), net.

In December 2004, the Company sold its entire15.7percent interest in IXYS Corporation, Santa Clara, California, mainly to institutional investors, for
approximately $42 million and recorded a gain on disposal of $20 million in other income (expense), net.

During 2004,2003 and 2002, the Company sold several operating units and investments, excluding the divestments disclosed above, for total
proceeds of $39 million, $31million and $209 million, respectively, and recognized net gains on disposal of $13 million, $12 million and $24 million,
respectively,which are included in other income (expense), net. Revenues and net income from these businesses and investments were not
significant in 2004,2003 and 2002.

Note 5 Marketable securities and short-term investments
Marketable securities and short-term investments consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Available-for-sale securities $ 263 $ 314
Time deposits 247 142
Securities serving as hedges of the Company’s management incentive plan (see Note 22) 14 17
Total $ 524 $ 473

Note 4 Business combinations and other divestments
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To hedge its exposure to fluctuations in fair value of the Company’s warrant appreciation rights (WARs) issued under the Company’s management
incentive plan, the Company purchases cash-settled call options, which entitle the Company to receive amounts equivalent to its obligations under
the outstanding WARs. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force No. 00-19 (EITF 00-19), Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments
Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock, the cash-settled call options have been recorded as assets measured at fair value,
with subsequent changes in fair value recorded through earnings as an offset to the compensation expense recorded in connection with the WARs.

Available-for-sale securities classified as marketable securities consist of the following:

Unrealized Unrealized
At December 31, 2004: Cost gains losses Fair value

Equity securities $ 28 $ 9 $ – $ 37
Debt securities:

U.S. government obligations 99 – – 99
European government obligations 30 – (1) 29
Corporate 59 1 (1) 59
Other 33 6 – 39

Total debt securities 221 7 (2) 226
Total $ 249 $ 16 $ (2) $ 263

At December 31, 2003:

Equity securities $ 76 $ 25 $ (1) $ 100
Debt securities:

U.S. government obligations 71 2 (1) 72
European government obligations 29 1 (1) 29
Corporate 5 – – 5
Other 87 21 – 108

Total debt securities 192 24 (2) 214
Total $ 268 $ 49 $ (3) $ 314

At December 31, 2004, contractual maturities of the above available-for-sale debt securities consist of the following:
Cost Fair value

Less than one year $ 37 $ 36
One to five years 99 99
Six to ten years 56 57
Due after ten years 29 34
Total $ 221 $ 226

Gross realized gains on available-for-sale securities were $85 million, $8 million and $11million in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.The $85 million
gain included a realized gain of $43 million relating to the non-cash contribution of $549 million of marketable securities to the Company’s German
pension plans as described in Note21. Gross realized losses on available-for-sale securities were $5 million, $2 million and $9 million in 2004,2003 and
2002, respectively. Additionally, in 2004,2003 and 2002, the Company recorded charges of $0 million, $36 million and $6 million, respectively, related
to the impairment of available-for-sale securities.The charges recorded in 2003 and 2002 are included in interest and other finance expense and other
income (expense), net, respectively. In 2003, the Company sold available-for-sale securities in a strategic investment included in investments and other
resulting in realized loss of $40 million, which was recorded in interest and other finance expense.

The following table reflects gross unrealized losses and the fair value of those available-for-sale securities, aggregated by investment category, that at
December31,2004, have been in a continuous unrealized loss position. 

Securities with unrealized losses Securities with unrealized losses
for a period less than12 months for a period greater than12 months

Description of securities: Fair value Unrealized losses Fairvalue Unrealized losses

Corporate obligations $ 29 $ (1) $ – $ –
European government obligations – – 27 (1)

$ 29 $ (1) $ 27 $ (1)

Unrealized losses on equity and debt securities held and classified as available-for-sale are judged to be only temporary based on the creditworthiness
of the obligors as it relates to debt securities and as it relates to all corporate securities held, the financial position of the underlying companies, the
significance of the unrealized losses relative to the asset cost and the duration that the securities have been in an unrealized loss position.

The net change in unrealized gains and losses in fair values of trading securities was not significant in 2004,2003 or 2002.

At December31,2004 and 2003, the Company pledged $51million and $41million, respectively, of marketable securities as collateral for issued letters
of credit and other security arrangements.

Note 5 Marketable securities and short-term investments, continued
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Cash flow hedges
The Company enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk of its operations.To a lesser extent the Company
also uses commodity contracts to manage its commodity risks.Where such instruments are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the changes
in their fair value are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. At such time, the respective
amount in accumulated other comprehensive loss is released to earnings and is shown in either revenues or cost of sales consistent with the
classification of the earnings impact of the underlying transaction being hedged. Any hedge ineffectiveness is included in revenues and cost of sales
but was not significant for 2004 or 2003.

The amount of derivative financial instrument net gains or losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss to earnings was a net gain
of $31million (excluding the $14 million loss described below) and $58 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. It is anticipated that during 2005, 
$30 million of net gains included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December31,2004,will be reclassified to earnings when the underlying
hedged transactions impact earnings. Derivative financial instrument gains and losses reclassified to earnings offset the losses and gains on the items
being hedged.

While the Company’s cash flow hedges are primarily hedges of exposures over the next twelve months, the amount included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss at December31,2004 includes hedges of certain exposures maturing up to 2009.

During 2004, the Company reclassified losses of $14 million from accumulated other comprehensive loss to earnings as a result of the discontinuance
of certain cash flow hedges as it became probable that the original forecasted transactions related to these hedges would not occur within the
forecasted time period.

Fair value hedges
To reduce its interest rate and foreign currency exposures arising primarily from its funding activities, the Company uses interest rate and cross-currency
swaps.Where such instruments are designated as fair value hedges, the changes in fair value of these instruments, as well as the changes in fair value of
the underlying liabilities, are recorded as offsetting gains and losses in the determination of earnings.The hedge ineffectiveness in both 2004 and 2003
resulted in a gain of $11million.

Disclosure about fair values of financial instruments
The Company uses the following methods and assumptions in estimating fair values for financial instruments:

Cash and equivalents, receivables, accounts payable, short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term borrowings:The carrying amounts
approximate the fair values.

Marketable securities and short-term investments: Fair values of marketable securities are based on quoted market prices, where available. If quoted
market prices are not available, fair values are based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments.The carrying amounts of short-term
investments approximate the fair values.

Financing receivables and loans (non-current portion): Fair values are determined using a discounted cash flow methodology based upon loan rates of
similar instruments.The carrying values and estimated fair values of long-term loans granted at December31,2004 were $337million and $337million,
respectively, and at December31,2003 were $437million and $424 million, respectively.

Long-term borrowings (non-current portion): Fair values are based on the present value of future cash flows discounted at estimated borrowing rates
for similar debt instruments or in the case of bond or note issuances, using the relevant borrowing rates derived from interest rate swap curves.
Such swap curves are composed of interest rates quoted by market participants for the relevant maturities, excluding any component associated with
the credit risk of counterparties. As these bonds or note issuances reflect liabilities of the Company, if the Company’s credit rating were reflected in
these discount rates, the present value calculation would result in a lower fair value liability.The carrying values and estimated fair values of long-term
borrowings at December31,2004, were $4,901million and $5,533 million, respectively, and at December31,2003, were $6,290 million and $6,936
million, respectively.

Derivative financial instruments: Fair values are the amounts by which the contracts could be settled.These fair values are estimated by using a
discounted cash flow methodology based on available market data, option pricing models or by obtaining quotes from brokers. At December31,2004
and 2003, the carrying values equal fair values. Current derivative assets are recorded in prepaid expenses and other, and non-current derivative
assets are recorded in investments and other. Current derivative liabilities are recorded in accrued liabilities and other, and non-current derivative
liabilities are recorded in other liabilities. Current derivative assets and current derivative liabilities in 2003 have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation.The fair values are:

December 31, 2004 2003

Derivative assets, current $ 374 $ 398
Derivative assets, non-current 251 287
Total $ 625 $ 685

Derivative liabilities, current $ 324 $ 180
Derivative liabilities, non-current 53 40
Total $ 377 $ 220

Note 6 Financial instruments
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Receivables consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Trade receivables $ 4,022 $ 3,647
Other receivables 1,289 1,263
Allowance (317) (245)

4,994 4,665
Unbilled receivables, net:

Costs and estimated profits in excess of billings 2,257 2,233
Advance payments received (921) (849)

1,336 1,384
Total $ 6,330 $ 6,049

Trade receivables include contractual retention amounts billed to customers of $124 million and $101million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Management expects the majority of related contracts will be completed and substantially all of the billed amounts retained by the
customer will be collected within one year of the respective balance sheet date. Other receivables consist of value added tax, claims, employee and
customer related advances, the current portion of direct finance and sales-type leases and other non-trade receivables, including the retained
interests on sold receivables under the Company’s securitization programs.

Costs and estimated profits in excess of billings represent sales earned and recognized under the percentage-of-completion method. Amounts are
expected to be collected within one year of the respective balance sheet date.

During 2004 and 2003, the Company sold trade receivables to two separate QSPEs, unrelated to the Company, in revolving-period securitizations.
The Company retains servicing responsibility relating to the sold receivables. Solely for the purpose of credit enhancement from the perspective
of the QSPEs, the Company retains an interest in the sold receivables (retained interests).These retained interests are initially measured at estimated
fair values, which the Company believes approximate historical carrying values, and are subsequently measured based on a periodic evaluation of
collections and delinquencies.

Given the short-term, lower-risk nature of the assets securitized, market movements in interest rates would not significantly impact the carrying
value of the Company’s retained interests. An adverse movement in foreign currency rates could have an impact on the carrying value of these
retained interests as the retained interests are denominated in the original currencies underlying the sold receivables.While such remeasurements
are recognized in earnings, the impact has historically not been significant due to the short-term nature of the receivables and economic hedges
in place relating to foreign currency movement risk.

The Company routinely evaluates its portfolio of trade receivables for risk of non-collection and records an allowance for doubtful debts to reflect
the carrying value of its trade receivables at estimated net realizable value. Pursuant to the requirements of the revolving-period securitizations
through which the Company securitizes certain of its trade receivables, the Company effectively bears the risk of potential delinquency or default
associated with trade receivables sold up to the amount of its retained interest relating to the relevant securitization program. Accordingly, in the
normal course of servicing the assets sold, the Company evaluates potential collection losses and delinquencies and updates the estimated fair
value of the Company’s retained interests. An increase in delinquency rates compared to historic levels would cause an increase in the retained
interest. Ultimately, if the customer defaults, the Company will be responsible for absorbing the amount.The fair value of the retained interests at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, was approximately $349 million and $367million, respectively.

In accordance with SFAS140, the Company has not recorded a servicing asset or liability as management believes it is not practicable to estimate
this value given that verifiable data as to the fair value of the compensation and/or cost related to servicing the types of the assets sold are not readily
obtainable nor reliably estimable for the multiple geographic markets in which the entities selling receivables operate.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the following cash flows were received from and paid to QSPEs:

December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Gross trade receivables sold to QSPEs ($25, $505 and $832) (1) $ 5,846 $ 5,661 $ 5,972
Collections made on behalf of and paid to QSPEs ($(23), $(696) and $(753)) (1) (5,713) (5,883) (6,074)
Purchaser, liquidity and program fees ($0, $(2) and $(5)) (1) (20) (21) (37)
Decrease (increase) in retained interests ($0, $117and $(87))(1) 17 124 (245)
Net cash received from (paid to) QSPEs during the year ($2, $(76) and $(13)) (1) $ 130 $ (119) $ (384)
(1) Related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively

Net cash settlements on the Company’s programs take place twice per month. However, in one of the programs there is, in addition, the daily transfer
of collections of sold receivables. Under the terms of the latter program, if the Company’s rating falls below BB+ (Standard & Poor’s) or Ba3 (Moody’s)
then the Company may be required to relinquish its right to collect the sold receivables on behalf of the QSPE, and instead the cash collection of such
sold receivables would be made directly to the account of the QSPE.

The Company records a loss on sale at the time of sale of the receivables to the QSPEs and subsequently records purchaser’s, liquidity and program
fees.The total cost of $20 million, $21million and $37million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to the securitization of trade receivables, is
included in interest and other finance expense.

Note 7 Receivables
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The increase in gross trade receivables sold in 2004 compared to 2003 is due primarily to an increase in the programs’ size, a change in the definition
of receivables eligible to be sold in one program and the addition of new sellers to one of the programs.The decrease in gross receivables sold in 2003
compared to 2002 is due primarily to the fact that businesses which were either classified as discontinued operations or which were sold by the
Company were phased out of the securitization programs during the year.

The following table reconciles total gross receivables to the amounts in the Consolidated Balance Sheets after the effects of securitization at
December31,2004 and 2003:

December 31, 2004 2003

Total trade receivables $ 5,132 $ 4,784
Portion derecognized (710) (508)
Retained interests included in other receivables (373) (390)
Trade receivables 4,049 3,886
Less: Trade receivables included in assets held for sale and in discontinued operations (27) (239)
Trade receivables – continuing operations $ 4,022 $ 3,647

The increase in the portion derecognized at December31,2004, compared to December31,2003, is due primarily to an increase in the programs’ size,
a change in the definition of receivables eligible to be sold in one program and the addition of new sellers to one of the programs.

At December31,2004 and 2003, of the gross trade receivables sold, the total trade receivables for which cash has not been collected at those dates
amounted to $1,083 million and $898 million, respectively. At December31,2004 and 2003, an amount of $54 million and $34 million, respectively,
was more than 90 days past due which is considered delinquent pursuant to the terms of the programs.

In addition, the Company transfers receivables outside of the above described securitization programs.These transfers were sales, made without
recourse, directly to banks and/or sales pursuant to factoring or similar type arrangements.Total sold receivables included in these transactions
during 2004 and 2003 were approximately $902 million and $1,400 million, respectively, of which sales of $159 million and $594 million, respectively,
related to assets held for sale and in discontinued operations. During 2004 and 2003, the related costs, including the associated gains and losses,
were $10 million and $12 million, respectively, of which costs of $1million and $3 million, respectively, related to assets held for sale and in discontinued
operations.

Note 8 Variable interest entities

The following VIEs are consolidated, as the Company is the primary beneficiary as defined by FIN 46R.
In March 2003, the Company sold its aircraft-leasing portfolio in Sweden to a third party. Subsequent to divestment, the Company continued its
involvement in this business by providing significant financial support in the form of mezzanine and subordinated financing of approximately $90 million
to the VIE formed by the buyer upon acquisition, exclusively for the purpose of servicing the aircraft leasing portfolio. As the primary beneficiary of the
VIE, the Company retained approximately $148 million of assets and acquired approximately $84 million of third party long-term borrowings provided to
the VIE at December31,2004. All of the VIE’s assets serve as collateral for the senior debt provided by third parties.The Company has no ownership
interest and there is no recourse to the general credit of the Company.

The Company also has interests in otherVIEs which are consolidated as the Company is considered the primary beneficiary.These VIEs are immaterial
both individually and in the aggregate.

The following VIEs are not consolidated, as the Company is not the primary beneficiary as defined by FIN 46R.
The Company maintains a combined equity and financing interest of approximately $354 million in sixVIEs that were established as joint ventures to
develop power plants in various countries.The Company’s involvement with these VIEs began between 1995 and 2000 at the dates of inception
of the VIEs.The purpose of the VIEs is to contract the engineering, procurement, commissioning and financing of the power plants. At and for the year
ended December31,2004, these VIEs have combined total assets of approximately $2,920 million and reported combined total revenues and
earnings before interest and taxes of $749 million and $308 million, respectively.The exposure to loss as a result of involvement with the VIEs is limited
to the Company’s equity and financing interests.

The Company maintains a 50 percent equity interest in twoVIEs that were established to build four transmission power lines and 22 substations in
Mexico.The equity interests are not significant in value.The Company’s involvement with these VIEs began in September and November1997,
respectively, when theVIEs were formed.The purpose of theVIEs is to contract the engineering, procurement, commissioning and financing of these
projects. At and for the year ended December31,2004, theseVIEs have total assets of approximately $85 million, and reported insignificant combined
total revenues and earnings before interest and taxes.The exposure to loss as a result of involvement with theVIEs is limited to the Company’s
equity interest.

The Company maintains a combined equity and financing interest of $8 million in twoVIEs that were established to execute a project in London,
England. OneVIE was established to serve as a consortium among two third parties and the Company.The purpose of thisVIE is to operate, maintain
and finance the power distribution project.The second VIE is the financing vehicle for the project.The Company’s involvement began at the inception
of these VIEs in August1998. At and for the year ended December31,2004, theseVIEs have total assets of approximately $449 million and reported
combined total revenues and earnings before interest and taxes of $125 million and $18 million, respectively.The Company’s exposure to loss as a result
of involvement with theVIEs is limited to the Company’s equity and financing interest.

Note 7 Receivables, continued 
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The Company has an equity interest of approximately $0.4 million in four VIEs that were established for developing, holding and leasing real estate in
Germany. The Company’s involvement with these VIEs began when they were established in 1993 and 1995, respectively. At and for the year ended
December 31, 2004, these VIEs have total assets of approximately $102 million and earnings before interest and taxes of the VIEs is approximately
break-even. The Company’s exposure to loss as a result of involvement with the VIEs is limited to the Company’s equity interest.

The Company also has interests in other VIEs which are not consolidated as the Company is not considered the primary beneficiary. These VIEs are
immaterial both individually and in the aggregate.

Note 9 Inventories
Inventories, including inventories related to long-term contracts, consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Commercial inventories, net:
Raw materials $ 1,260 $ 1,082
Work in process 1,215 1,129
Finished goods 395 371

2,870 2,582
Contract inventories, net:

Inventoried costs 395 426
Contract costs subject to future negotiation 20 29
Advance payments received related to contracts (308) (366)

107 89
Total $ 2,977 $ 2,671

Contract costs subject to future negotiation are deemed probable of recovery through changes in the contract price and are deferred until the parties
have agreed on these changes.

Note10 Prepaid expenses and other
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Prepaid expenses $ 194 $ 209
Interest receivable 143 224
Deferred taxes 670 579
Advances to suppliers and contractors 227 226
Derivatives 374 398
Income tax receivable 80 158
Total $ 1,688 $ 1,794

Note11 Financing receivables
Financing receivables consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Loans receivable $ 337 $ 437
Finance leases (see Note 17) 362 425
Other 534 510
Total $ 1,233 $ 1,372

Loans receivable primarily represent financing arrangements provided to customers under long-term construction contracts and other activities,
including financing relating to a divestment in 2002 as described in Note 4.

Included in finance leases at December 31, 2004 and 2003, are $7million and $8 million, respectively, of assets pledged as security for other liabilities.
Additionally, $204 million and $246 million of finance lease receivables were pledged as security for long-term borrowings at December31,2004 and
2003, respectively.

Other financing receivables at December31, 2004 and 2003, include $314 million and $312 million, respectively, of assets pledged as security for other
liabilities. Of these amounts, $58 million and $54 million, respectively, are marketable securities.

During 2004 and 2003, the Company sold or transferred to financial institutions various portfolios and individual financing receivables (see Note17).
These transfers included sales of finance lease receivables and loan receivables. Financing receivables sold or transferred and derecognized from the
Consolidated Balance Sheets in accordance with SFAS140 totaled $57million and $338 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 8 Variable interest entities, continued 
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Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Land and buildings $ 2,684 $ 2,518
Machinery and equipment 4,946 4,627
Construction in progress 121 105

7,751 7,250
Accumulated depreciation (4,770) (4,392)
Total $ 2,981 $ 2,858

At December31,2004 and 2003, the Company had $85 million and $150 million, respectively, of property, plant and equipment pledged as security or
collateral for certain liabilities or other obligations of the Company.

Note13 Goodwill and other intangible assets 
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December31,2004, are as follows:

Automation Power Non-core Corporate/
Technologies Technologies activities Other Total

Balance at January1, 2004 $ 1,816 $ 439 $ 201 $ 72 $ 2,528
Goodwill acquired during the year 15 – – – 15
Goodwill written off related to sale of businesses (3) (2) (4) (12) (21)
Other – (4) 10 – 6
Reallocations (86) 116 9 (39) –
Foreign currency translation 53 12 9 – 74
Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 1,795 $ 561 $ 225 $ 21 $ 2,602

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December31,2003, are as follows:

Automation Power Non-core Corporate/
Technologies Technologies activities Other Total 

Balance at January1, 2003 $ 1,732 $ 427 $ 180 $ 58 $ 2,397
Goodwill acquired during the year 1 1 – – 2
Impairment losses – – – (2) (2)
Goodwill written off related to sale of businesses – – (2) (1) (3)
Other (4) – – – (4)
Reallocations 1 – (10) 9 –
Foreign currency translation 86 11 33 8 138
Balance at December 31, 2003 $ 1,816 $ 439 $ 201 $ 72 $ 2,528

The Company’s presentation of goodwill by division has been corrected and restated for all periods presented to adjust amounts of goodwill related
to Automation Technologies previously reflected under Non-core activities. Such goodwill was tested for impairment in 2004, 2003 and 2002, as a
component of the Company’s AutomationTechnologies division. At December31,2004 and 2003, the $225 million and the $201million of goodwill,
respectively, in Non-core activities was principally related to the Company’s remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business. The reallocations in the
table above relate to Company internal reorganizations. During 2004, the reallocations are principally due to the Substation Automation business
formerly in the AutomationTechnologies division that was integrated in to the PowerTechnologies division.The goodwill reallocated for the Substation
Automation business was $107million based on fair value. During 2004, the Company also reallocated goodwill from the Corporate/Other division to
the AutomationTechnologies and PowerTechnologies division as the expected benefit of goodwill resides in these divisions.

Other intangible assets consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
amount amortization amount amount amortization amount

Capitalized software $ 818 $ (537) $ 281 $ 804 $ (454) $ 350
Other 595 (383) 212 586 (335) 251
Total $ 1,413 $ (920) $ 493 $ 1,390 $ (789) $ 601

Amortization expense of intangible assets for2004 and 2003 amounted to $212 million and $177million, respectively.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

ABB Financial review 2004 73

Note12 Property, plant and equipment

ABB_FR04en_055-102.qxd  19.4.2005  17:47 Uhr  Seite 73



(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)

74 ABB Financial review 2004

Amortization expense of intangible assets is estimated to be as follows: (1)

2005 $ 138
2006 $ 123
2007 $ 114
2008 $ 76
2009 $ 18
Thereafter $ 13
(1) The estimated amortization expense is calculated as if no future expenditures would be made.

In 2004 and 2003, the Company did not identify any intangible assets not subject to amortization with the exception of $11million and $2 million,
respectively, related to an intangible pension asset (see Note21).

Other intangible assets primarily include intangibles created through acquisitions, such as trademarks and patents.

For the years ended December31,2004 and 2003, the Company acquired intangible assets of $75 million ($65 million of software and $10 million of
other intangible assets) and $92 million ($85 million of software and $7million of other intangible assets), respectively. For items capitalized in 2004 and
2003, amortization expense is calculated using a weighted-average life of 4years for capitalized software and of 5 years for other intangible assets.

The Company recorded impairment charges to intangible assets of $3 million, $11million and $25 million, in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively, related
to software developed for internal use.These charges are included in other income (expense), net, in the Consolidated Income Statements.

Note14 Equity accounted companies
The Company recorded earnings of $87million, $96 million and $220 million in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively, in investments and other, and other
income (expense), net, representing the Company’s share of the pre-tax earnings of investees accounted for under the equity method of accounting.
The Company has recorded, at December31,2004, and 2003, $596 million and $642 million, respectively, in investments and other, representing the
Company’s investment in these equity investees. Significant companies accounted for using the equity method of accounting included: Jorf Lasfar
Energy Company S.C.A. (JLEC), Morocco (the Company owns 50 percent) and Swedish Export Credit Corporation (SECC), Sweden (the Company
owned 35.4 percent). In June 2003, the Company sold its entire interest in SECC to the Government of Sweden.

The Company’s share of the pre-tax earnings
Investment Investment of equity-accounted investees

balance 2004 balance 2003 2004 2003 2002

JLEC $ 356 $ 372 $ 68 $ 62 $ 73
SECC – – – 13 125
Other(1) 240 270 19 21 22
Total $ 596 $ 642 $ 87 $ 96 $220
Less: Current income tax expense (8) (7) (49)
The Company’s share of earnings 
of equity-accounted investees $ 79 $ 89 $171
(1) Encompasses additional investments, none of which are individually significant

As reflected in its audited financial statements, SECC’s total net income for the year ended December31,2002,was $254 million.

The following table represents selected financial information for JLEC and not the Company’s share in this equity accounted company.

2004 2003 2002

Total current assets $ 316 $ 281 $ 239
Total non-current assets $ 1,147 $ 1,162 $ 1,124
Total current liabilities $ 274 $ 317 $ 262
Total non-current liabilities $ 572 $ 613 $ 622
Total shareholders’ equity $ 617 $ 513 $ 479

Revenues $ 462 $ 369 $ 364
Income before taxes $ 133 $ 122 $ 143
Net income $ 125 $ 120 $ 132

As security for repayment by JLEC of certain of its loans, the Company, JLEC and the other 50 percent shareholder in JLEC have entered into various
pledge agreements with several banks and other secured parties.The Company has pledged all of its shares, claims, rights and interest in JLEC in
accordance with the pledge agreements. Such security shall continue in effect until the repayment in full of all outstanding principal and interest and
other fees, which is scheduled to occur in February2013.

Note13 Goodwill and other intangible assets, continued
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The Company has entered into other similar pledge agreements for certain other equity accounted for companies.The Company has also granted lines
of credit and has committed to provide additional capital for certain equity accounted companies. At December31,2004, the total unused lines of credit
amounted to $78 million and the capital commitments amounted to $24 million.

The Company’s 2004 Consolidated Financial Statements include the following aggregate amounts related to transactions with equity accounted
investees and other related parties, including related party transactions that are recorded in loss from discontinued operations, net of tax, and assets
and liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations:

2004 2003

Revenues $ 57 $ 99

Receivables $ 11 $ 105
Other current assets $ 13 $ 23
Financing receivables, non-current $ 45 $ 22
Payables $ 1 $ 6
Other current liabilities $ 1 $ 4
Short-term borrowings $ 18 $ 32
Non-current liabilities $ 4 $ 2
Long-term borrowings $ – $ 48

Note15 Borrowings
The Company’s total borrowings at December31,2004 and 2003, were $5,534 million and $7,934 million, respectively.

Short-term borrowings
The Company’s short-term borrowings consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Other short-term borrowings
(weighted-average interest rate of 6.6% and 3.7%) $ 184 $ 293
Current portion of long-term borrowings
(weighted-average interest rate of 3.9% and 4.9%) 449 1,351
Total $ 633 $ 1,644

Other short-term borrowings primarily represent short-term loans from various banks. 

On November17, 2003, the Company entered into an unsecured syndicated $1.0 billion three-year revolving credit facility, which became available in
December 2003 after the fulfillment of certain conditions, including the repayment and cancellation of the previous facility and the raising of a specified
minimum level of gross proceeds from the rights issue (see Note 23) and from the euro denominated bonds issued in November 2003.

In November 2004, the facility was amended.The amendments included a reduction in the level of commitment fees and the removal of restrictions on
the Company to redeem early capital market instruments, such as bonds, having a maturity date beyond that of the facility.

No amount was drawn under the facility at December31,2004 and 2003.The interest costs of borrowings under the facility are LIBOR (or EURIBOR in
the case of drawings in euro) plus 0.8 percent to 2.25 percent, depending on the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt rating. Commitment
fees are paid on the unused portion of the facility and a utilization fee is payable when borrowings are equal to or greater than 33 percent of the facility;
the level of these fees is linked to the ratings of the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt.

The facility contains certain financial covenants in respect of minimum interest coverage, maximum net leverage and a minimum level of consolidated
net worth.The Company is required to meet these covenants on a quarterly basis. Should the Company’s senior unsecured long-term debt ratings
reach certain defined levels, these covenants will only have to be calculated at June and December of each year.The facility also contains provisions
for the mandatory prepayment and cancellation of the facility upon a change of control of the Company.

The facility imposes restrictions on the amount of third party indebtedness in subsidiaries other than in the obligors under the facility, subject to certain
exceptions.The facility also contains certain other undertakings including limitations on disposals of assets, restrictions on mergers and acquisitions
and negative pledges. 

The facility contains cross-default clauses whereby an event of default would occur if the Company were to default on indebtedness, as defined in the
facility, at or above a specified threshold.

Long-term borrowings
The Company utilizes a variety of derivative products to modify the characteristics of its long-term borrowings.The Company uses interest rate
swaps to effectively convert certain fixed-rate long-term borrowings into floating rate obligations. For certain non-U.S.dollar denominated borrowings,
the Company utilizes cross-currency swaps to effectively convert the borrowings into U.S. dollar obligations. As required by SFAS133, borrowings
designated as being hedged by fair value hedges are stated at their fair values.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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The following table summarizes the Company’s long-term borrowings considering the effect of interest rate and currency swaps. Consequently, a fixed
rate borrowing subject to a fixed-to-floating interest rate swap is included as a floating rate borrowing in the table below:

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

Nominal Effective Nominal Effective
Balance rate rate Balance rate rate

Floating rate $ 1,950 8.2% 5.8% $ 4,241 5.9% 3.2%
Fixed rate 1,625 5.1% 5.5% 1,754 5.8% 5.8%
Convertible bonds 1,775 4.1% 4.1% 1,646 4.1% 4.1%

5,350 7,641
Current portion of long-term borrowings (449) 3.9% 1.6% (1,351) 4.9% 1.8%
Total $ 4,901 $ 6,290

At December31,2004, maturities of long-term borrowings were as follows:

Due in 2005 $ 449
Due in 2006 92
Due in 2007 948
Due in 2008 986
Due in 2009 868
Thereafter 2,007
Total $ 5,350

Bond repurchases
During the first six months of 2004, through open market repurchases, the Company repurchased a portion of its public bonds with a total equivalent
face value of $458 million.These repurchases included107million euro (approximately $131million) of the 475 million euro 5.125 percent bonds
due 2006, and 26,500 million Japanese yen (approximately $243 million) of the 50,000 million Japanese yen 0.5 percent bonds due 2005. The
26,500 million Japanese yen bonds and the107million euro bonds were subsequently cancelled at the end of July 2004 and mid-September 2004,
respectively. During the second half of 2004, a further 6,075 million Japanese yen 0.5 percent bonds (approximately $55 million) were repurchased
on the open market and were not cancelled. As a result of the repurchases of these Japanese yen bonds, the total principal amount outstanding
at December31,2004,was17,425 million Japanese yen (approximately $171million), which is included in floating rate borrowings in the table of long-
term borrowings above.The open market repurchases resulted in a gain on extinguishments of debt of approximately $6 million. During 2003, the
Company repurchased outstanding bonds with a face value of $94 million and recorded an insignificant gain on extinguishments of debt in connection
with the repurchases.

On July29,2004, the Company announced tender offers to repurchase all of the outstanding 300 million euro 5.375 percent bonds due 2005 and
475 million euro 5.125 percent bonds due 2006, being approximately 275 million euro and approximately 368 million euro, respectively. In conjunction
with the tender offers, the Company convened bondholders’ meetings to vote on amendments to these bonds to allow the Company to call and redeem
those bonds that were not tendered under the respective tender offer. Bonds validly tendered and accepted under the tender offers were settled on
September14,2004. On September9, 2004, bondholders approved the resolutions, which gave the Company the option to redeem the outstanding
instruments.The Company exercised its option to redeem early the remaining outstanding 2005 and 2006 bonds that were not tendered and set the
redemption date as September29, 2004.The open market repurchases, combined with the tender offers and calls, resulted in a decrease in total
borrowings during 2004 of $1,330 million. At December31,2003, the bonds tendered and called in 2004 were included as floating rate borrowings in
the table of long-term borrowings above.

Bond issuances
The Company did not issue any bonds during 2004.

In November2003, the Company issued bonds of an aggregate principal amount of 650 million euro, or approximately $769 million at issuance, due
2011.These bonds pay interest semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 6.5 percent and are included as fixed rate borrowings in the table of
long-term borrowings above. In the event of a change of control of the Company, the terms of the bonds require the Company to offer to repurchase
the bonds at101percent of the principal amount thereof, plus any accrued interest.

In September 2003, the Company issued convertible unsubordinated bonds of an aggregate principal amount of1,000 million Swiss francs, or
approximately $722 million at issuance, due 2010.The bonds pay interest annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 3.5 percent. On issuance, each
5,000 Swiss francs of principal amount of bonds was convertible into 418.41004 fully paid ordinary shares of the Company at an initial conversion
price of11.95 Swiss francs.The conversion price is subject to adjustment provisions to protect against dilution or change in control. As a result of
the decision at the extraordinary general meeting of shareholders on November20,2003, to increase the share capital of the Company by issuing a
further 840,006,602 shares, the conversion price and conversion ratio of the bonds were adjusted to 9.53 Swiss francs and 524.65897 shares
respectively, effective December12, 2003, representing a total of104,931,794 shares if the bonds were fully converted.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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The bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholder at any time from October21,2003 up to and including the tenth business day prior to
September10,2010.The Company may at any time on or after September10,2007redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest if, for
a certain number of days during a specified period of time, the official closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the relevant exchange has
been at least150 percent of the conversion price. In addition, at any time prior to maturity, the Company can redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus
accrued interest, if at least 85 percent in aggregate of the principal amount of bonds originally issued have been redeemed, converted or purchased
and cancelled.The Company has the option to redeem the bonds when due in cash, ordinary shares or any combination thereof.

In May 2002, the Company issued $968 million aggregate principal amount of convertible unsubordinated bonds due 2007.The bonds pay interest
semi-annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 4.625 percent. The bonds were initially convertible into 84,940,935 fully paid ordinary shares of the
Company at an initial conversion price of18.48 Swiss francs (converted into U.S.dollars at a fixed conversion rate of1.6216 Swiss francs perU.S.dollar).
The conversion price is subject to adjustment provisions to protect against dilution or change in control. As a result of the rights issue and resulting
increase in the share capital of the Company, the conversion price of the bonds was adjusted, effective November 21, 2003, to 14.64 Swiss francs
(converted into U.S.dollars at the fixed exchange rate of1.6216 Swiss francs per U.S.dollar), representing a total of107,220,546 shares if the bonds
were fully converted. As a result of an amendment to the bonds in May2004, described below, the conversion price of the bonds was amended to
$9.03, representing a total of107,198,228 shares if the bonds were fully converted.

The $968 million bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholder at any time from June 26,2002 up to and including May2,2007.The Company
may, at any time on or after May16,2005, redeem the outstanding bonds at par plus accrued interest if (1) for a certain number of days during a specified
period of time, the official closing price of the Company’s American Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange exceeds170 percent of the
conversion price, or (2) at least 85 percent in aggregate principal amount of bonds originally issued have been exchanged, redeemed or purchased and
cancelled.The Company has the option to redeem the bonds when due in cash, American Depositary Shares or any combination thereof.

Under SFAS133, a component of these convertible bonds had to be accounted for as an embedded derivative as the shares to be issued upon
conversion were denominated in Swiss francs, while the bonds are denominated in U.S.dollars. A portion of the issuance proceeds was deemed to
relate to the value of the derivative on issuance and subsequent changes in value of the derivative were recorded through earnings and as an
adjustment to the carrying value of the bonds.The allocation of a portion of the proceeds to the derivative created a discount on issuance, which was
being amortized to earnings over the life of the bonds. On May28,2004, bondholders voted in favor of the Company’s proposed amendment to the
terms of the bonds whereby, if the bonds are converted, the Company will deliver U.S.dollar-denominated American Depositary Shares rather than
Swiss franc-denominated ordinary shares.The conversion price was set at $9.03. As a result of the amendment, the Company was no longer required
to account for a portion of the bonds as a derivative. Consequently, on May28,2004, the value of the derivative was fixed and the amount previously
accounted for separately as an embedded derivative was considered to be a component of the carrying value of the bonds at that date.This carrying
value is being accreted to the $968 million par value of the bonds as an expense in interest and other finance expense over the remaining life of the
bonds.

As to the embedded derivative, the Company recorded an expense of $16 million from the increase in fair value of the derivative from January1,2004,
up to the date of the bond amendment, related among other factors, to the increase in the Company’s share price since December31,2003.When
added to the accretion of the discount on the bonds for2004 of $36 million, this resulted in aggregate expense of $52 million in 2004, reflected in
interest and other finance expense and a corresponding increase in borrowings when compared to December31,2003. As a result of an increase in
fair value of the derivative (related among other factors, to the increase in the Company’s share price since December31,2002), combined with the
accretion of the discount on issuance, there was a charge to interest and other finance expense of $84 million in 2003, and a corresponding increase
in long-term borrowings at December31,2003,when compared to December31,2002.Through December31,2002,primarily as a result of the
decline in the Company’s share price since issuance of the bonds, the Company recorded a gain from the change in fair value of the derivative, partially
offset by amortization of effective discount, resulting in a net decrease to interest and other finance expense of $215 million.

In May2002, the Company issued bonds due in 2009 with an aggregate principal amount of 200 million pounds sterling, or approximately $292 million
at the time of issuance, which pay interest semi-annually in arrears at10 percent per annum.The Company also issued in May2002 bonds due in 2008
with an aggregate principal amount of 500 million euro, or approximately $466 million at the time of issuance,which pay interest annually in arrears at
9.5 percent per annum.

The 200 million pounds sterling bonds and the 500 million euro bonds contain certain clauses linking the interest paid on the bonds to the credit rating
assigned to the bonds. If the rating assigned to these bonds by both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s remains at or above Baa3 and BBB-, respectively,
then the interest rate on the bonds remains at the level at issuance, that is10 percent and 9.5 percent for the sterling and euro bonds, respectively.
If the rating assigned by either Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s decreases below Baa3 or BBB-, respectively, then the annual interest rate on the bonds
increases by1.5 percent per annum to11.5 percent and11percent for the sterling and euro bonds, respectively. If after such a rating decrease, the
rating assigned by both Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s returns to a level at or above Baa3 and BBB-, respectively, then the interest rates on the bonds
return to the interest level at issuance. As a result of the downgrade of the Company’s long-term credit rating by Moody’s to Ba2 on October31,2002,
this step-up clause in interest was triggered on both bonds.The increase in interest costs is effective for interest periods beginning after the payment of
the coupon accruing at the date of the downgrade.

In line with the Company’s policy of reducing its interest and currency exposure, a cross-currency swap has been used to modify the characteristics
of the 200 million pounds sterling bonds and an interest rate swap has been used to modify the 500 million euro bonds. After considering the
impact of the cross-currency and interest rate swaps, the 200 million pounds sterling bonds effectively became a floating rate U.S.dollar obligation,
while the 500 million euro bonds became a floating rate euro obligation. In both cases, the floating rate resets every three months. Accordingly, both
the 200 million pounds sterling bonds and the 500 million euro bonds are included as “floating rate” in the table of long-term borrowings above.

In September1999, the Company issued bonds of an aggregate principal amount of 500 million Swiss francs, or approximately $334 million at
issuance, due 2009.These bonds pay interest annually in arrears at a fixed annual rate of 3.75 percent and are included in fixed rate borrowings in
the table of long-term borrowings above.

Note15 Borrowings, continued
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Almost all of the Company’s publicly traded bonds contain cross-default clauses which would allow the bondholders to demand repayment if the
Company were to default on any borrowing at or above a specified threshold.

In addition to the publicly issued bonds described above, included in long-term borrowings at December 31, 2004 and 2003, are private placements,
lease obligations, bank borrowings of subsidiaries, obligations in the Company’s remaining Structured Finance business and other long-term
borrowings.

Note16 Accrued liabilities and other
Accrued liabilities and other consists of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Asbestos and related costs (see Note 18) $ 1,023 $ 815
Contract related reserves 460 531
Provisions for restructuring 169 276
Provisions for warranties and contract penalties 741 580
Derivatives 324 180
Employee benefit costs 77 112
Taxes payable 369 434
Deferred taxes 200 188
Accrued personnel costs 750 723
Interest 177 306
Advances from customers 931 729
Other liabilities 1,215 1,083
Total $ 6,436 $ 5,957

Advance from customers in 2003 have been reclassified from other liabilities to conform with the current year’s presentation.

Note17 Leases

Lease obligations
The Company’s lease obligations primarily relate to real estate and office equipment. In the normal course of business, management expects most
leases to be renewed or replaced by other leases.Minimum rent expense under operating leases included in the income from continuing operations
was $371million, $392 million and $340 million in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.The sub-lease income received by the Company was $33 million,
$18 million and $14 million in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.

At December31,2004, future net minimum lease payments for operating leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of
one year consist of the following:

2005 $ 347
2006 299
2007 237
2008 206
2009 183
Thereafter 652

1,924
Sublease income (128)
Total $ 1,796

Investments in leases
The Company retained some leasing assets including investments in sales-type leases, leveraged leases and direct financing leases that are included in
financing receivables (see Note11), subsequent to the divestment of most of its Structured Finance business to GE in November2002 (see Note 3).

Note15 Borrowings, continued 
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The Company’s non-current investments in direct financing, sales-type and leveraged leases, including $37million and $54 million in 2004 and 2003,
respectively, of net investments in an aircraft leasing portfolio, reported by a VIE in Sweden (see Note 8), consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Minimum lease payments receivable $ 388 $ 464
Unearned income (54) (64)

334 400
Leveraged leases 64 61

398 461
Current portion (36) (36)
Total $ 362 $ 425

At December31,2004,minimum lease payments under direct financing and sales-type leases are scheduled to be received as follows:

2005 $ 45
2006 23
2007 22
2008 50
2009 18
Thereafter 230
Total $ 388

Note18 Commitments and contingencies

Earnings overstatement in an Italian subsidiary
During the second quarter of 2004, the Company received information regarding earnings overstatements by the medium-voltage business unit of the
Company’s Power Technologies division (the “PT-MV BAU”) in Italy. An investigation performed by the Company, with the assistance of outside counsel
and forensic accountants, has shown that from the first quarter of 1998 through the first quarter of 2004, the PT-MV BAU overstated its earnings before
interest and taxes and net income through the early recognition of certain revenue from incomplete projects, improper capitalization of costs on certain
projects, unrecorded liabilities and borrowings, and other improper journal entries.

The cumulative effect of these overstatements on the Company’s earnings before interest and taxes and net income was approximately $70 million and
$87million, respectively, from the first quarter of1998 through the end of 2003.The negative impact on income tax expense results from the inability to
claim tax benefits under Italian tax law for adjustments made to improperly filed tax returns for the years1998 through 2002, as well as a reassessment
of the realizability of the Company’s deferred tax assets due to a cumulative loss position after the adjustment for the overstatements.The Company
restated its financial statements for all prior periods as a result of these overstatements.The restated presentation forms the basis for the 2004 financial
statements before reclassifications as described in Note 3.The impact of the restatement in 2003 and 2002 was to increase net loss by $12 million and
$36 million, respectively.The cumulative impact on stockholders’ equity as a result of the restatement was $106 million at December31,2004.

The Company has undertaken measures, including termination of employment,with respect to the personnel involved in the earnings overstatement
to address the matters identified by the Company’s investigation. Additional remedial measures may be considered by the Company in light of this
investigation. In addition, the Company’s investigation revealed that certain employees of ABB PowerTechnologies S.p.A. participated in arranging
improper payments to an employee of an Italian power generation company in order to obtain a contract.The Company has reported this matter
to the Italian Public Prosecutor’s Office, which is conducting its own investigation, as well as to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company cannot be certain as to the outcome of the Italian Public Prosecutor’s Office investigation. The Company has terminated employees
determined to be involved in arranging such improper payments.

Gas Insulated Switchgear business
In May2004, the Company announced that it had undertaken an internal investigation which uncovered that certain of its employees – together with
employees of other companies active in the gas insulated switchgear business – were involved in anti-competitive practices.The Company has
reported promptly such practices to the appropriate authorities including the European Commission.The Company has received an amnesty decision
from the European Commission and is cooperating with it in the investigation that the European Commission has launched.

Vetco Gray
During 2003 and 2002 the Company undertook an investigation of potentially improper business conduct within the Company’s Oil, Gas and
Petrochemical business which the Company had voluntarily disclosed to the U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. The investigation uncovered a limited number of improper payments in certain countries in the Company’s Upstream business.

Note17 Leases, continued 
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ABB Vetco Gray Inc. and ABB Vetco Gray UK Ltd., two of the Company’s subsidiaries that were sold in 2004 as part of the Upstream business
pleaded guilty in July 2004 to violation of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) and paid an aggregate fine to the U.S Department of Justice totaling
$10.5 million. In addition, in July 2004, the Company agreed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission to resolve civil charges
relating to the FCPA, including the payment of $5.9 million to disgorge allegedly unlawful profits and to retain an independent consultant to review the
Company’s FCPA compliance policies and procedures.

IBM Outsourcing Agreement
In 2003, the Company entered into a10-year global framework agreement with International Business Machines Corporation (IBM) to outsource the
Company’s information systems infrastructure services to IBM.This global framework agreement forms the basis for country agreements entered into
between the Company and IBM in15 countries in which the Company operates as well as Company headquarters. Pursuant to these agreements,
the Company’s information technology (IT) personnel were transferred and certain ITequipment was sold to IBM. Costs associated with the transfer of
employees have been recognized in 2003 and were not significant.The ITequipment was sold to IBM at its net book value resulting in no gain or loss
on disposal.

Pursuant to the global framework agreement, the Company is permitted to terminate an individual country agreement, upon providing to IBM three
months notice. Upon termination, charges which are within standard commercial terms are payable to IBM. Such termination charges decline
over the term of the global framework agreement and are based on the preceding 12-month period’s costs and the number of years remaining on
the agreement.

The global framework agreement also includes an obligation for IBM to lease new personal computers and other ITequipment to the Company as
older equipment is retired. The Company accounts for these items as capital leases or operating leases based on the terms of the leases.

Further, pursuant to the global framework agreement, IBM will receive monthly payments from the Company’s subsidiaries in the respective countries
related to information systems infrastructure services. Expected annual costs during the10-year term of the global framework agreement approximate
$223 million based on the current level of usage of the services.

While the above agreement was negotiated and transacted at arms-length between IBM and the Company, it should be noted that Jürgen Dormann,
the Company’s Chairman, was a member of the Board of Directors of IBM until April 29, 2003, and has been elected again to the Board of Directors
of IBM effective February22,2005, and Hans-Ulrich Märki, a director on the Company’s Board of Directors, is chairman and general manager of IBM
Europe/Middle East/Africa.

Contingencies – general
The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of business that have not been finally
adjudicated. It is not possible at this time for the Company to predict with any certainty the outcome of such litigation. However, except as stated
below, management is of the opinion, based upon information presently available and on advice of external counsel, that it is unlikely that any
such liability, to the extent not provided for through insurance or otherwise, would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Contingencies – environmental
The Company is a participant in several legal and regulatory actions, which result from various U.S.and other federal, state and local environmental
protection legislation as well as agreements with third parties.While the Company cannot estimate the impact of future regulations affecting these
actions, management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

Provisions are recorded when it is probable that losses will result from these actions and the amounts of losses can be reasonably estimated.
Estimated losses for environmental remediation obligations are not discounted to their present value. In respect to these matters, the Company may be
able to recover a portion of the costs from insurers or other third parties. Receivables are recorded when it is probable that recoveries will be collected.

Guarantees – general
Certain guarantees issued or modified after December31,2002 are accounted for in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No.45 (FIN 45), Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others. Upon issuance or modification of certain guarantees, a liability, equal to the fair value of the guarantee, is recorded.

The following table provides quantitative data regarding the Company’s third-party guarantees. The maximum potential payments represent a “worst-
case scenario,” and do not reflect the Company’s expected results.

Note 18 Commitments and contingencies, continued
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The carrying amount of liabilities recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets reflects the Company’s best estimate of future payments it may incur as
part of fulfilling its guarantee obligations.

December 31, 2004 2003

Maximum potential Carrying amount Maximum potential Carrying amount
payments of liabilities payments of liabilities

Third-party performance guarantees $ 1,525 $ 2 $ 1,200 $ –
Financial guarantees 253 1 207 –
Indemnification guarantees 198 16 – –
Total $ 1,976 $ 19 $ 1,407 $ –

Guarantees-third-party performance
Performance guarantees represent obligations where the Company guarantees the performance of a third party’s product or service according to the
terms of a contract. Such guarantees may include guarantees that a project will be completed within a specified time. If the third party does not fulfill
the obligation, the Company will compensate the guaranteed party in cash or in kind. Performance guarantees include surety bonds, advance payment
guarantees, and performance standby letters of credit.

The Company retained obligations for guarantees related to the Power Generation business contributed in mid-1999 to the former ABB ALSTOM
POWER NV joint venture.The guarantees primarily consist of performance guarantees, advance payment guarantees and other miscellaneous
guarantees under certain contracts such as indemnification for personal injuries and property damages, taxes, and compliance with labor laws,
environmental laws and patents.The guarantees are related to projects which are expected to be completed by 2015 but in some cases have
no definite expiration. In May 2000, the Company sold its interest in the ABB ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture to ALSTOM SA (ALSTOM). As a result,
ALSTOM and its subsidiaries have primary responsibility for performing the obligations that are the subject of the guarantees. Further, ALSTOM, the
parent company, and ALSTOM POWER NV, formerly ABB ALSTOM POWER NV, have undertaken jointly and severally to fully indemnify and hold
harmless the Company against any claims arising under such guarantees. Management’s best estimate of the total maximum potential exposure of
quantifiable guarantees issued by the Company on behalf of its former Power Generation business is approximately $875 million and $1,200 million 
at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively.The Company has not experienced any losses related to guarantees issued on behalf of the former
Power Generation business.

The Company retained obligations for guarantees related to the Upstream business sold in July 2004.The guarantees primarily consist of third-party
performance guarantees, advance payment guarantees and other miscellaneous guarantees.The guarantees have maturity dates ranging from one
to five years.The maximum amount payable under the guarantees is approximately $650 million at December31,2004.The Company has the ability
to recover potential payments under these guarantees through certain backstop guarantees.The maximum potential recovery under these backstop
guarantees is approximately $146 million at December31,2004.

Guarantees – financial
Financial guarantees represent irrevocable assurances that the Company will make payment to a beneficiary in the event that a third party fails to fulfill
its financial obligations and the beneficiary under the guarantee incurs a loss due to that failure.

At December31,2004 and 2003, the Company had $253 million and $207million, respectively, of financial guarantees outstanding. Of those amounts,
$123 million and $189 million, respectively, were issued on behalf of companies in which the Company currently has or formerly had an equity interest.
The guarantees have original maturity dates ranging from one to thirteen years. Also included in the $253 million of financial guarantees is approximately
$101 million related to the Upstream business sold in July2004.These guarantees have original maturity dates ranging from one to six years and in
some cases have no time-related expiry as they are contingent on future events.

Guarantees – indemnification
The Company delivered to the purchasers of the Upstream business and Reinsurance business guarantees related to assets and liabilities divested in
2004.The maximum liability at December31,2004, of approximately $49 million and $149 million, relating to the Upstream business and Reinsurance
business, respectively,will reduce over time, pursuant to the agreements.The fair values of these guarantees are not material.

The Company has indemnified certain purchasers of divested businesses for potential claims arising from the operations of the divested businesses.
Such indemnifications have not been fair valued to the extent they were issued prior to the effective date of FIN 45. Additionally, to the extent the
maximum loss related to such indemnifications could not be calculated, no amounts have been included under maximum potential payments in the
table above. Indemnifications for which maximum losses could not be calculated include indemnifications for legal claims.

Product and order related contingencies
The Company calculates its provision for product warranties based on historical claims experience and specific review of certain contracts.The
provision for warranties and contract penalties in Note16 includes penalties resulting from delays in contract fulfillment,which is not included in the
amounts below.

Note 18 Commitments and contingencies, continued
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Reconciliation of the provision for warranties, including guarantees of product performance is as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003

Balance at the beginning of year $ 513 $ 349
Claims paid in cash or in kind (72) (37)
Net increase to provision for changes in estimates, warranties issued and warranties expired 178 162
Exchange rate differences 58 39
Balance at the end of year $ 677 $ 513

Asbestos liability

Summary
The Company’s Combustion Engineering subsidiary has been a co-defendant in a large number of lawsuits claiming damage for personal injury
resulting from exposure to asbestos. A smaller number of claims have also been brought against two other subsidiaries, ABB Lummus Global Inc.
(“Lummus”) (which is part of the Company’s Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business and was formerly a subsidiary of Combustion Engineering)
and Basic Incorporated (“Basic”) (which was a subsidiary of Combustion Engineering and of Asea Brown Boveri Inc. (“Asea Brown Boveri”) and is now a
subsidiary of ABB Holdings Inc. (“Holdings”) following the merger in December 2004 of Asea Brown Boveri into Holdings), as well as against other
entities of the Company. In late 2002, taking into consideration the growing number and cost of asbestos-related claims, Combustion Engineering and
the Company determined that Combustion Engineering’s asbestos-related liability should be resolved through a comprehensive settlement that
included a plan of reorganization for Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code.

In November 2002, Combustion Engineering and the representatives of various asbestos claimants entered into a Master Settlement Agreement 
which settled the value of approximately 154,000 open asbestos-related claims against Combustion Engineering. Under that agreement, Combustion
Engineering established and funded a trust (the “CE Settlement Trust”) to provide for partial payment on such settled claims. 

In January 2003, Combustion Engineering reached agreement with various creditors (including representatives of the asbestos claimants who
participated in the Master Settlement Agreement and a representative of future claimants) on the terms of a proposed “Pre-Packaged Plan of
Reorganization for Combustion Engineering” under Chapter11of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (as amended through June 4, 2003, the “CE Plan”). The
CE Plan provided for a “channeling injunction” to be issued, under which asbestos-related claims related to the operations of Combustion Engineering,
Lummus and Basic could only be brought against a trust (separate from the CE SettlementTrust established under the Master Settlement Agreement)
to be established and funded by Combustion Engineering, ABB Ltd and other entities of the Company.This channeling injunction was intended to free
Combustion Engineering, ABB Ltd and its affiliates, as well as certain former direct or indirect owners, joint venture partners and affiliates of Combustion
Engineering, including ALSTOM and ABB ALSTOM POWER NV, from further liability for such claims.

The CE Plan was filed with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court on February 17, 2003, and confirmed by the District Court on August 8, 2003. However on
December 2, 2004, the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit effectively reversed the District Court’s confirmation order. The Court of Appeals
remanded the CE Plan to the District Court for a determination of whether, in light of the pre-petition payments made by Combustion Engineering to the
CE Settlement Trust under the Master Settlement Agreement and the fact that claimants who received partial payments of their claims under the Master
Settlement Agreement participated in the approval of the plan, the treatment of asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion Engineering
under the CE Plan was consistent with the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code. Combustion Engineering and the Company have been reviewing
the Court of Appeals’ decision and considering various options to resolve the asbestos-related liability of Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic.

In March 2005, following extensive discussions with certain representatives of various parties, including the Creditors Committee and the Future
Claimants Representatives appointed in the Combustion Engineering case, the Company reached an agreement on certain “settlement points” for
modifying the CE Plan with a view to bringing it into conformity with theCourt of Appeals’ decision and for providing a mechanism for resolving finally
Lummus’ potential asbestos liability.The settlement points contemplate that the modified plan will continue to reflect the CE Plan’s fundamental
approach of channeling asbestos-related claims against Combustion Engineering to a trust funded in part by other entities of the Company.The
settlement points provide for the Company to make an additional contribution of approximately $232 million to pay present and future asbestos
claimants of Combustion Engineering and Lummus. In addition, the settlement points provide that the Company will pay directly or indirectly up to 
$8 million in respect of certain approved legal fees in the Chapter11case of Combustion Engineering.The settlement points contemplate that the
modified CE Plan will become effective under the Bankruptcy Code concurrently with a separate Chapter11plan of reorganization for Lummus.The
parties are now working to reach agreement on other issues relating to, and details of, the proposed modified plan and related proceedings involving
Lummus and to prepare the related documentation. Each of the proposed plans will require approval of creditors and be subject to court review.

One of the holdings of the Court of Appeals was that the asbestos-related claims against Basic that are not related to Combustion Engineering’s
operations could not be “channeled” to the proposed trust under the CE Plan.The proposed plans do not address Basic, and the Company expects
that Basic’s asbestos-related liabilities will have to be resolved through its own bankruptcy or similar U.S. state court liquidation proceeding, or through
the tort system.

Background
When the Company sold its 50 percent interest in the former ABB ALSTOM POWER NV joint venture to ALSTOM in May 2000, it retained ownership of
Combustion Engineering, a subsidiary that had conducted part of its former power generation business and that now owns commercial real estate that
it leases to third parties. Combustion Engineering is a co-defendant, together with other third parties, in numerous lawsuits in the United States in which
the plaintiffs claim damages for personal injury arising from exposure to asbestos in equipment or materials that Combustion Engineering allegedly
supplied or was responsible for, primarily during the early 1970s and before.

Note18 Commitments and contingencies, continued
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From 1989 through February 17, 2003 (the date that Combustion Engineering filed for Chapter 11 as described below), approximately 
438,000 asbestos-related claims were filed against Combustion Engineering. On February 17, 2003, there were approximately 164,000 asbestos
related personal injury claims pending against Combustion Engineering. There were approximately 138,000 such claims pending against Combustion
Engineering on December31,2002, and approximately 94,000 such claims were pending on December 31, 2001. Of the approximately 164,000
claims that were pending on February17,2003, approximately154,000 are claims by asbestos claimants who participated in the Master Settlement
Agreement. Approximately 29,000 new claims were made in the period from January1,2003, to February17, 2003 (all but111of which agreed to
participate in the Master Settlement Agreement). Approximately 34,500 claims were resolved in 2002 and approximately27,000 claims were resolved 
in 2001.

Other entities of the Company have sometimes been named as defendants in asbestos-related claims, including Lummus and Basic. At December 31,
2004 and 2003, there were approximately 11,000 claims pending against Lummus and 4,300 and 4,200 claims, respectively, pending against Basic. 

Additionally, at December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were approximately 12,400 and 8,700 asbestos-related claims pending against entities of the
Company other than Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic. These claims are unrelated to Combustion Engineering and will not be resolved 
in the Combustion Engineering bankruptcy case. Of the 12,400 claims outstanding at December 31, 2004, approximately 3,660 are claims that were
brought in the state of Mississippi in the United States, in 7 cases that include multiple plaintiffs and hundreds of co-defendants and make no specific
allegations of any relationship between any entity of the Company and the plaintiffs. Approximately 4,240 of such claims have been brought in the state
of Ohio in the United States by claimants represented by a single law firm in cases that typically name 50 to 60 co-defendants and do not allege any
specific linkage between the plaintiffs and any entity of the Company. Approximately 2,700 such claims are pending in the state of West Virginia in the
United States. The remaining such claims are pending in various jurisdictions. The Company generally seeks dismissals from claims where there is no
apparent linkage between the plaintiffs and any entity of the Company. To date, resolving claims against the Company’s entities other than Combustion
Engineering, Lummus and Basic has not had a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Negotiations with representatives of asbestos claimants and pre-packaged Chapter11filing
During 2001and 2002, Combustion Engineering experienced a significant increase in the level of new claims and higher total and per-claim settlement
costs as compared to prior years. In October2002, Combustion Engineering and the Company determined that it was likely that the expected
asbestos-related costs of Combustion Engineering would exceed the value of its assets ($812million at September 30, 2002 and $828 million at
December 31,2002) if its historical settlement patterns continued into the future. In October 2002, Combustion Engineering and the Company
determined to resolve the asbestos-related liability of Combustion Engineering and its affiliates by reorganizing Combustion Engineering under 
Chapter11, the principal business reorganization chapter of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Combustion Engineering and the Company determined to
structure the Chapter11reorganization as a “pre-packaged plan,” in which Combustion Engineering would solicit votes from asbestos claimants to
approve the plan before the Chapter11case was filed with the Bankruptcy Court.

Beginning in October 2002, Combustion Engineering and the Company conducted extensive negotiations with representatives of certain asbestos
claimants with respect to a pre-packaged plan. On November 22, 2002, Combustion Engineering and the asbestos claimants’ representatives entered
into a Master Settlement Agreement for settling open asbestos-related personal injury claims that had been filed against Combustion Engineering prior
to November 15, 2002. Combustion Engineering also agreed, pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement, to form and fund the CE Settlement Trust
to administer and pay the asbestos-related personal injury claims settled under the Master Settlement Agreement. Under the terms of the Master
Settlement Agreement, eligible claimants who met all criteria to qualify for payment were entitled to receive a percentage of the value of their claim from
the CE Settlement Trust and retain a claim against Combustion Engineering for the unpaid balance (the “stub claim”). The Master Settlement Agreement
divides claims into three categories based on the status of the claim at November 14, 2002, the status of the documentation relating to the claim and
whether or not the documentation establishes a valid claim eligible for settlement and payment by Combustion Engineering. The Master Settlement
Agreement was supplemented in January 2003 to clarify the rights of certain claimants whose right to participate in a particular payment category was
disputed. The Master Settlement Agreement, as supplemented, settles the value of and provides for the partial payment on approximately 154,000
open asbestos-related personal injury claims that had been lodged against Combustion Engineering.

The Master Settlement Agreement, as supplemented, provided that the CE Settlement Trust was to be funded by:

■ cash contributions from Combustion Engineering in the amount of $5 million;

■ cash contributions from ABB Inc., a subsidiary of ABB Ltd, in the amount of $30 million;

■ a promissory note from Combustion Engineering in the principal amount of approximately $101million (guaranteed by Asea Brown Boveri, now
merged into Holdings); and

■ an assignment by Combustion Engineering of the $311 million unpaid balance of principal and interest due to Combustion Engineering from 
Asea Brown Boveri, now merged into Holdings, under a loan agreement dated May12, 2000 (guaranteed by ABB Ltd).

Approximately154,000 eligible claimants have entered into the Master Settlement Agreement or adoption agreements with Combustion Engineering
and the CE Settlement Trust and have received partial payment on their claims.

Pre-packaged plan of reorganization
On January 17, 2003, the Company announced that Combustion Engineering and the Company had reached an agreement on a proposed Pre-
Packaged Plan of Reorganization for Combustion Engineering under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The agreement was reached with
representatives of certain asbestos claimants with existing asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion Engineering (encompassing
both claimants who had lodged claims prior to November 15, 2002, and claimants who had filed claims on or after that date and were not eligible 
to participate in the Master Settlement Agreement) and with the proposed representative of persons who may be entitled to bring asbestos-related
personal injury claims in the future.

Note18 Commitments and contingencies, continued 
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As proposed, the CE Plan provided for the creation of the Asbestos PI Trust, an independent trust separate and distinct from the CE Settlement Trust,
and addressed Asbestos PI Trust Claims, which consist of present and future asbestos-related personal injury claims (including the stub claims of
claimants who previously settled pursuant to the Master Settlement Agreement) that arise directly or indirectly from any act, omission, products, or
operations of Combustion Engineering, Lummus or Basic.The CE Plan provided that, if it were to become effective, a channeling injunction would be
issued under Section 105 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code pursuant to which the Asbestos PI Trust Claims against ABB Ltd and certain of its affiliates
(including Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic) would be channeled to the Asbestos PI Trust. The effect of the channeling injunction
contemplated by the CE Plan would be that the sole recourse of a holder of an Asbestos PI Trust Claim would be to the Asbestos PI Trust and such
holder would be barred from asserting such a claim against ABB Ltd and the affiliates covered by the injunction (including Combustion Engineering and,
under the CE Plan as proposed, Lummus and Basic).

As proposed, the CE Plan provided that on its effective date, the Asbestos PI Trust would be funded with the following:

■ a $20 million 5 percent term note (the “CE Convertible Note”) with a maximum term of ten years from the effective date of the CE Plan, to be issued
by Combustion Engineering and secured by its Windsor, Connecticut, real estate and real estate leases (under certain specified contingencies, the
Asbestos PI Trust may have the right to convert the term note into ownership of 80 percent of the voting securities of the reorganized Combustion
Engineering);

■ excess cash held by Combustion Engineering on the effective date of the CE Plan (the “Excess CE Cash”);

■ a non-interest bearing promissory note (the “ABB Promissory Note”) to be issued by ABB Inc. and ABB Ltd, and guaranteed by certain ABB Ltd
subsidiaries, in an aggregate amount of up to $350 million payable in installments (including two $25 million payments contingent upon ABB Ltd
generating an earning before interest and taxes margin of12percent in 2007and 2008);

■ a non-interest bearing promissory note to be issued on behalf of Lummus (the “Lummus Note”) in the amount of $28 million payable in relatively
equal annual installments over12years;

■ a non-interest bearing promissory note (the “Basic Note”) to be issued on behalf of Basic in the aggregate amount of $10 million payable in relatively
equal annual installments over12years;

■ 30,298,913 shares of ABB Ltd (the “CE Settlement Shares”),which had a fair value of $170 million,$154million and $86million at December31,2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively; and

■ an assignment by Combustion Engineering, Lummus, and Basic to the Asbestos PI Trust of any proceeds under certain insurance policies.As of
December31,2004,aggregate unexhausted product liability limits under such policies were approximately $200 million for Combustion Engineering,
approximately $43 million for Lummus and approximately $28 million for Basic, although amounts ultimately recovered by the Asbestos PITrust
under these policies may be substantially different from the policy limits. In addition, Combustion Engineering would assign to the Asbestos PITrust
scheduled payments under certain of its insurance settlement agreements ($78 million at December 31,2004). (The proceeds and payments to 
be assigned are together referred to as “Certain Insurance Amounts”.)

In addition, the CE Plan as proposed provided that if Lummus is sold within18 months after the CE Plan’s effective date, ABB Inc. would contribute
$5 million to the CE SettlementTrust and $5 million to the Asbestos PITrust (together, these payments are referred to as the “Lummus Sale Payments”).
If the CE SettlementTrust has ceased to exist at that time, both $5 million payments would be made to the Asbestos PI Trust, but in no event would
this contribution exceed the net proceeds from the sale of Lummus.

Upon the effective date under the CE Plan, ABB Inc. would indemnify the Combustion Engineering estate against up to $5 million of liability on account
of certain contingent claims held by certain indemnified insurers. Further, on the effective date, Asea Brown Boveri (now merged into Holdings) 
would provide for the benefit of Combustion Engineering a nuclear and environmental indemnity with regard to obligations arising out of Combustion
Engineering’s Windsor, Connecticut, site.The two indemnities described in this paragraph are referred to as the “Related Indemnities”.

Judicial review process
The solicitation of votes to approve the CE Plan began on January 19, 2003. Combustion Engineering filed for Chapter 11 in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court
in Delaware on February 17, 2003, based on the terms previously negotiated in connection with the CE Plan. On June 23, 2003, the Bankruptcy Court
issued its Order Approving the Disclosure Statement but Recommending Withholding of Confirmation of the Plan of Reorganization for Combustion
Engineering for Ten Days (the “Initial Ruling”) and related findings of fact. The Initial Ruling approved the disclosure statement that was the document
used as the basis for soliciting approval of the CE Plan from asbestos claimants and verified the voting results that approved the CE Plan and indicated
that the Bankruptcy Court would recommend that the CE Plan be confirmed if Combustion Engineering and the Company could establish to the court’s
satisfaction certain specified information. The Company then submitted the additional information for the court’s consideration.

On July 10, 2003, the Bankruptcy Court issued a Supplemental and Amendatory Order Making Additional Findings and Recommending Confirmation
of Plan of Reorganization (the “Supplemental Ruling”). The Supplemental Ruling recommended to the U.S. District Court, among other things, that the
CE Plan be confirmed.

Following the issuance of the Supplemental Ruling, interested parties had a period during which they could appeal the Initial Ruling and the
Supplemental Ruling. This appeal period expired on July 24, 2003. A number of interested parties, including a small number of asbestos claimants and
certain insurance companies which historically have provided insurance coverage to Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic filed appeals 
based on various objections to the CE Plan. The District Court held a hearing on July 31, 2003, with respect to the appeals and entered its confirmation
order on August 8, 2003.

Various parties appealed the District Court’s confirmation order to The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit, which granted a motion
for expedition of appeals and ordered that all briefs were to be filed by October 7, 2003. On June 3, 2004, the Court of Appeals held a hearing with
respect to the appeals of the confirmation order of the District Court. On December 2, 2004, the Court of Appeals issued its decision (the “Third
Circuit Decision”).

Note18 Commitments and contingencies, continued
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The effect of the Third Circuit Decision was to reverse the District Court’s confirmation order in respect of the CE Plan. The Third Circuit Decision focused
on three issues raised by the appealing parties which relate to the ultimate terms of the CE Plan: (i) whether the Bankruptcy Court had “related to”
jurisdiction over the claims against the non-debtors, Lummus and Basic, that do not arise from any products or operations of Combustion Engineering
(the “non-derivative claims”); (ii) whether the non-debtors, Lummus and Basic, could avail themselves of the protection of the channeling injunction by
invoking Section 105 of the Bankruptcy Code and contributing assets to the Asbestos PI Trust; and (iii) whether the two-trust structure and use of stub
claims in the voting process comply with the Bankruptcy Code. The Court of Appeals held that there were insufficient factual findings to support
“related-to” jurisdiction and that Section 105 of the Bankruptcy Code could not be employed to extend the channeling injunction to the non-derivative
claims against nondebtors, such as Lummus and Basic. With regard to the two-trust structure, the Court of Appeals remanded the CE Plan to the
District Court to determine whether creditors received fair treatment in light of the pre-petition payments made to the CE Settlement Trust participants
and the use of stub claims in the voting process. Among other things, the Court of Appeals instructed the lower courts to consider whether payments
under the CE Settlement Trust constituted voidable preferences that were inconsistent with the fair distribution scheme of the Bankruptcy Code. 

On December 15, 2004, Combustion Engineering filed a petition seeking a rehearing en banc by the Court of Appeals. Specifically, Combustion
Engineering and its immediate parent, Asea Brown Boveri, now merged into Holdings, challenged the holding in the Third Circuit Decision that the
Bankruptcy and District Courts did not have “related to” jurisdiction over the non-derivative claims against Lummus and Basic and that Section 105 
of the Bankruptcy Code could not be used to extend the channeling injunction to such claims. On January 19, 2005, the Court of Appeals denied 
the petition for rehearing en banc.

Notwithstanding the Third Circuit Decision, the Master Settlement Agreement, which settles the amount of and provides for partial payment on
approximately 154,000 asbestos-related claims, remains effective. Early in the Combustion Engineering bankruptcy case, an asbestos claimant
commenced an action against the trustee of the CE Settlement Trust and individuals who had received distributions from such trust, asserting that
further distributions by the CE Settlement Trust should be enjoined because the transaction that created the CE Settlement Trust was a voidable
preference.The Bankruptcy Court ruled that it would not dismiss that action for lack of standing. On October 22, 2004, the trustee of the CE Settlement
Trust moved to dismiss the complaint in that action.This matter is pending and no decision has been rendered by the Court. 

Following theThird Circuit Decision, the lower courts assumed jurisdiction over further confirmation proceedings in respect of the CE Plan. On January
27, 2005, the Bankruptcy Court authorized the Future Claimants Representative and the Creditors Committee to file any available bankruptcy-related
and similar claims against third parties, including preference claims against certain claimants that did not participate in the CE Settlement Trust, and 
any potential bankruptcy related claims against the Company.The Bankruptcy Court further stated that if Combustion Engineering and the Company
cannot agree on modifications to the CE Plan with the Future Claimants Representatives and Creditors Committee, and the representative of
Combustion Engineering claimants who opposed the confirmation order, the Bankruptcy Court would appoint an independent representative to
prosecute all of the foregoing preference claims and bankruptcy related claims asserted against the Company.The Company also entered into a tolling
agreement to extend the time period within which bankruptcy related claims against it could be brought.

Since February17, 2003, a stay and preliminary injunction have barred the commencement and prosecution of certain asbestos-related claims against
Combustion Engineering, Lummus, Basic, certain other entities of the Company and certain other parties, including parties indemnified by the
Company. The barred claims include, among others, claims arising from asbestos exposure caused by Combustion Engineering, Lummus or Basic and
claims alleging fraudulent conveyance, successor liability and veil piercing. The Company does not know the number or nature of claims that would 
now be pending against the protected entities if those legal measures had not been in place.

Modified CE Plan
In March 2005, following extensive discussions with certain representatives of various claimants, the Creditors Committee and the Future Claimants
Representative, the Company reached an agreement on certain “settlement points” for modifying the CE Plan with a view to bringing it into conformity
with theThird Circuit Decision and for providing a mechanism for resolving finally Lummus’potential asbestos liability.

The settlement points contemplate the following elements for finally resolving both Combustion Engineering’s and Lummus’potential asbestos liability:

■ The modified plan for Combustion Engineering (the “Modified CE Plan”) would continue to reflect the CE Plan’s fundamental approach of channeling
claims against Combustion Engineering to a trust funded, in part, by other entities of the Company.

■ Confirmation and effectiveness of the Modified CE Plan would be obtained concurrently with a Chapter11Plan for Lummus (the “Lummus Plan”),
acceptances to which would be obtained from voting Lummus asbestos claimants prior to Lummus commencing a Chapter11case.

■ The Company would contribute to the Asbestos PI Trust the CE Convertible Note, the ABB Promissory Note, the Excess CE Cash and the
CE Settlement Shares and would provide the Related Indemnities and assign the Certain Insurance Amounts, as contemplated by the CE Plan,
subject to any modifications that may be agreed.

■ The Company would make an additional contribution (the “Additional Contribution”) of $232 million.The Additional Contribution will be used as
follows: (i) up to $28 million will be used to fund payment of all current and future asbestos claims against Lummus by a trust created under §524(g)
of the Bankruptcy Code pursuant to the Lummus Plan; and (ii) the remaining amount will be used to provide additional funding under the Modified
CE Plan to pay CE’s asbestos creditors through the Asbestos PI Trust. Under the Modified CE Plan, the Lummus Sale Payments would not be
required and the Lummus Note would be replaced by contributions to a separate Lummus §524(g) trust as discussed below.

■ Lummus has retained a person to act as a representative for future Lummus asbestos personal injury claimants (the “Lummus FCR”).The parties to
the settlement points have agreed that the Lummus FCR will have determined by April 15,2005, the appropriate funding to pay in full all current and
future Lummus asbestos claims. In the event the Lummus FCR concludes that such amount exceeds $28 million, the Company will increase the
amount of its contributions for the benefit of such Lummus claims by the amount in excess of $28 million, up to an additional $5 million. If the
Lummus FCR concludes that such amount exceeds $33 million, the Company will have the option to terminate the settlement with no further
obligations under the settlement points.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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■ The Companywill directly or indirectly pay up to $8million in respect of certain approved legal fees in the Chapter11case of Combustion Engineering.

■ The Modified CE Plan would provide for a settlement of all pending preference claims and related claims, including any claims against the Company,
its affiliates, and the officers of the Company and the affiliates, directors and employees, being asserted in the CE case.

■ The scope of the channeling injunction to be issued under the Modified CE Plan would be the same as under the CE Plan, except that non-derivative
claims against Basic would not be subject to the injunction.

■ Basic would not be addressed in the Modified CE Plan and would therefore not contribute the Basic Note.

■ The Modified CE Plan would also involve certain other adjustments, including certain changes in the relative amounts to be paid by the CE Asbestos
PITrust to different categories of claimants and changes in the administration of the trust.

In a status conference on April 5, 2005, the Bankruptcy Court instructed the Company to submit the documentation relating to the Modified CE Plan
and the Lummus Plan to the Bankruptcy Court within 60 days.The Company and various other interested parties are now working to reach agreement
on open issues, details relating to the Modified CE Plan and the Lummus Plan and the form and substance of the operative documents and related
Bankruptcy Court motions and other pleadings.The Company cannot be certain when those negotiations will be concluded or on what terms the
parties will resolve outstanding issues.The Modified CE Plan and the Lummus Plan will become effective only if different classes of their respective
creditors vote in favor of the respective plans.The Modified CE Plan and the Lummus Plan will be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy and District
Courts, as well as to further judicial review if appeals are made.While the Company believes that the Modified CE Plan and the Lummus Plan are
consistent with theThird Circuit Decision and other applicable laws and precedents, it cannot be certain whether the courts will approve the plans, nor
can it predict whether the plans will receive the needed creditor votes.

The Company does not know whether any plan of reorganization for Combustion Engineering or Lummus will ultimately be confirmed or whether
asbestos-related liabilities of any other entities of the Company would be resolved by any such plan. If for any reason a Chapter11plan relating to
Combustion Engineering is not eventually confirmed, Combustion Engineering could be required to enter a Chapter7proceeding. If for any reason
a Chapter11plan relating to Lummus is not eventually confirmed, the Company expects that Lummus’asbestos-related liabilities will have to be
resolved through the tort system.

Because the Third Circuit Decision held that non-derivative claims cannot be subject to the CE Plan’s proposed channeling injunction, Basic will not be
included in the Modified CE Plan.The Company expects that Basic’s asbestos-related liabilities will have to be resolved through its own bankruptcy or
similar U.S. state court liquidation proceeding or through the tort system.

If any entities of the Company are not included in the protection offered by the channeling injunction entered pursuant to any Combustion Engineering
plan that is confirmed, such entities could be required to resolve in the tort system, or otherwise, current and future asbestos-related claims that are
asserted against such entities. Such events would be subject to numerous uncertainties, risk and expense. 

If U.S. federal legislation addressing asbestos personal injury claims is passed, which is speculative at this time, such legislation may affect the amount
that will be required to resolve the asbestos-related claims against entities of the Company.

Effect on the Company’s financial position
Expenses. The Company recorded expenses related to asbestos of $262 million, $142 million and $395 million in loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax, and $1 million, $3 million and $25 million in income from continuing operations, net of tax, for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Loss 
from discontinued operations, net of tax, for 2004 reflects a charge of $232 million taken in connection with the agreement the Company reached in
March 2005 on the basic terms of the Modified CE Plan, $17 million resulting from the mark-to-market adjustment relating to the CE Settlement Shares,
a credit of $6 million resulting from adjustment of the provision for the estimated liability of Basic as described below, and other costs of $19 million. Loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax, for 2003 includes a charge of $68 million, net of tax, resulting from the mark-to-market adjustment relating 
to the CE Settlement Shares, a provision of $41 million, representing the present value of the first two $25 million payments under the ABB Promissory
Note, which were previously considered contingent, as well as $33 million of other costs. The 2002 amount reflected the Company’s estimate of
incremental total costs to be incurred based upon the terms of the CE Plan. 

Cash Payments. Cash payments, before insurance recoveries, related to Combustion Engineering’s asbestos-related claims were $56 million (including
$49 million contributed to the CE Settlement Trust, described above), $391 million (including $365 million contributed to the CE Settlement Trust), and
$236 million (including $30 million contributed into the CE Settlement Trust), in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Administration and defense costs
were $10 million, $36 million and $32 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Cash payments related to asbestos-related claims against Lummus and Basic made through December 31, 2004 were approximately $3 million and
$3 million, respectively. Cash payments to resolve asbestos-related claims against entities other than Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic
have been immaterial to date, totaling less than $1 million in the aggregate. The Company has not maintained a reserve for the claims pending against
entities other than Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic.

Provisions. At December31,2004,2003 and 2002, the Company recorded total provisions on a consolidated basis of $1,023 million, $815 million and
$1,095 million in respect of asbestos-related claims and defense costs related to Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic.The Company’s
provisions in continuing operations for asbestos-related liabilities at December31,2003 and 2002, now include $2million and $4million, respectively,
previously classified in liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations. Based upon the expected implementation of the Modified CE Plan and the
Lummus Plan, the Company recorded provisions of $985 million and $33 million, respectively, at December31,2004, in accrued liabilities and other. If
the Modified CE Plan and Lummus Plan become effective, certain amounts will be reclassified as of the effective date to other long-term liabilities based
on the timing of the future cash payments to the Asbestos PITrust or any similar trust created under the Lummus Plan. Future earnings will be affected
by mark-to-market adjustments relating to the CE Settlement Shares through the effective date of the Plan, as well as contingent payments when they
become probable of payment.The provisions at December31,2003 and 2002,were based on the Company’s obligations under the CE Plan and
assumed that the CE Plan would be confirmed and become effective as proposed.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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Note18 Commitments and contingencies, continued 
In light of the decision of the Court of Appeals, the Company has made a separate provision at December 31,2004,with respect to Basic in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No.5, Accounting for Contingencies, and Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation
No.14, Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of a Loss: an interpretation of FASB Statement No.5.With respect to Basic, the Company has
established a provision of $5 million relating to its asbestos-related liabilities based on analysis of historical claims statistics and related settlement costs
and a projection of such claims activity over the next several years.

Management believes that it is probable that the full amount of the relevant provisions will be required to settle the respective asbestos-related liabilities
of Combustion Engineering, Lummus and Basic.The Company may incur liability greater than the existing provisions, whether in connection with a
modified plan of bankruptcy or otherwise, but management does not believe that the amount of any such incremental liability can be reasonably
estimated or that there is a better estimate of these liabilities than the amounts that are provided for.

The Company’s provisions in respect of asbestos-related claims include, as stated above, amounts for each of Combustion Engineering, Lummus
and Basic.The assets of Combustion Engineering include amounts receivable of approximately $221million,$232million and $241million at
December31,2004,2003 and 2002, respectively, for probable insurance recoveries, which were established with respect to asbestos-related claims.

The ultimate outcome of the Company’s efforts to resolve the asbestos-related personal injury claims against Combustion Engineering and other
entities of the Company (including any such claims against third parties indemnified by entities of the Company) remains uncertain. The related costs
may be higher than the Company’s provisions reflect and could have a material adverse impact on its consolidated financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In the event the Modified CE Plan or Lummus Plan do not become effective, the ultimate cost for the resolution of asbestos-
related personal injury claims against Combustion Engineering and Lummus may be significantly higher and could have a material adverse impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Contingencies related to former Nuclear Technology business
The Company retained liabilities for certain specific environmental remediation costs at two sites in the U.S. that were operated by its Nuclear
Technology business, which was sold to British Nuclear Fuels PLC (BNFL) in April 2000. Pursuant to the sale agreement with BNFL, the Company
has retained all of the environmental liabilities associated with its Combustion Engineering subsidiary’s Windsor, Connecticut facility and a portion
of the environmental liabilities associated with its ABB C-E Nuclear Power Inc. subsidiary’s Hematite, Missouri facility. The primary environmental
liabilities associated with these sites relate to the costs of remediating radiological and chemical contamination at these facilities. Such costs are not
payable until a facility is taken out of use and generally are incurred over a number of years. Although it is difficult to predict with accuracy the amount
of time it may take to remediate radiological contamination upon decommissioning, based on information that BNFL has made publicly available, the
Company believes that it may take until 2013 to remediate the Hematite site.With respect to the Windsor site, the Company believes the remediation
may take until 2010. At the Windsor site, a significant portion of the contamination is related to activities that were formerly conducted by or for
the U.S. government.The Company believes that a significant portion of the remediation costs will be covered by the U.S. government under the U.S.
government’s Formerly Utilized Sites Remedial Action Program.The Company has estimated the total contingent liability in a range of loss from
$266 million to $447 million on an undiscounted basis. The Company has recorded in other liabilities a reserve of $266 million, net of payments from
inception of $34 million, at December31,2004. Payments for remediation were $10 million, $6 million and $12million during 2004,2003 and 2002,
respectively.The Company does not expect the majority of the remaining costs to be paid during 2005.

Note 19 Taxes
Provision for taxes consists of the following:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Current taxes on income $ 333 $ 217 $ 255
Deferred taxes (22) 28 (174)
Tax expense from continuing operations 311 245 81
Tax expense from discontinued operations 41 42 91

The weighted-average tax rate is the tax rate that results from applying each subsidiary’s statutory income tax rate to the income from continuing
operations before taxes and minority interest.The Company operates in countries that have differing tax laws and rates. Consequently, the consolidated
weighted-average effective rate will vary from year to year according to the source of earnings or losses by country.

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Reconciliation of taxes:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes and minority interest $ 861 $ (60) $ 66
Weighted-average tax rate 38.8% (13.3)% 40.9%
Taxes at weighted-average tax rate 334 8 27
Items taxed at rates other than the weighted-average tax rate (36) 15 (126)
Changes in valuation allowance 107 266 167
Changes in enacted tax rates (18) 4 1
Other, net (76) (48) 12
Tax expense from continuing operations $ 311 $ 245 $ 81
Effective tax rate for the year 36.1% (408.3)% 122.7%
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In 2003, items taxed at rates other than the weighted-average tax rate included the tax effect of an $84 million expense comprising the change in fair
value of the embedded derivative contained in the Company’s $968 million convertible bonds combined with the continued amortization of the discount
on issuance of these bonds (see Note15), partially offset by earnings recognized in relation to certain of the Company’s equity accounted investments.
In 2002, items taxed at rates other than the weighted-average tax rate included a $215 million gain, reflecting the change in fair value of the embedded
derivative contained in the Company’s $968 million convertible bonds, partially offset by amortization of the discount on issuance of these bonds,as well
as earnings recognized in relation to certain of the Company’s equity accounted investments.

The reconciliation of taxes for2004,2003 and 2002 included changes in the valuation allowance recorded in certain jurisdictions in respect of deferred
tax assets that were recognized for net operating losses incurred in those jurisdictions.The change in valuation allowance was required as the
Company determined it was more likely than not that such deferred tax assets would no longer be realized. In 2004, the change in valuation allowance
is predominately related to the Company’s operations in certain countries including Canada and France. In 2003, the change in valuation allowance
included an allowance of approximately $258 million on deferred tax assets as a result of the Company’s determination that it was more likely than not
that such deferred tax assets would no longer be realized within the Company’s remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business. In 2002, the change
in valuation allowance included an allowance of $17million on deferred tax assets as a result of the overstatement within the Company’s Power
Technologies division in Italy (see Note18).The change in valuation allowance in 2002 also included an allowance of approximately $33 million on
deferred tax assets as a result of the Company’s determination that it was more likely than not that such deferred tax assets would no longer be realized
within the Company’s remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business.

In 2004 and 2003, the reconciling item “Other, net” included a benefit of approximately $39 million and approximately $56 million, respectively,
relating to the favorable resolution of certain prior year tax matters, including the release of a $38 million tax provision related to a tax case ruled in favor
of the Company in 2003. Furthermore, 2004 included the one-time benefit of approximately $45 million from the losses of a post divestment
reorganization and 2003 included the expense of approximately $16 million related to a tax claim filed in Central Europe. Additionally, in 2003 and 2002,
“Other, net” included $5 million and $7million, respectively, related to expenses that are no longer deductible under the Italian tax law as a result of the
overstatement within the Company’s Power Technologies division in Italy.

In 2003, the loss from continuing operations before taxes and minority interest of $60 million included an $84 million expense comprising the change
in fair value of the embedded derivative contained in the Company’s $968 million convertible bonds combined with the continued amortization of
the discount on issuance of these bonds. Furthermore, the tax expense from continuing operations included the release of a $38 million tax provision
related to a tax case ruled in favor of the Company, offset by expense of approximately $16 million related to a tax claim filed in Central Europe. In
addition, the tax expense from continuing operations included a valuation allowance of approximately $258 million on deferred tax assets as a result
of the determination that it was more likely than not that such deferred tax assets would no longer be realized within the Company’s remaining Oil,
Gas and Petrochemicals business.The effective tax rate applicable to income from continuing operations excluding the tax effect of these items would
be 37.5 percent.

In 2002, the tax expense from continuing operations included an allowance of approximately $33 million on deferred tax assets as a result of the
determination that it was more likely than not that such deferred tax assets would no longer be realized within the Company’s remaining Oil, Gas
and Petrochemicals business as well as an allowance of $17million on deferred tax assets and $7million related to non-deductible expenses under
Italian tax law both as a result of the overstatement within the Company’s PowerTechnologies division in Italy.The effective tax rate applicable to
income from continuing operations excluding the tax effect of these items would have been 36.4 percent.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

December 31, 2004 2003

Deferred tax liabilities:
Financing receivables $ (236) $ (244)
Property, plant and equipment (290) (464)
Pension and other accrued liabilities (479) (371)
Other (148) (131)

Total deferred tax liability (1,153) (1,210)
Deferred tax assets:

Investments and other 36 20
Property, plant and equipment 77 172
Pension and other accrued liabilities 833 692
Unused tax losses and credits 1,694 1,713
Other 553 444

Total deferred tax asset 3,193 3,041
Valuation allowance (2,017) (1,872)
Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance 1,176 1,169
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ 23 $ (41)

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are allocated between current and non-current as follows:

December 31, 2004 2003

Current Non-current Current Non-current

Deferred tax liability $ (200) $ (953) $ (188) $ (1,022)
Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance 670 506 579 590
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ 470 $ (447) $ 391 $ (432)

The non-current deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance, is included in investments and other.

Certain entities have deferred tax assets related to net operating loss carry-forwards and other items. Because recognition of these assets is uncertain,
valuation allowances of $2,017 million and $1,872 million have been established at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively.

At December31,2004, net operating loss carry-forwards of $4,291million and tax credits of $141million are available to reduce future taxes of certain
subsidiaries, of which $2,241million loss carry-forwards and $92 million tax credits expire in varying amounts through 2024 and the remainder does not
expire.These carry-forwards are predominantly related to the Company’s U.S. and German operations.

The provision for tax contingencies was approximately $295 million and $300 million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively. A significant part of
these provisions has been accrued for pending court cases in Northern Europe relating to certain sale and leaseback transactions.

The Company had no income tax expense impact from the repatriation provision of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 regarding the one time
dividend tax rate reduction.

Note 20 Other liabilities 
The Company’s other liabilities amount to $1,083 million and $1,077million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively.

Other liabilities include non-current provisions of $439 million and $441million, deferred income of $143 million and $158 million and non-current
derivative liabilities of $53 million and $40 million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively. Included in non-current provisions are amounts
accrued for the Company’s estimated environmental remediation costs related to its former NuclearTechnology business (see Note18) of $266 million
and $276 million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company entered into tax-advantaged leasing transactions with U.S. investors prior to1999. Prepaid rents that have been received on these
transactions are $314 million and $312 million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively, and have been recorded as deposit liabilities. Net gains
on these transactions are being recognized over the lease terms.

Note 21 Employee benefits
The Company operates several pension plans, including defined benefit, defined contribution and termination indemnity plans, in accordance with
local regulations and practices.These plans cover the majority of the Company’s employees and provide benefits to employees in the event of death,
disability, retirement or termination of employment. Certain of these plans are multi-employer plans.The Company also operates postretirement
benefit plans in certain countries.

Some of these plans require employees to make contributions and enable employees to earn matching or other contributions from the Company.The
funding policies of the Company’s plans are consistent with the local government and tax requirements.The Company has several pension plans that
are not required to be funded pursuant to local government and tax requirements.

The Company uses a December31measurement date for its plans.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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Obligations and funded status
The following tables set forth the change in benefit obligations, the change in plan assets and the funded status recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements at December31,2004 and 2003, for the Company’s benefit plans:

Pension benefits Other benefits

2004 2003 2004 2003

Benefit obligation at the beginning of year $ 7,721 $ 7,250 $ 397 $ 444
Service cost 190 204 3 3
Interest cost 375 369 23 26
Contributions from plan participants 46 50 10 7
Benefit payments (523) (528) (39) (38)
Benefit obligations of businesses acquired 38 – – –
Benefit obligations of businesses disposed (118) (131) – –
Actuarial (gain) loss 366 (371) (23) 42
Plan amendments and other (14) (16) (3) (88)
Exchange rate differences 632 894 1 1

Benefit obligation at the end of year 8,713 7,721 369 397
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of year 6,041 5,319 – –

Actual return on plan assets 476 407 – –
Contributions from employer 753 309 29 31
Contributions from plan participants 46 50 10 7
Benefit payments (523) (528) (39) (38)
Plan assets of businesses acquired 34 – – –
Plan assets of businesses disposed (92) (127) – –
Plan amendments and other (8) – – –
Exchange rate differences 535 611 – –

Fair value of plan assets at the end of year 7,262 6,041 – –
Unfunded amount 1,451 1,680 369 397
Unrecognized transition liability – – (11) (14)
Unrecognized actuarial loss (1,019) (782) (141) (174)
Unrecognized prior service cost (22) (38) 16 15
Net amount recognized $ 410 $ 860 $ 233 $ 224

In May2003, the Emerging IssuesTask Force of the Financial Accounting Standards Board reached a consensus on Emerging IssuesTask Force 
No.03-4 (EITF03-4), Determining the Classification and Benefit Attribution Method for a “Cash Balance” Pension Plan. EITF03-4 clarifies that a
cash balance plan, as defined by the guidance, should be accounted for as a defined benefit plan using the traditional unit credit attribution method.
The Company adopted EITF03-4 in May2003. As a result, the Company accounts for certain of its plans in Switzerland as cash balance plans in
accordance with EITF03-4.The adoption of EITF03-4 resulted in an actuarial gain of $406 million during 2003.

The following amounts have been recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December31,2004 and 2003:

Pension benefits Other benefits

2004 2003 2004 2003

Prepaid pension cost $ (536) $ (569) $ – $ –
Accrued pension cost 1,272 1,613 233 224
Intangible assets (11) (2) – –
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (315) (182) – –
Net amount recognized $ 410 $ 860 $ 233 $ 224

Included in the $1,551million of pension and other employee benefits at December 31, 2004, are $46 million of long-term employee-related obligations
not accounted for under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.87(SFAS 87), Employers’Accounting for Pensions or Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No.106 (SFAS106), Employers’Accounting for Postretirement Benefits OtherThan Pensions. Additionally, accrued liabilities and
other (see Note16), contains an accrual of $77million and $112million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively, for short-term employee benefits
that do not meet the criteria of SFAS 87or SFAS106.

The pension and other employee benefits liability reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets includes $326 million and $216 million at December31,
2004 and 2003, respectively, to record a minimum pension liability.The $216 million of minimum pension liability at December31,2003, included
liabilities related to discontinued operations of $32 million.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) for all defined benefit pension plans was $8,228 million and $7,414 million at December31,2004 and 2003,
respectively.

The projected benefit obligation (PBO) and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were:

December 31, 2004 2003

PBO Assets Difference PBO Assets Difference

PBO exceeds assets $ 8,294 $ 6,810 $ 1,484 $ 4,432 $ 2,624 $ 1,808
Assets exceed PBO 419 452 (33) 3,289 3,417 (128)
Total $ 8,713 $ 7,262 $ 1,451 $ 7,721 $ 6,041 $ 1,680

The accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were:

December 31, 2004 2003

ABO Assets Difference ABO Assets Difference

ABO exceeds assets $ 5,008 $ 3,910 $ 1,098 $ 2,233 $ 667 $ 1,566
Assets exceed ABO 3,220 3,352 (132) 5,181 5,374 (193)
Total $ 8,228 $ 7,262 $ 966 $ 7,414 $ 6,041 $ 1,373

Components of net periodic benefit cost
For the years ended December31,2004,2003 and 2002, net periodic benefit cost consists of the following: 

Pension benefits Other benefits

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Service cost $ 190 $ 204 $ 193 $ 3 $ 3 $ 6
Interest cost 375 369 328 23 26 30
Expected return on plan assets (330) (325) (292) – – –
Amortization transition liability 5 1 13 2 6 7
Amortization prior service cost 4 9 15 (2) – –
Amortization of net actuarial loss 37 45 23 9 9 6
Other 4 8 9 2 – –
Net periodic benefit cost $ 285 $ 311 $ 289 $ 37 $ 44 $ 49

Assumptions
The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine benefit obligations at December31,2004 and 2003:

Pension benefits Other benefits

2004 2003 2004 2003

Discount rate 4.60% 5.00% 5.75% 6.25%
Rate of compensation increase 2.23% 2.31% – –

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended December31,2004,2003 and 2002:

Pension benefits Other benefits

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Discount rate 4.97% 5.10% 5.10% 6.25% 6.74% 7.24%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 5.57% 6.06% 6.21% – – –
Rate of compensation increase 2.28% 3.07% 3.07% – – –

The expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption is derived from the current and projected asset allocation, the current and projected types
of investments in each asset category and the long-term historical returns for each investment type.

The Company has multiple non-pension postretirement benefit plans.The Company’s health care plans are generally contributory with participants’
contributions adjusted annually.

2004 2003

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 11.76% 11.81%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 6.24% 5.96%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2013 2013

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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Assumed health care cost trends have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in
assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects at December31,2004:

1-percentage- 1-percentage-
point increase point decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost $ 2 $ (1)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 25 $ (22)

As of July1,2004, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position (FSP) No.FAS106-2, Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (which superceded FAS FSP No.106-1).This
FSP provides authoritative guidance on the accounting for the U.S. subsidy and other provisions of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003.The effects of these provisions resulted in a reduction of $24 million in ABO with an offset to unrecognized net actuarial loss
in other benefits.The U.S. government will begin making the subsidy payments for employers in 2006.The effect of the Act on the foreign net periodic
benefit costs at December31,2004, is $2 million.

Plan assets
The Company’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31,2004 and 2003, and approximate target allocation at December31,
2004 is as follows:

Plan assets Target allocation

Asset category: 2004 2003 2004

Equity securities 33% 37% 30%
Debt securities 54% 49% 51%
Real estate 9% 10% 12%
Other 4% 4% 7%
Total 100% 100% 100%

The pension plan assets are invested in accordance with statutory regulations, pension plan rules, and recommendations of the pension fund trustees.
The investment allocation strategy is expected to remain consistent with historical averages.

At December31,2004 and 2003, plan assets included approximately $5 million (approximately1million shares) of the Company’s capital stock.

Contributions
During 2004, the Company made a non-cash contribution of $549 million of available-for-sale debt securities to certain of the Company’s pension
plans in Germany.

The Company expects to contribute approximately $150 million to its pension plans and $29 million to its other postretirement benefit plans in 2005.

The Company also maintains several defined contribution plans.The expense for these plans was $71million, $86 million and $90 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.The Company also contributed $74 million, $80 million and $74 million to multi-employer plans in 2004,2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Estimated future benefit payments
The following table reflects the total pension benefits expected to be paid from the plans or from the Company’s assets, including both the Company’s
share of the benefit cost and the participants’share of the cost,which is funded by participant contributions.Additionally, the Medicare subsidies column
represents payments estimated to be received from the U.S. government as part of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003.

Other postretirement benefits

Pension Benefit Medicare 
benefits payments subsidies

2005 $ 495 $ 29 $ –
2006 509 30 (2)
2007 529 31 (2)
2008 545 30 (2)
2009 565 30 (2)
Years 2010–2014 2,980 152 (11)

Note 21 Employee benefits, continued
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Management incentive plan
The Company maintains a management incentive plan under which it offers stock warrants and warrant appreciation rights (WARs) to key employees
for no consideration.

Warrants granted under this plan allow participants to purchase shares of the Company at predetermined prices. Participants may sell the warrants
rather than exercise the right to purchase shares. Equivalent warrants are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x), which facilitates valuation and
transferability of warrants granted under this plan.

Each WAR gives the participant the right to receive, in cash, the market price of a warrant on the date of exercise of the WAR.The WARs are non-
transferable.

Participants may exercise or sell warrants and exercise WARs after the vesting period, which is three years from the date of grant. Vesting restrictions
can be waived in certain circumstances such as death or disability. All warrants and WARs expire six years from the date of grant. The primary trading
market for shares of ABB Ltd is the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x), the exercise prices of warrants and the trading prices of equivalent warrants listed on
the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) are denominated in Swiss francs. Accordingly, exercise prices are presented below in Swiss francs. Fair values have
been presented in U.S. dollars based upon exchange rates in effect as of the applicable period.

Warrants
The Company accounts for the warrants using the intrinsic value method of APB 25 as permitted by SFAS123. All warrants were issued with exercise
prices greater than the market prices of the stock on the dates of grant. Accordingly, the Company records no compensation expense related to the
warrants, except in circumstances when a participant ceased to be employed by a consolidated subsidiary, such as after a divestment by the Company.
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No.44, Accounting for CertainTransactions Involving Stock Compensation,
the Company records compensation expense based on the fair value of warrants retained by participants on the date their employment ceased,with an
offset to additional paid in capital.The impact of such expense is not material.

Presented below is a summary of warrant activity for the years shown:

Weighted-
average

Number of Number of exercise price
warrants shares (1) (Swiss francs) (2)

Outstanding at January 1, 2002 76,496,150 25,240,463 26.55
Forfeited (8,105,090) (2,043,264) 24.03
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 68,391,060 23,197,199 26.77
Granted (3) 27,254,250 5,450,850 7.00
Forfeited (1,435,000) (361,758) 19.66
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 94,210,310 28,286,291 23.05
Granted (4) 14,475,000 2,895,000 7.50
Forfeited (3,000,000) (661,864) 9.94
Expired (10,538,000) (8,612,664) 22.17
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 95,147,310 21,906,763 21.74
Exercisable at December 31, 2002 29,751,060 13,456,203 25.71
Exercisable at December 31, 2003 49,381,060 18,404,851 30.11
Exercisable at December 31, 2004 55,230,560 13,923,413 30.08
(1) All warrants granted prior to 1999 require the exercise of 100 warrants for 81.73 registered shares of ABB Ltd. Warrants granted in 1999, 2000 and 2001 require the exercise of 100 warrants

for 25.21 registered shares of ABB Ltd. No warrants were granted in 2002. Warrants granted in 2003 and 2004 required the exercise of five warrants for one registered share of ABB Ltd.
Information presented reflects the number of registered shares of ABB Ltd that warrant holders can receive upon exercise.

(2) Information presented reflects the exercise price per registered share of ABB Ltd.
(3) The aggregate fair value at date of grant of warrants issued in 2003 was $12 million, assuming a zero percent dividend yield, expected volatility of 44 percent, risk-free interest rate of 

2.41 percent, and an expected life of six years.
(4) The aggregate fair value at date of grant of warrants issued in 2004 was $4 million, assuming dividend yield of 1.53 percent, expected volatility of 28.5 percent, risk-free interest rate of 

1.98 percent, and an expected life of six years.

Note 22 Employee incentive plans

ABB_FR04en_055-102.qxd  19.4.2005  17:47 Uhr  Seite 93



Presented below is a summary of warrants outstanding at December31,2004:

Weighted-
Exercise price Number of Number of average
(in Swiss francs) (1) warrants shares (2) remaining life

29.75 4,648,060 1,171,758 0.4 years
32.73 14,565,000 3,671,781 0.9 years
42.05 19,630,000 4,948,648 1.4 years
13.49 16,387,500 4,131,226 2.9 years
7.00 25,441,750 5,088,350 4.9 years
7.50 14,475,000 2,895,000 5.9 years

(1) Information presented reflects the exercise price per registered share of ABB Ltd.
(2) Information presented reflects the number of registered shares of ABB Ltd that warrant holders can receive upon exercise of warrants.

WARs
As each WAR gives the holder the right to receive cash equal to the market price of a warrant on date of exercise, the Company is required by APB 25
to record a liability based upon the fair value of outstanding WARs at each period end, amortized on a straight-line basis over the three-year vesting
period. In selling, general and administrative expenses, the Company recorded income of $4 million for2004, expense of $1million for 2003 and income
of $14 million for2002, respectively, as a result of changes in the fair value of the outstanding WARs and the vested portion.To hedge its exposure to
fluctuations in fair value of outstanding WARs, the Company purchases cash-settled call options, which entitle the Company to receive amounts
equivalent to its obligations under the outstanding WARs. In accordance with EITF00-19 the cash-settled call options have been recorded as assets
measured at fair value (see Note5), with subsequent changes in fair value recorded through earnings as an offset to the compensation expense
recorded in connection with the WARs. During 2004,2003 and 2002, the Company recognized expense of $15 million,$9 million and $26 million,
respectively, in interest and other finance expense, related to the cash-settled call options.

The aggregate fair value of outstanding WARs was $14 million and $17million at December31,2004 and 2003, respectively. Fair value of WARs was
determined based upon the trading price of equivalent warrants listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x).

Presented below is a summary of WAR activity for the years shown.

Number of
WARs

outstanding

Outstanding at January 1, 2002 103,553,070
Exercised (1,455,080)
Forfeited (3,803,750)
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 98,294,240
Granted 21,287,000
Exercised (2,052,500)
Forfeited (1,850,000)
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 115,678,740
Granted 30,490,000
Exercised (3,481,220)
Forfeited (2,600,000)
Expired (7,895,000)
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 132,192,520

At December31,2004 and 2003, 81,590,520 and 57,619,240 of the WARs were exercisable, respectively.The aggregate fair value at date of grant of
WARs issued in 2004 and 2003 was $8 million and $9 million, respectively. No WARs were granted in 2002.

Employee Share Acquisition Plan
To incentivize employees, the Company granted stock options under an Employee Share Acquisition Plan (ESAP Plan) in November2004. In the initial
launch of the ESAP Plan, employees in eleven countries, including the United States, were invited to participate.The ESAP Plan is an employee stock
option plan with a savings feature. Employees save over a twelve-month savings period, by way of monthly salary deductions. The maximum monthly
savings amount is the lower of10 percent of gross monthly salary or the local currency equivalent of 750 Swiss francs. At the end of the savings period,
employees choose whether to exercise their stock options using their savings plus interest to buy ABB Ltd shares (American Depositary Shares (ADS)
in the case of employees in the United States – each ADS representing one registered share of the Company) at the exercise price set at the grant date,
or have their savings returned with interest.The savings are accumulated in a bank account held by a third party trustee on behalf of the participants
and earn interest.

(U.S. dollar amounts in millions, except per share amounts)
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The maximum number of shares that each employee can purchase has been determined based on the exercise price and the aggregate savings for
the twelve-month period, increased by10 percent to allow for currency fluctuations. If, at the exercise date, the balance of savings plus interest
exceeds the maximum amount of cash the employee must pay to fully exercise his stock options, the excess funds will be returned to the employee.
If the balance of savings and interest is insufficient to permit the employee to fully exercise his stock options, the employee has the choice but not the
obligation, to make an additional payment so that the employee may fully exercise his stock options.

If an employee ceases to be employed by the Company, the accumulated savings as of the date of cessation of employment will be returned to the
employee and the employee’s right to exercise his stock options will be forfeited. Employees can withdraw from the ESAP Plan at any time during the
savings period and will be entitled to a refund of their accumulated savings.

The exercise price per share and ADS of 6.95 Swiss francs and $5.90, respectively, was determined using the respective closing price of the ABB Ltd
share on SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) and ADS on the NewYork Stock Exchange on November9,2004, the grant date.The Company granted stock
options, such that, if fully exercised, the Company would issue7,548,360 registered shares (including shares represented by ADS).The aggregate
fair value of the awards at date of grant was $5 million, assuming a zero percent dividend yield, expected volatility of 28.25 percent, a risk-free interest
rate of 0.97percent and a life of one year from grant date. Forfeitures since grant date have been insignificant.

The Company accounts for awards under the ESAP Plan using the intrinsic value method of APB 25.The awards were issued with an exercise price
equal to the market price of the stock on grant date. Accordingly, the intrinsic value as of grant date was zero and the Company has recorded no
compensation expense related to the ESAP Plan.

Performance Incentive Share Plan
In December 2004, the Company introduced a Performance Incentive Share Plan (Performance Plan) for members of its Executive Committee (EC
Members). EC Members did not participate in the management incentive plan in 2004.

The Performance Plan involves annual conditional grants of ABB Ltd shares (or ADSs where deemed appropriate by the Nomination and
Compensation Committee).The number of shares conditionally granted is dependent upon the base salary of the EC Member.The actual number of
shares that the participants will receive free of charge at a future date is dependent on1) the performance of ABB Ltd shares during a defined period
(Evaluation Period) compared to those of a selected peer group of publicly-listed multinational companies and 2) the term of service of the respective
EC Member in that capacity during the Evaluation Period.The actual number of shares received after the Evaluation Period cannot exceed100 percent
of the conditional grant.

The Evaluation Period of the initial launch was defined as the period from March15,2004, to March15,2006.The reference price of 7.68 Swiss francs
for the purpose of comparison with the peers was calculated as the average of the closing prices of the ABB Ltd share on SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x)
over the 20 trading days preceding March15,2004.

The performance of the Company compared to its peers over the Evaluation Period will be measured as the sum, in percentage terms, of the
average percentage price development of the ABB share price over the Evaluation Period and an average annual dividend yield percentage (the
Company’s Performance).

In order for shares to vest, the Company’s Performance over the Evaluation Period must be positive and equal to or better than half of the defined peers.
The actual number of shares to be delivered will be dependent on the Company’s ranking in comparison with the defined peers.The full amount of the
conditional grant will vest when the Company’s Performance is better than three-quarters of the defined peers.

If an EC Member gives notice of resignation or, under certain circumstances is given notice of termination, and the vesting period has not expired, then
the right to shares is forfeited. In the event of death or disability during the vesting period, the conditional grant size for that participant is reduced pro
rata based on the remaining vesting period. An evaluation of the Company’s Performance for the Evaluation Period up to the date of death or disability
is made to establish the number of shares that vest. If a Performance Plan participant ceases to be an EC Member for reasons other than described
above, the conditional grant size is reduced pro rata based on the portion of the vesting period remaining when the participant ceases to be an EC
Member. In respect of a Performance Plan grant for which the vesting period has not expired, the Nomination and Compensation Committee can invite
a new EC Member to receive a conditional grant, adjusted to reflect the shorter service period.

In 2004, 443,430 shares were conditionally granted to EC Members. In January2005, a further 59,001shares were conditionally granted under the
2004 launch to a new EC Member.

The Company accounts for awards under the Performance Plan using the intrinsic value method of APB 25. As the shares that vest are awarded free of
charge, the intrinsic value of the award is equivalent to the market price of the stock. Since the actual number of shares that participants will ultimately
receive is not determinable until March15, 2006, the Performance Plan is deemed to be a variable plan in accordance with APB 25. Changes in the fair
value of the Company’s stock and actual number of shares that vest up to July1,2005, date of adoption of SFAS123R,will result in a change in the
intrinsic value and amount of the awards and a corresponding change to compensation expense over the vesting period. The amount of compensation
expense for 2004 was insignificant.The aggregate fair value of the 2004 awards at grant date, assuming vesting of the maximum award in March 2006,
was approximately $2million.

Note 23 Stockholders’ equity
In March 2003, the Company sold 80 million treasury shares in two transactions for approximately $156 million.

At the Company’s annual general meeting held on May 16, 2003, the Company’s shareholders approved amendments to its articles of incorporation
providing for an increase in authorized share capital and an increase in contingent share capital.The amendments include the creation of 250 million
Swiss francs in authorized share capital, replacing the100 million Swiss francs in authorized share capital that expired in June 2001.This entitled the
Company’s Board of Directors to issue up to100 million new ABB Ltd shares, including approximately 30 million CE Settlement Shares (see Note18).
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The amendments also included an increase of contingent capital from 200 million Swiss francs to750 million Swiss francs, allowing the issuance of up
to a further 300 million new ABB Ltd shares which may be used primarily for the exercise of conversion rights granted in connection with issuance of
bonds and other financial market instruments and for the issuance of new shares to employees.

In October 2003, the Company announced a three-component capital-strengthening program, comprised of a share capital increase, a credit
facility agreement and a bond issuance. As part of this program, in November2003, an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting resolved to increase the
Company’s share capital by approximately 840 million shares through a rights issue. In December2003, the Company completed the7-for-10 rights
offering for the 840 million new registered shares at an offer price of 4 Swiss francs per share resulting in a net increase of capital stock and additional
paid in capital of approximately $2.5 billion.

In December2003, the Company issued 30,298,913 CE Settlement Shares out of its authorized capital for purposes of fulfilling the Company’s
obligations under a pre-packaged plan of reorganization under Chapter11of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code of Combustion Engineering. In accordance
with its then current articles of incorporation, the pre-emptive rights of the shareholders were excluded and allocated to a Company subsidiary,
which subscribed for these shares and holds them until they will be contributed to the Asbestos PITrust or any similar trust, once a plan of reorganization
of Combustion Engineering is declared effective.

At December31,2004, the Company had 2,440,016,034 authorized shares. Of these, 2,070,314,947shares are registered and issued, including
30,298,913 CE Settlement Shares that are reserved for use in connection with a pre-packaged plan of reorganization of Combustion Engineering.
As these shares are presently held by one of the Company’s subsidiaries and carry no participation rights, these shares are not treated as outstanding
for the purposes of the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.The CE Settlement Shares will only become outstanding and carry
participation rights once a plan of reorganization for Combustion Engineering becomes effective and the shares have been contributed to the Asbestos
PITrust or any similar trust created under such a plan. Should a plan ultimately not become effective, the CE Settlement Shares reserved for such use
would be cancelled by the Company.

At December31,2004, including the securities issued under the employee incentive plans and call options sold to a bank at fair value during 2001,
2003 and 2004, the Company had outstanding obligations to deliver 62 million shares at exercise prices ranging from 6.95 to 42.05 Swiss francs.
These financial instruments expire in periods ranging from June 2005 to December2010 and were recorded as equity instruments in accordance with
EITF00-19. Also,at December31,2004, the Company had obligations to deliver approximately107million shares at a conversion price of $9.03
as a result of the issuance of convertible debt in May2002 and to deliver approximately105 million shares at a conversion price of 9.53 Swiss francs as
a result of the issuance of convertible debt in September2003. In addition, at December31,2004, the Company had outstanding contingent obligations
to deliver up to a maximum of 0.5 million shares free of charge to EC Members under the Performance Plan (see Note 22).

Dividends are payable to the Company’s stockholders based on the requirements of Swiss law, ABB Ltd’s Articles of Incorporation, and stockholders’
equity as reflected in the unconsolidated financial statements of ABB Ltd prepared in compliance with Swiss law. At December31,2004,of the 
8,911million Swiss francs stockholders’ equity reflected in such unconsolidated financial statements, 5,176 million Swiss francs is share capital, 
2,191million Swiss francs is restricted,1,533 million Swiss francs is unrestricted and11million Swiss francs is available for distribution.

Note 24 Earnings per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year, assuming
that all potentially dilutive securities were exercised, if dilutive. Potentially dilutive securities comprise: outstanding written call options, if dilutive; the
securities issued under the Company’s employee incentive plans, if dilutive; and shares issuable in relation to outstanding convertible bonds, if dilutive.
The shares issuable in relation to the warrants and options outstanding in connection with the Company’s employee incentive plans were excluded
from the computation of diluted earnings per share in 2003 and 2002 as their inclusion would have been antidilutive. In 2004, only the shares issuable
in relation to the warrants and options outstanding in connection with the Company’s December 2003 launch under the management incentive plan
were included in the computation of diluted earnings (loss) per share as the inclusion of potential shares from the warrants and options of other launches
under the employee incentive plans would have been antidilutive. In 2002, the shares issuable in relation to the $968 million convertible bonds were
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the period they were outstanding. In 2004 and 2003, the shares issuable in relation to the
convertible bonds were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their inclusion would have been antidilutive.

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 448 $ (371) $ (126)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (483) (408) (693)
Net loss $ (35) $ (779) $ (819)

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding (in millions) 2,028 1,220 1,113

Earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.22 $ (0.30) $ (0.11)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (0.24) (0.34) (0.63)
Net loss $ (0.02) $ (0.64) $ (0.74)

Note 23 Stockholders’ equity, continued 
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Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 448 $ (371) $ (126)
Effect of dilution:

Convertible bonds, net of tax – – (187)
Income (loss) from continuing operations, adjusted 448 (371) (313)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (483) (408) (693)
Net loss, adjusted $ (35) $ (779) $ (1,006)

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding (in millions) 2,028 1,220 1,113
Dilutive potential shares:

Warrants and options 1 – –
Convertible bonds – – 53

Diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding (in millions) 2,029 1,220 1,166

Earnings (loss) per share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations, adjusted $ 0.22 $ (0.30) $ (0.27)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (0.24) (0.34) (0.59)
Net loss, adjusted $ (0.02) $ (0.64) $ (0.86)

Note 25 Restructuring charges

2001 program
In July 2001, the Company announced and initiated a restructuring program (2001 program) in an effort to improve productivity, reduce cost base,
simplify product lines, reduce multiple location activities and perform other downsizing in response to weakening markets and consolidation of major
customers in certain industries.The 2001 program was substantially completed at September30,2002.

Restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs associated with the 2001 program are included in
other income (expense), net.Termination benefits were paid to approximately100, 2,270 and 4,000 employees in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.
Workforce reductions include production, managerial and administrative employees. Changes in management’s original estimate of the amounts
accrued for workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs have been included in other income (expense), net.

As a result of the 2001 program, certain assets, inventories and property, plant and equipment were identified as impaired or that would no longer be
used in continuing operations.The Company recorded a charge of $18 million in 2002 to write down these assets to fair value and such costs were
included in cost of sales and other income (expense), net.

Step change program
In October 2002, the Company announced the Step change program.The goals of the Step change program were to increase competitiveness of
the Company’s core businesses (see Note26), reduce overhead costs and streamline operations by approximately $1 billion on an annual basis by
2005. At June 30,2004, the Step change program was substantially complete.

Restructuring charges relating to workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs associated with the Step change program are included
in other income (expense), net.Termination benefits were paid to approximately 950,1,500 and 200 employees in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.
Workforce reductions include production, managerial and administrative employees. Changes in management’s original estimate of the amounts
accrued for workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs were included in other income (expense), net.

As a result of the Step change program, certain assets, inventories and property, plant and equipment were identified as impaired or will no longer be
used in continuing operations.The Company recorded $0 million, $3 million and $2 million in 2004,2003 and 2002, respectively, to write down these
assets to their fair value and such costs were included in cost of sales and other income (expense), net.

Other
Certain restructuring programs were initiated primarily during 2003 at specified locations not included in the Step change program.The goals of these
programs are to increase efficiencies by reducing headcount and streamlining operations.These programs are expected to increase productivity of the
non-core businesses (see Note26). Anticipated savings will be recognized through the strategic divestment of these operations.

Restructuring charges related to workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs associated with these other programs are included in
other income (expense), net.Termination benefits were paid to approximately1,290 and1,300 employees in 2004 and 2003, respectively.Workforce
reductions include production, managerial and administrative employees. Changes in management’s original estimate of the amounts accrued for
workforce reductions, lease terminations and other exit costs have been included in other income (expense), net.

Note 24 Earnings per share, continued 
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As a result of these restructuring programs, certain assets, inventories and property, plant and equipment have been identified as impaired or will no
longer be used in continuing operations.The Company recorded $5 million and $11million in 2004 and 2003, respectively, to write down these assets
to fair value and such costs are included in cost of sales and other income (expense), net.

Restructuring liabilities consist of the following:

2001 program Step change Other Total

Lease Lease Lease
Workforce terminations and Workforce terminations and Workforce terminations and
reductions other exit costs reductions other exit costs reductions other exit costs

Balance at January 1, 2002 $ 78 $ 39 $ – $ – $ 20 $ 12 $ 149
Restructuring expense 168 40 51 26 – – 285
Cash paid (156) (29) (13) (1) – – (199)
Exchange rate differences 20 5 – – – – 25
Changes in estimate (16) (5) – – (9) – (30)
Balance at December 31, 2002 94 50 38 25 11 12 230
Restructuring expense – – 181 56 110 25 372
Cash paid (99) (10) (143) (48) (43) (12) (355)
Exchange rate differences 14 9 24 4 7 3 61
Changes in estimate – (22) (4) – (6) – (32)
Balance at December 31, 2003 9 27 96 37 79 28 276
Restructuring expense – – 42 17 98 31 188
Cash paid (9) (9) (137) (18) (103) (16) (292)
Exchange rate differences – 2 6 3 5 4 20
Changes in estimate – (6) (7) – (5) (5) (23)
Balance at December 31, 2004 $ – $ 14 $ – $ 39 $ 74 $ 42 $ 169

Cumulative
The cumulative amounts at December31,2004, for each plan are given below:

2001 program Step change Other Total

Restructuring charge for workforce reduction $ 282 $ 274 $ 228 $ 784
Restructuring charge for lease terminations and other 111 99 68 278
Changes in estimate (49) (11) (25) (85)
Total restructuring charges $ 344 $ 362 $ 271 $ 977

Segment information
Restructuring charges by segment consist of the following:

Year ended December 31, 2004 2003 2002

Power Technologies $ 51 $ 61 $ 57
Automation Technologies 72 139 126
Non-core activities:

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 20 20 –
Equity Ventures – – –
Structured Finance – – –
Building Systems 11 43 22
New Ventures 1 1 2
Other Non-core activities – 47 15

Total Non-core activities 32 111 39
Corporate/Other 10 29 33
Total restructuring charges $ 165 $ 340 $ 255

Note 25 Restructuring charges, continued
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Effective January1,2003, in order to streamline the Company’s structure and improve operational performance, the Company put into place two
divisions: PowerTechnologies, which combined the former PowerTechnology Products and Utilities divisions and employed approximately
40,400 people at December31,2004; and AutomationTechnologies,which combined the former AutomationTechnology Products and Industries
divisions and employed approximately 54,600 people at December31,2004.The remaining operations of the Company are grouped in Non-core
activities. Effective January1,2004, the Group Processes activities, previously in the Non-core activities division, were integrated into the core divisions
and the Substations Automation business was integrated into the Power Technologies division from the AutomationTechnologies division. All periods
presented have been restated to reflect the new organizational structure of the Company.

■ The PowerTechnologies division produces transformers, switchgear, breakers, capacitors, cables and other products and technologies for high-
and medium-voltage applications. It serves electric, gas, and water utilities as well as industrial and commercial customers, with a broad range
of products, systems and services for power transmission, distribution and power plant automation.The division’s principal customers are electric,
gas and water utilities, owners and operators of power transmission systems, utilities that own or operate networks and owners and operators of
power generating plants. Other customers include gas transmission companies, local distribution companies and multi-utilities, which are involved
in the transmission or distribution of more than one commodity.The division also serves industrial and commercial customers, such as operators
of large commercial buildings and heavy industrial plants.

■ The AutomationTechnologies division provides products, systems, software and services for the automation and optimization of industrial and
commercial processes.Key technologies include measurement and control, instrumentation,process analysis,drives and motors,powerelectronics,
robots, and low voltage products.These technologies are sold to customers of the automotive, cement, chemical, distribution, electronics, food
and beverage, life sciences, marine, metals, mining, paper, petroleum, printing and telecommunications industries with application-specific power
and automation technology.

■ Non-core activities include the following:

The Company’s remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business;

The Company’s remaining Equity Ventures business;

The Company’s remaining Structured Finance business;

The Company’s remaining Building Systems business;

The Company’s New Ventures business area;

The Company’s Customer Service, Logistic Systems, and Semiconductors business areas.

The remaining Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals business primarily consists of a full service engineering company which, in addition to having expertise in
engineering, procurement and construction projects, also licenses process technologies in the refining, chemical, petrochemical and polymer fields.

The Building Systems business area designs, builds and maintains complete installations for industrial, infrastructure and commercial facilities,
integrating products manufactured by the PowerTechnologies and AutomationTechnologies divisions, as well as those from third-party suppliers.

■ Corporate/Other includes Headquarters, Central Research and Development, Real Estate, GroupTreasury Operations and the Financial Advisory
business.

The Company evaluates performance of its segments based on earnings before interest and taxes, which excludes interest and dividend income,
interest and other finance expense, provision for taxes, minority interest, and loss from discontinued operations, net of tax. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, the Company presents
division revenues, depreciation and amortization, earnings before interest and taxes, net operating assets and capital expenditures, all of which
have been restated to reflect the changes to the Company’s internal structure, including the effect of inter-division transactions.The Company accounts
for inter-division sales and transfers as if the sales and transfers were to third parties, at current market prices.

Note 26 Segment and geographic data
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The following tables summarize information for each segment:
Earnings (loss)

Depreciation before interest Net operating Capital
2004 Revenues and amortization and taxes assets (1) expenditures (2)

Power Technologies $ 8,755 $ 214 $ 610 $ 2,728 $ 137
Automation Technologies 11,030 292 1,027 3,754 186
Non-core activities:

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 1,079 26 (4) 363 1
Equity Ventures(3) 7 6 69 1,161 10
Structured Finance 6 1 (14) 524 –
Building Systems 508 3 (70) – 1
New Ventures 49 4 (5) 99 10
Other Non-core activities 44 1 (22) 9 1

Total Non-core activities 1,693 41 (46) 2,156 23
Corporate/Other 887 84 (507) 1,901 54
Inter-division elimination (1,644) – – (917) –
Consolidated $ 20,721 $ 631 $ 1,084 $ 9,622 $ 400

Earnings (loss)
Depreciation before interest Net operating Capital

2003 Revenues and amortization and taxes assets (4) expenditures (2)

Power Technologies $ 7,598 $ 183 $ 595 $ 2,568 $ 120
Automation Technologies 9,628 253 738 3,868 154
Non-core activities:

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 1,895 – (296) 276 5
Equity Ventures(3) 26 5 76 1,151 46
Structured Finance 48 1 (65) 643 –
Building Systems 1,829 9 (104) 9 3
New Ventures 53 5 (21) 195 11
Other Non-core activities 471 53 (57) (226) 6

Total Non-core activities 4,322 73 (467) 2,048 71
Corporate/Other 905 68 (486) 2,513 57
Inter-division elimination (2,026) – (23) (1,140) –
Consolidated $ 20,427 $ 577 $ 357 $ 9,857 $ 402

Earnings (loss)
Depreciation before interest Net operating Capital

2002 Revenues and amortization and taxes assets expenditures (2)

Power Technologies $ 6,814 $ 168 $ 451 $ 2,266 $ 116
Automation Technologies 8,201 199 495 3,554 130
Non-core activities:

Oil, Gas and Petrochemicals 2,321 16 (142) 152 5
Equity Ventures(3) 19 – 43 1,062 –
Structured Finance 66 1 96 1,165 2
Building Systems 2,375 11 (113) 68 9
New Ventures 50 11 (37) 144 14
Other Non-core activities 783 75 (157) (178) 20

Total Non-core activities 5,614 114 (310) 2,413 50
Corporate/Other 1,014 78 (363) 2,361 144
Inter-division elimination (2,171) – (74) (724) –
Consolidated $ 19,472 $ 559 $ 199 $ 9,870 $ 440
(1) Net operating assets at December 31, 2004, are calculated based upon total assets of $24,677 million excluding cash and equivalents of $3,676 million, marketable securities and short-term

investments of $524 million, current loans receivable of $17 million, tax assets of $1,256 million, assets held for sale and in discontinued operations of $155 million, prepaid pension and 
other employee benefits of $549 million and other assets of $89 million, less total liabilities of $21,556 million excluding borrowings of $5,534 million, tax liabilities of $1,522 million, provisions
of $3,326 million, pension and employee related liabilities of $1,628 million, liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations of $290 million and certain other liabilities of $467 million.

(2) Capital expenditures reflect purchases of tangible fixed assets.
(3) Includes the Company’s investment in Jorf Lasfar Energy Company S.C.A. (see Note 14).
(4) Net operating assets at December 31, 2003, are calculated based upon total assets of $30,401 million excluding cash and equivalents of $4,783 million, marketable securities and short-term

investments of $473 million, current loans receivable of $23 million, tax assets of $1,327 million, assets held for sale and in discontinued operations of $4,981 million, prepaid pension and
other employee benefits of $564 million and other assets of $143 million, less total liabilities of $27,199 million excluding borrowings of $7,934 million, tax liabilities of $1,644 million, provisions
of $3,021 million, pension and employee related liabilities of $1,902 million, liabilities held for sale and in discontinued operations of $3,990 million and certain other liabilities of $458 million.

Note 26 Segment and geographic data, continued
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Geographic information

Revenues Long-lived assets at
Year ended December 31, December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2004 2003

Europe $ 10,764 $ 10,963 $ 10,461 $ 2,288 $ 2,159
The Americas 3,624 3,900 4,177 272 297
Asia 4,296 3,519 2,860 299 281
Middle East and Africa 2,037 2,045 1,974 122 121

$ 20,721 $ 20,427 $ 19,472 $ 2,981 $ 2,858

Revenues have been reflected in the regions based on the location of the customer.The United States generated approximately11percent,12 percent
and14 percent of the Company’s total revenues in 2004,2003 and 2002 respectively. Germany generated approximately11percent of the Company’s
total revenues in2004,2003 and 2002, respectively.More than 95 percent of the Company’s total revenues were generated outside Switzerland in 2004,
2003 and 2002. Long-lived assets represent property, plant and equipment, net, and are shown by location of the assets. Switzerland and Germany
represented approximately 22 percent and 15 percent, respectively, of the Company’s long-lived assets at both December31,2004 and 2003.

The Company does not segregate revenues derived from transactions with external customers for each type or group of products and services.
Accordingly, it is not practicable for the Company to present revenues from external customers by product and service type.

Management estimates that approximately 63 percent of the Company’s employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements in various
countries. These agreements are subject to various regulatory requirements and are renegotiated on a regular basis in the normal course of business.

Note 26 Segment and geographic data, continued
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The Stockholders of ABB Ltd:

As auditors of the Group, we have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of ABB Ltd as of December31,2004 and 2003, and the
related consolidated income statements, statements of cash flows and statements of changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the three years
in the period ended December31,2004.These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification
and independence.

We did not audit the financial statements of Jorf Lasfar Energy Company, a corporation in which the Company has a 50% interest, (the Company’s
equity in Jorf Lasfar Energy Company’s net income is stated at $63 million in 2004,$60 million in 2003 and $66 million in 2002); and we did not audit
the 2002 consolidated financial statements of Swedish Export Credit Corporation, a corporation in which the Company had a 35% interest, (the
Company’s equity in Swedish Export Credit Corporation’s consolidated net income is stated at $89 million in 2002).Those statements were audited
by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us. Our opinion, insofar as it relates to amounts included for those companies and their
subsidiaries, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and in accordance
with auditing standards promulgated by the profession in Switzerland.Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.We believe that our audits and the reports of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of ABB Ltd at December31,2004 and 2003,and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December31,2004, in conformity with U.S.generally accepted accounting principles and comply
with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

In accordance with Swiss reporting standards, without qualifying our opinion, we are required to draw your attention to Notes3 and18 to the
consolidated financial statements which describe certain risks and uncertainties relating to the Company’s asbestos liabilities.

As discussed in Note2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2003 the Company changed its method of consolidation relating to variable
interest entities.

Ernst &Young AG

C.Barone S.Reid

Auditors in charge

Zurich, April 6, 2005

ABB Ltd Group Auditors’ Report
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Financial Statements of ABB Ltd, Zurich

Income Statement
Year ended December 31(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Revenues – 22
Personnel expenses (32,718) (32,555)
Other expenses (28,450) (22,828)
Interest income 54,344 90,632
Interest expense (24,014) (26,061)
Loss on sale of own shares – (19,976)
Write-down of participations – (1,050,000)
Net loss (30,838) (1,060,766)

Balance Sheet
December 31(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Cash and equivalents 600 57,020
Receivables 6,050 13,738
Total current assets 6,650 70,758

Long-term loans to subsidiary 4,470,000 4,470,000
Participations 5,300,910 5,300,910
Own shares 45,968 45,968
Total fixed assets 9,816,878 9,816,878
Total assets 9,823,528 9,887,636

Current liabilities 18,272 82,239
Short-term loans from subsidiary 5,697 –
Long-term loans from subsidiary 50,000 25,000
Provisions 238,628 238,628
Bonds 600,000 600,000
Total liabilities 912,597 945,867

Share capital 5,175,787 5,175,787
Legal reserve 1,779,669 1,779,669
Reserve for treasury shares 411,814 411,814
Other reserves 1,533,090 2,533,090
Retained earnings 41,409 102,175
Net loss (30,838) (1,060,766)
Total stockholders’equity 8,910,931 8,941,769
Total liabilities and stockholders’equity 9,823,528 9,887,636
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Notes to Financial Statements

Note1 General
ABB Ltd, Zurich (the Company) is the parent company of the ABB Group whose Consolidated Financial Statements include100 percent of the assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses, income, loss and cash flows of ABB Ltd and companies in which the Company has a controlling interest, as if
the Company and its subsidiaries were a single company.The Consolidated Financial Statements are of overriding importance for the purpose of the
economic and financial assessment of the Company.The unconsolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with
Swiss law and serve as complementary information to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 2 Cash and equivalents
(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Cash and bank 600 521
Cash with subsidiary – 56,499
Total 600 57,020

Note 3 Receivables
(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Non-trade receivables 74 8,592
Accrued income from subsidiary 5,976 5,146
Total 6,050 13,738

Note 4 Long-term loans to subsidiary
(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Long-term loans to subsidiary 4,470,000 4,470,000

The Company maintains interest bearing credit agreements with ABB Asea Brown Boveri Ltd.These loans are stated at cost.

Note 5 Participations
Ownership interest

Company name Purpose Domicile Share capital 2004 2003

ABB Asea Brown Boveri Ltd Holding CH-Zurich CHF 2,768,000,000 100% 100%
BBC Brown Boveri Ltd Holding CH-Zurich CHF 570,580 100% 100%

The investments in subsidiaries are valued at the lower of cost or fair value. Fair values are determined using the discounted cash flow method,
based upon management’s expectations as to the future cash flows and earnings of the subsidiaries for the years 2005 through 2009.

Note 6 Current liabilities
(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Non-trade payables 415 45,783
Non-trade payables to subsidiaries 1,183 4,479
Accrued expenses 16,055 28,688
Accrued expenses from subsidiaries 619 3,289
Total 18,272 82,239

Note7 Provisions
In conjunction with the issuance in September2003 and May2002 by a subsidiary of the Company of bonds convertible into ABB Ltd shares, the
Company granted options to the subsidiary issuing the bonds to enable the subsidiary to meet its obligations to deliver shares when the bonds are
converted. If the bonds fully convert, an additional 212,130,022 ABB Ltd shares, including shares represented by American Depository Shares, would
be issued upon exercise of the options by the issuing subsidiary. Provisions of CHF238,628 thousand were recorded to reflect  the cash received by
the Company related to the options.When the bonds are converted and the options are exercised or when the options expire without exercise because
the bonds did not convert, the provisions will be released to other reserves in stockholders’ equity.
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Note 8 Bonds
(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Bond 1999–2009 3.75% 500,000 500,000
Note 2001–2008 3.75% 100,000 100,000
Total 600,000 600,000

The Company’s bonds are stated at their nominal value. 

Note 9 Stockholders’equity
Reserve for Other Retained Total

(CHF in thousands) Share capital Legal reserve treasury shares reserves earnings Net loss 2004

Opening balance 
as of January1 5,175,787 1,779,669 411,814 2,533,090 102,175 (1,060,766) 8,941,769
Release of other reserves (1,000,000) 1,000,000 –
Allocation to retained earnings (1,060,766) 1,060,766 –
Net loss for the year (30,838) (30,838)
Closing balance 
as of December 31 5,175,787 1,779,669 411,814 1,533,090 41,409 (30,838) 8,910,931

Number of Total
Share capital as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 registered shares Par value (CHF in thousands)

Issued shares 2,070,314,947 CHF 2.50 5,175,787
Contingent shares 300,000,000 CHF 2.50 750,000
Authorized shares 69,701,087 CHF 2.50 174,253

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on May16,2003, the Company’s shareholders approved amendments to its articles of incorporation
providing for authorized share capital and an increase in contingent share capital.

The amendments included the creation of CHF250 million in authorized share capital.This entitled the Company’s Board of Directors to issue up
to100 million new shares of which approximately 30 million were allocated for use with any proposed plan of reorganization of the Company’s,
indirect wholly owned U.S. subsidiary, Combustion Engineering Inc (“CE”) (see Note10).The amendments also included an increase of contingent
capital from CHF200 million to CHF750 million, allowing the issuance of up to 300 million new shares.

On November20,2003, at an Extraordinary General Meeting of the shareholders, it was resolved to increase the Company’s share capital by
approximately 840 million shares through a rights issue, which the Company completed in December 2003, issuing 840,006,602 new shares at an offer
price of CHF4 per share.

Treasury shares 2004 2003

Number Avg. price per Number Avg. price per
of shares share CHF of shares share CHF

Opening balance 41,910,442 9.83 86,830,312 33.92
Sales (80,000,000)
Subtotal 6,830,312 29.46
Purchase (1) 4,781,217 4.00
Purchase 30,298,913 6.32
Closing balance 41,910,442 9.83 41,910,442 9.83

(1) Rights exercised

In March 2003, the Company and its subsidiary,ABB Equity Limited, sold 80,000,000 treasury shares for total gross proceeds of approximately
CHF217million.

In connection with the7-for-10 rights offering, the Company exercised, in December2003, its rights in respect of the remaining 6,830,312 treasury
shares and received 4,781,217shares at the offer price of CHF4 per share.

In December2003, the Company issued to ABB Asea Brown Boveri Ltd 30,298,913 shares foruse with the proposed plan of reorganization of CE 
(see Note10).These shares will be held as treasury shares until used in connection with any such proposed plan of reorganization.

The net equity value of the Company as reflected in these unconsolidated financial statements is approximately CHF8.9 billion compared to a net
equity value of approximately CHF3.2 billion (approximately US$ 2.8 billion) disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements of ABB Ltd.The
difference derives from the separate accounting bases applied to the unconsolidated and Consolidated Financial Statements. In the unconsolidated
financial statements, the net equity value reflects the use of the lowerof cost or fair value to value ABB Ltd’s shares and participations in subsidiaries.
Such fair values are determined using the discounted cash flow method, based upon management’s expectations as to the future cash flows
and earnings of the subsidiaries for the years 2005 through 2009.The net equity value disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements reflects
the aggregation of the equity of ABB Ltd’s subsidiaries.
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Note10 Contingent liabilities
(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Liability to pension fund – 532
Financial guarantee to a subsidiary (1) 337,122 333,762
Total 337,122 334,294
(1) Relates to an intra-group financing.

In addition to the above stated financial guarantee to a subsidiary, the Company has provided a guarantee to a third party, to guarantee the performance
of contractual obligations pursuant to a project undertaken by a subsidiary in the normal course of its business.The aggregate value of the guarantee
is approximately CHF50,859 thousand.

The Company has entered into Keep-well agreements with certain indirect subsidiaries. A Keep-well agreement is a shareholder agreement between
the Company and a subsidiary.These agreements provide for maintenance of a minimum net worth in the subsidiary and the maintenance of100 percent
direct or indirect ownership by the Company.

For those subsidiaries acting on the capital markets, the Keep-well agreements additionally provide that if at any time the subsidiary has insufficient
liquid assets to meet any payment obligation on its debt (as defined in the agreements) and has insufficient unused commitments under its credit
facilities with its lenders, the Company will make available to the subsidiary sufficient funds to enable it to fulfill such payment obligation as it falls due.

A Keep-well agreement is not a guarantee by the Company for payment of the indebtedness, or any other obligation, of a subsidiary. No party external 
to the ABB Group is a party to any of these Keep-well agreements.

CE, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is a defendant in numerous asbestos-related claims in the United States. Some claimants
have named the Company in connection with claims against CE, but there has been no adjudication that the Company has liability for such claims.
An order confirming a proposed plan of reorganization for CE was effectively reversed on December2,2004, by the U.S.Third Circuit Court of Appeals.
In March 2005, following extensive discussions with certain representatives of various parties, including the Creditors Committee and the Future Claimants
Representative appointed in the Combustion Engineering case, the Company reached an agreement on certain “settlement points” for modifying the CE
plan with a view to bringing it into conformity with the Third Circuit decision and for providing a mechanism for resolving finally Lummus’potential asbestos
liability.The Company and its subsidiaries’potential commitments and current provisions relating to this matter are further described in Note18 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements of ABB Ltd.

There are also a lesser number of asbestos-related claims against certain other subsidiaries of the Company, which are not related to CE. Please refer
to Note18 of the Consolidated Financial Statements of ABB Ltd for more detailed information.

The ultimate outcome of efforts to resolve the asbestos-related personal injury claims against CE and other entities of the ABB Group remains uncertain. 
The related costs may be higher than the ABB Group’s provisions reflect and could have a material adverse impact on the ABB Group’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

The Company is part of a value added tax group and therefore jointly liable to the federal tax department for the value added tax liabilities of the other
members.

Note11 Credit facility agreement
On November17, 2003, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a new unsecured syndicated US$1billion 3year revolving credit
facility which became available in December 2003.The Company is a guarantor of the new US$1billion facility, but nothing was drawn under this facility
at December31,2004 and 2003.

Note12 Significant shareholders
As of December31,2004 and 2003, Investor AB, Stockholm, Sweden, owned 204,115,142 ABB Ltd shares, representing 9.9 percent of the Company’s
share capital. On March 8,2005, Investor AB announced that it reduced its holdings to187,374,142 ABB Ltd shares, representing 9.1percent of the
Company’s share capital at that date.

The Capital Group International, Inc., Los Angeles, CA,USA,announced that as of April 23,2004, it reduced its holdings for its clients in ABB Ltd shares
to a total that is less than 5 percent of the Company’s share capital. As of December31,2003 such holdings totaled 133,888,830 shares, corresponding
to 6.5 percent of the Company’s share capital.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, no other shareholder holds 5 percent or more of ABB Ltd shares.
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Proposed appropriation of available earnings

(CHF in thousands) 2004 2003

Net loss for the year (30,838) (1,060,766)
Carried forward from previous year 41,409 102,175
Release of other reserves – 1,000,000
Profit available to the Annual General Meeting 10,571 41,409
Dividend – –
Balance to be carried forward 10,571 41,409

The Board of Directors proposes not to declare the distribution of a dividend and to carry forward the profit available to the Annual General Meeting in
the amount of CHF10,570,584.
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As statutory auditors,we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements (balance sheet, income statement and notes; 
pages 103 to 106) of ABB Ltd, Zurich, for the year ended December31,2004.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession,which require that an audit be planned and
performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.We have examined, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.We have also assessed the accounting principles used,
significant estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation.We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available earnings comply with Swiss law and
the company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Without qualifying our opinion,we draw your attention to Note10 of these financial statements which describes certain risks and uncertainties relating
to ABB Group’s asbestos liabilities.

Ernst &Young AG

C.Barone Y.Vontobel
Certified Public Accountant Certified Accountant

Auditors in charge

Zurich,April 6, 2005

Report of the Statutory Auditors 
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ABB Ltd share price trend during 2004
During 2004, the price of ABB Ltd shares traded on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) increased1percent,while the Swiss Performance Index increased
7 percent.The price of  ABB Ltd shares on Stockholmsbörsen increased 3 percent, compared to the SAX Index,which increased by18 percent.

Source: Bloomberg, SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x), Stockholmsbörsen

Share price (data based on closing prices)
SWX Swiss Stockholmsbörsen

Exchange (virt-x/ CHF) (SEK)

High 8.18 48.00

Low 6.20 36.10

Year-end 6.35 37.30

Average daily traded  number of shares 14,139,000 3,615,000

Market capitalization
On December31, 2004,ABB Ltd’s market capitalization based on outstanding shares (total number of outstanding shares : 2,028,404,505) was
approximately $11.4 billion (CHF12.9 billion, SEK75.3 billion, EUR 8.3 billion)

Shareholderstructure
As of December31,2004, the total number of shareholders directly registered with ABB Ltd was approximately177,000. In addition, another 
100,000 shareholders hold shares indirectly through nominees. In total, ABB has approximately 277,000 shareholders.

Majorshareholders
As of December31,2004, InvestorAB,Stockholm,Sweden,owned 204,115,142 shares of ABB Ltd,corresponding to 9.9 percent of total capital 
and votes. On March 8, 2005, Investor AB announced that it reduced its holdings to 187,374,142 ABB shares, representing 9.1 percent of total capital
and votes, as of that date.

The Capital Group International, Inc., Los Angeles,CA,USA,announced that as of April 23,2004, it reduced its holdings for its clients in shares
of ABB Ltd to a total which is less than 5 percent of total capital and votes.

To the best of the company’s knowledge,no othershareholderholds 5 percent ormore of the total voting rights.

Dividend proposal
In order to further improve the company’s balance sheet, the Board of Directors proposes that no dividend be paid for2004.

Investor information
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Per-share data
2004 2003

Dividend (CHF) n.a.(1) n.a.
Par value (CHF) 2.50 2.50
Vote per share 1 1
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (in millions) 2,028 1,220 (2)

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding (in millions) 2,029 1,220
(1) It will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be paid for 2004.
(2) Following the rights issue completed in December 2003, there were 2,028,404,505 shares outstanding at December 31, 2003.

Key ratios
(US$) 2004 2003

Basic (loss) per share (0.02) (0.64)
Diluted (loss) per share (1) (0.02) (0.64)
Stockholders’ equity per share (2) 1.39 1.44
Operating cash flow per share (1) 0.47 n.a.
Dividend pay-out-ratio (%) n.a. n.a.
Direct yield (%) n.a. n.a.
Market-to-book (%) 403.7 350.7
Basic P / E ratio n.a. n.a.
Diluted P / E ratio n.a. n.a.
(1) Calculation based on diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding
(2) Calculation based on the number of shares outstanding as of December 31

ABB Ltd annual general meeting
The 2005 Annual General Meeting of ABB Ltd will be held at10:00 a.m.onThursday, May12,2005 at the Messe Zurich hall in Zurich-Oerlikon,
Switzerland.The Annual General Meeting will be held principally in German and will be simultaneously translated into Swedish,English and French.
Shareholders entered in the share register,with the right to vote,by May2,2005,are entitled to participate in the Annual General Meeting.

Admission cards
Holders of registered shares of ABB Ltd will receive their admission cards on request using the reply form enclosed with the invitation.The reply 
form or a corresponding notification must reach the company not later than May 4,2005. For technical reasons, notifications arriving after that 
date can no longer be taken into consideration.The full text of the invitation in accordance with Article700 of the Swiss Code of Obligations will be 
published in the Schweizerisches Handelsamtsblatt of April 19, 2005.

For shareholders in Sweden an Information Meeting will be held in Västerås, Sweden, on May13, 2005 at 10:00 a.m.

ABB shareholders’calendar2005
Three-month results 2005 April 28
ABB Ltd Annual General Meeting, Zurich May12
ABB Ltd Information Meeting,Västerås May13
Six-month results 2005 July 28
Nine-month results 2005 October 27
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Source: Bloomberg

Stock Exchange listings
ABB Ltd is listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x), Stockholmsbörsen, Frankfurt Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and 
New York Stock Exchange.

The global ISIN code for the ABB share is: CH 0012221716.

Tickersymbols forABB Ltd
SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) ABBN
Stockholmsbörsen ABB
Frankfurt Stock Exchange ABJ
London Stock Exchange ANN
NewYork Stock Exchange (NYSE) ABB

Tickersymbols forABB Ltd at Bloomberg
SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) ABBN VX
Stockholmsbörsen ABB SS
Frankfurt Stock Exchange ABJ GR
London Stock Exchange ANN LN
NewYork Stock Exchange (NYSE) ABB US

Tickersymbols forABB Ltd at Reuters
SWX Swiss Exchange (virt-x) ABBN.VX
Stockholmsbörsen ABB.ST
Frankfurt Stock Exchange ABBN.F
London Stock Exchange ABBNq.L
NewYork Stock Exchange (NYSE) ABB.N

Price trend for ABB Ltd shares
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Price trend for ABB Ltd shares, Zurich
Swiss Performance Index rebased, Zurich

Price trend for ABB Ltd shares, Stockholm
SAX Index rebased, Stockholm
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Credit rating for ABB Ltd as of December 31, 2004

Standard & Poor’s
Long-term Corporate Credit Rating: BB+
Long-term SeniorUnsecured debt: BB–
Short-term Corporate Credit Rating: B
Stable Outlook

Moody’s
Long-term Senior Implied Rating: Ba2
Long-term SeniorUnsecured Rating: Ba2
Short-term Debt rating: Not Prime
Stable Outlook

The credit rating is subject to revision at any time.

Bondholder information
Outstanding public bonds as of February28,2005.

Issuer Original issued principal amount Coupon Due Bloomberg ticker Reuters ticker

ABB International Finance Ltd JPY 50 billion 0.5% 2005 ABB 0.5 09/20/05 CH013519668=
ABB International Finance Ltd USD 968 million Convertible 4.625% 2007 ABB 4.625 05/16/07 CH014749721=
ABB International Finance Ltd EUR 500 million 9.5%* 2008 ABB 9.5 01/15/08 CH014855653=
ABB International Finance Ltd GBP 200 million 10%* 2009 ABB 10 05/29/09 CH014855661=
ABB Ltd CHF 500 million 3.75% 2009 ABB 3.75 09/30/09 CH896367=S
ABB International Finance Ltd CHF1,000 million Convertible 3.5% 2010 ABB 3.5 09/10/10 CH1653740=S
ABB International Finance Ltd EUR 650 million 6.5% 2011 ABB 6.5 11/30/11 CH018119617=

* Excl. step-up
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(US$ millions, other than ratios, employees and percentages) 2004 2003 2002 (1)

Consolidated Income Statements
Revenues 20,721 20,427 19,472
Earnings before interest and taxes 1,084 357 199
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes and minority interest 861 (60) 66
Income from continuing operations 448 (371) (126)
Net loss (35) (779) (819)

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Cash and equivalents 3,676 4,783 2,529
Marketable securities and short-term investments 524 473 589
Other current assets 11,150 15,495 16,566
Non-current assets 9,327 9,650 9,838
Total assets 24,677 30,401 29,522

Short-term borrowings and current maturities of long-term borrowings 633 1,644 2,577
Other current liabilities 12,435 15,376 16,692
Long-term borrowings 4,901 6,290 5,358
Other long-term liabilities 3,587 3,889 3,706
Stockholders’ equity including minority interest 3,121 3,202 1,189
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 24,677 30,401 29,522

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 962 (173) –
Net cash provided by investing activities 354 754 2,651
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,805) 1,603 (2,793)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents 74 150 141
Net change in cash and equivalents (1,415) 2,334 (1)

Other data
Orders received 21,689 19,701 19,152
EBITDA (2) 1,715 934 758
Capital expenditures (3) 400 402 440
Research and development expense 690 635 572
Order-related development expenditures 727 886 719
Dividends declared pertaining to fiscal year (Swiss francs in millions) – – –
Total debt 5,534 7,934 7,935
Gearing 63.9% 71.2% 87.0%
Net debt position (1,334) (2,678) (4,817)
Net operating assets 9,622 9,857 9,870
Number of employees 102,537 116,464 139,051

Ratios
Earnings before interest and taxes/Revenues 5.2% 1.7% 1.0%
Return on equity (1.2%) (40.5%) (57.1%)
Current assets/Current liabilities 1.17 1.22 1.02
Liquidity ratio 22.8% 20.5% 17.5%
Net operating assets/Revenues 46.4% 48.3% 50.7%
Net working capital/Revenues 7.2% 7.6% 7.1%
(1) Consolidated balance sheet information is not audited.
(2) Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
(3) Capital expenditure reflect purchases of tangible fixed assets

ABB Group statistical data
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Main exchange rates used in the translation of the Financial Statements

2004 2003

Currency ISO Codes Average Closing Average Closing

Currency unit equivalent to one USD

Australian dollar AUD 1.35 1.28 1.57 1.33
Brazilian real BRL 2.91 2.66 3.11 2.90
Canadian dollar CAD 1.30 1.21 1.42 1.29
Chinese yuan renminbi CNY 8.28 8.28 8.28 8.28
Danish krone DKK 5.96 5.45 6.65 5.91
EURO EUR 0.80 0.73 0.90 0.79
Indian rupee INR 56.58 43.47 46.75 45.60
Japanese yen JPY 107.48 102.49 117.17 106.94
Norwegian krone NOK 6.70 6.03 7.09 6.67
Polish zloty PLN 3.61 2.99 3.91 3.74
Pound sterling GBP 0.55 0.52 0.62 0.56
Swedish krona SEK 7.30 6.61 8.19 7.20
Swiss franc CHF 1.24 1.13 1.35 1.24

* Movement of local currency against the USD.

Exchange rates
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Caution concerning forward-looking statements
The ABB Annual Report 2004 includes “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. In the Operational review, such
statements are included in the sections entitled “Letter
to shareholders”, “Power Technologies”, “Automation
Technologies” and “People”. In the Financial review, such
statements are included in the section entitled “Management
discussion and analysis”. We have based these forward-
looking statements largely on current expectations, estimates
and projections about future events, financial trends and
economic conditions affecting our business. The words
“believe”, “may”, “will”, “estimate”, “continue”, “target”,
“anticipate”, “intend”, “expect” and similar words and the
express or implied discussion of strategy, plans or intentions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties
and assumptions, including among other things, the
following: (i) the difficulty of forecasting future market and
economic conditions; (ii) the effects of, and changes in, laws,
regulations, governmental policies, taxation, or accounting
standards and practices; (iii) our ability to dispose of certain
of our non-core businesses on terms and conditions
acceptable to us; (iv) our ability to further reduce our
indebtedness as planned; (v) the terms and conditions
on which asbestos claims can be resolved; (vi) the effects 

of competition and changes in economic and market
conditions in the product markets and geographic areas
in which we operate; (vii) our ability to anticipate and react to
technological change and evolving industry standards in the
markets in which we operate; (viii) the timely development
of new products, technologies, and services that are useful
for our customers; (ix) unanticipated cyclical downturns in
the industries that we serve; (x) the risks inherent in large,
long-term projects served by parts of our business; (xi) the
difficulties encountered in operating in emerging markets;
(xii) the amount of revenues we are able to generate from
backlog and orders received; (xiii) changes in interest rates
and fluctuations in currency exchange rates and (xiv) other
factors described in documents that we may furnish from
time to time with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, including our Annual Reports on Form 20-F.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in any
such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable
assumptions, we can give no assurance that they will be
achieved. We undertake no obligation to update publicly
or revise any forward-looking statements because of new
information, future events or otherwise. In light of these risks
and uncertainties, the forward-looking information, events
and circumstances might not occur. Our actual results and
performance could differ substantially from those anticipated
in our forward-looking statements.

The ABB Annual Report 2004 consists of an Operational review, a
Financial review and a Sustainability review. 

For an additional copy of this or any of the other reviews, please use
the contact information on the back of this document or download
copies from www.abb.com. 

The Operational review and a Financial summary (contained in the
Operational review) are published in English, German, Swedish and
French. The Financial review is published in English and German.
The Sustainability review is published in English. For all documents
in the Annual Report series, only the English-language version is
the binding version.
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